
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


 
Board Meeting Minutes – 94th Meeting 
December 18, 2009 
 
Board members present: Rick Applegate (teleconference), Jason Eisdorfer, Dan Enloe, Roger 
Hamilton, Julie Hammond (teleconference), Al Jubitz (teleconference), John Klosterman, 
Debbie Kitchin, Caddy McKeown, Alan Meyer, John Reynolds  
 
Board members absent:  Mark Long (ODOE special advisor), Preston Michie; John Savage 
(ex officio) 
 
Staff attending:  Sarah Caster, Amber Cole, Sue Fletcher, Fred Gordon, Margie Harris, Nancy 
Klass, Steve Lacey, Sue Meyer Sample, Brien Sipe, John Volkman, Peter West 
 
Others attending:  Jim Abrahamson, Cascade Natural Gas; Joe Barra, PGE; Jeff Bissonnette, 
Fair & Clean Energy Coalition; Chance Carrington, Sunlight Solar; Dan Davis, Habitat for 
Humanity Rogue Valley; Theresa Gibney, OPUC; Maureen Quaid, CSG; Patrick Stanton, 
OPOWER; Adam Studdard, CSG; Jan Schaeffer 
 
 
Business Meeting 
 
President John Reynolds called the business meeting to order at 12:04 pm. There were no 
changes to the agenda.  
 
 
General Public Comments 
 
There were none.  
 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
MOTION: Approve Consent Agenda.  
 
Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: John Klosterman 


Vote: In favor: 10 Abstained: 1 (John Reynolds 
abstained because he did not 
attend the November board 
meeting) 


 Opposed: 0 


 
November 4 meeting minutes part of Consent Agenda 
 







Discussion Minutes  December 18, 2009 


Adopted on December 18, 2009, as part of the Consent Agenda by Energy Trust Board of 
Directors. 
 
 
Mainspring Managed Option for 401(k) Plan, Resolution 535. Part of Consent Agenda. 
 


RESOLUTION 535 
APPROVING MAINSPRING MANAGED OPTION FOR 401(k) PLAN PARTICIPANTS  


WHEREAS  
1. For the last two years, Energy Trust has offered an optional service called 


Mainspring Managed, to help employees make individual 401(k) plan investment 
decisions and manage their other investments; and 


2. The cost of the service is paid by the employees who participate in the Mainspring 
Managed program. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors: 
Authorizes Energy Trust to continue to offer the Mainspring Managed program to 
employees unless and until the board decides to terminate it.  
 
Adopted on December 18, 2009, as part of the Consent Agenda by Energy Trust Board of 
Directors. 
 
 
President’s Report 


 
John Reynolds reviewed ACEEE’s “Report Card for the States,” 2008-2009. In 2008, Oregon 
slipped ½ point from 37 to 36.5 ranking fourth nationally. While in 2007, Oregon ranked second 
nationally. 
 
He pointed out the results were based on 2007 utility data, which do not include natural gas 
efficiency savings because nationwide figures are not available. Oregon lost 4 out of the 50 
possible points because we have not adopted statewide energy efficiency goals.  
 
Jason noted some of the state efficiency standards are less than what Energy Trust achieves 
annually. 
 
 
Strategic Plan 


 
Adopting Strategic Plan, Resolution 537. Rick Applegate provided background: Legislation in 
2007 changed Energy Trust’s landscape by allowing utilities to collect more than the 3% public 
purpose charge for energy efficiency, and by limiting to 20 aMW those renewable energy 
projects Energy Trust may support. He noted Energy Trust now is integral to utility Integrated 
Resource Planning (IRP). He noted Energy Trust will be exploring new dimensions in our 
relationships with utilities and OPUC in 2010 as we launch the utility roundtable meetings.  


 
2







Discussion Minutes  December 18, 2009 


The strategic plan spells out large-scale benefits for ratepayers from implementation of Energy 
Trust programs between 2010 and 2015. The strategic planning committee struggled with 
whether Energy Trust should assume growth in Energy Trust revenues to achieve utility IRP 
goals. He said OPUC discussions and tariff filing hearings made it clear Energy Trust revenues 
would grow to meet IRP targets. The strategic plan goes beyond the coming five years, and 
emphasizes longer term needs to experiment with new technologies. Rick said the plan was 
drafted to be useful and informational to a wide range of external audiences. 
 
Rick turned the presentation over to John Volkman, who highlighted points in the board packet 
memo. He noted a red-lined version of the final draft plan is included to indicate significant 
changes from the draft to the proposed final document.  
 
Probably the most significant change, John said, was that the final document assumes full 
funding to the integrated resource plan levels identified in the draft. So that readers would not 
forget the issue, the plan contains graphics and discussion regarding the utilities’ willingness to 
propose increased rates and fees as needed to achieve targeted results. John also noted that 
over the coming five years, as we look at how Energy Trust’s investment shifts from one sector 
to another, we expect relatively more investment in the commercial and industrial sectors to 
meet projected goals. This is because opportunities in the residential sector are expected to be 
largely captured over this timeframe.  
 
John noted that the plan assumes significant savings from large industrial facilities. Currently 
these large customers cannot be charged for or benefit from increased energy efficiency funding 
under SB 838. There is a question, then, how the higher industrial savings envisioned in utility 
IRP's and by the strategic plan will be funded. After meetings and discussions, it was decided to 
assume the savings from large industrial customers would be available, perhaps through 
legislative changes, or possibly new technologies, which could create greater savings 
opportunities in smaller commercial enterprises and residences.  
 
The OPUC has raised a question whether Energy Trust funding should be used by utilities to 
meet their renewable energy goals now mandated through SB 838. That issue is pending, 
current language in the strategic plan is structured to accommodate different outcomes.  
 
John called attention to a shift in the strategic plan’s timeframe from 2009-2013 to 2010-2014. A 
section was also added regarding what happens after five years.  
 
John asked the board to approve the final strategic plan.  
 
Margie noted the process took longer than we thought when we started out. The reason for the 
additional time is the importance of aligning Energy Trust's strategic plan with utility integrated 
resource plans and corresponding goals. The 2010 budget was built on the outlines of the draft 
strategic plan and reflects this full alignment for the first time.  
 
Margie also thanked all those who took the time to respond to our outreach on the draft plan. 
The significant, substantive comments received changed the final document. She thanked 
board members and John Volkman for their leadership, and the excellent work of Ben 


 
3







Discussion Minutes  December 18, 2009 


Huntington, Matt Braman, Fred Gordon, Pete Catching and Elaine Prause, who contributed 
significantly to the plan.  
 
Alan Meyer pointed out an error on page 15, on the Y axis of the table, on cumulative average 
megawatts of renewable energy. Rather than “average megawatts per year,” he thinks the 
reference should be to “cumulative average megawatts.” He noted in text on page 11, under 
figure 7, the references to “yellow” “burgundy” should be changed so that people who have 
black-and-white versions of the plan will follow the discussion. Alan also suggested the plan 
spell out the law that restricts rate collections and efficiency funding for large users. 
 
Alan noted on figure 10, page 13, and subsequent graphs that look like this, he thinks the “gap” 
between existing and additional 838 funds is exaggerated because the baseline savings are flat. 
He thinks that there will be some load growth, resulting in some increase in public purpose 
revenues.  
 
Alan's last point regards his "shock" at the issue of whether Energy Trust can work 
collaboratively with utilities on renewable energy projects. He predicts a hue and cry from some 
customer segments if Energy Trust-supported renewable energy cannot count toward the 
utilities’ Renewable Energy Standards. Jason Eisdorfer thinks everyone agrees with Alan: this 
issue is a surprise.  
 
Dan Enloe said one of his questions, considering 838 incremental funds, is whether we can 
delineate customers that use one average megawatt. He noted that without utility data regarding 
large energy users, it is difficult to analyze how to meet future funding needs for meeting IRPs.  
 
Roger Hamilton questioned Figure 7, and why it does not reflect historical trends. Fred said the 
table assumes an acceleration in innovation. John pointed out text at the bottom of page 11 
addresses uncertainties related to new technologies. Roger suggested there may be another 
consideration, the cost of carbon taxes or cap and trade.  
 
Rick asked if a motion to adopt the strategic plan subject to John Reynold’s review of Alan, Dan, 
and Roger’s proposed changes would be acceptable to the board. The board indicated this 
would be appropriate. 
 
 


RESOLUTION 537 
ADOPTING STRATEGIC PLAN 


WHEREAS: 
1. Energy Trust has a 2007-2012 strategic plan, updated in 2006. In 2006, the public 


purpose charge was still scheduled to sunset in 2012, there was no provision for 
supplemental energy efficiency funding, and no limit on the size of Energy Trust 
renewable energy projects. 


2. The 2007 Oregon Renewable Energy Act extended the sunset date of the public 
purpose charge to 2026, authorized utilities to collect supplemental energy 


 
4







Discussion Minutes  December 18, 2009 


efficiency funding, and imposed a 20-megawatt limit on Energy Trust renewable 
energy projects.  


3. Elements of a revised strategic plan have been under discussion since June, 2008, 
when the board discussed Energy Trust vision, mission and goals.  


4. A draft plan with five-year goals was discussed at the June, 2009, board retreat, 
revised to reflect that discussion, and released for comment August 1. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., adopts the 
attached strategic plan with editorial and graphic changes suggested by board members during today’s 
discussion, subject to review by President Reynolds, and authorizes staff to release the attached 
summary and responses to comment. 
 


Moved by: Rick Applegate subject 
to John Reynolds final review of the 
suggested changes 


Seconded by: Roger Hamilton 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on December 18, 2009, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Draft 2010 Budget and draft 2010-2011 Action Plan 
 
Margie presented changes between the draft and final budgets. She said she is pleased that 
2009 electric efficiency savings are expected to increase 8.7% over 2008, representing 91% of 
the stretch goal. She noted gas efficiency savings are expected to be 14.7% higher than in 
2008, 92% of the stretch goal. She noted renewable energy programs expect to achieve 5 aMW 
in new generation, which exceeds the OPUC benchmark and would have been higher had 
certain biomass projects not been cancelled and delayed.  
 
She noted the 2010 IRP goals, accompanied by a 26% budget increase, may not be achieved in 
one year. The strategic plan targets are very aggressive. 
 
Margie highlighted themes underlying the budget: the need for acceleration, new program 
strategies and innovations, a customer focus, productivity improvements, IT system 
improvements, emerging technologies and a new process for pilot programs and initiatives. She 
noted a lot of the ideas came out the organizational redesign and the strategic planning 
process.  
 
Margie then referenced comments and other budget changes, including: 
 


• Finalizing incremental revenues through tariffs, expected to be settled next week 
• Adjusting final expenditures, savings and generation based on latest forecasts of 


completed activity by end 2009 


 
5







Discussion Minutes  December 18, 2009 


• Pursuing discussions regarding utility renewable energy project funding, feed-in tariff, 
and roles and responsibilities for future tariff filings 


• Expanding marketing collaboration with utilities 
• No changes in the staffing proposal 
• Providing matching funds to public entities who receive direct stimulus funds, including 


the $75 million proposal submitted this week to DOE by the City of Portland/State of 
Oregon 


• Retain a placeholder for IT improvements 
• Remain flexible to address management review recommendations, which are expected 


early next year 
 
She presented “budget changes at a glance,” a table with 2008 actuals, 2009 forecast, 2010 
budget, 2010 savings/generation and 2011 projected budget. For each topic, comparison is 
made between the draft budget and proposed final budget with differences highlighted. The final 
budget is $1.3 million more than the 2010 draft budget. There were slight changes between 
draft and final in energy efficiency savings goals (decrease), gas savings goals (increase), 
renewable energy generation (decrease), administration/program support (slight increase).  
 
Responding to Alan’s request in November for more detail regarding new operational 
investments to support programs, Margie highlighted the following:  
 


• A 43% increase in the Planning and Evaluation team to support quicker turnaround on 
new measure approvals and adopt a new model to guide decisions about pilot initiatives 
and new technologies 


• A $1 million increase in customer service and trade allies supports an increased focus 
on customers and trade allies, including reaching out to non-urban parts of the state, 
improving call center technologies and equipment, and supporting Clean Energy Works 
Portland (CEWP) and the Energy Efficiency and Sustainable Technology Act (EEAST).  


 
Dan Enloe commented that our website might provide more information. Margie noted one of 
the website improvements made was a portal just for Trade Allies. 
 
Describing the third major component of investments, Margie noted the kinds of IT projects that 
will be continuing into 2010 and beyond. Among them are business intelligence implementation, 
data warehouse development, Sharepoint planning and training, and infrastructure change 
monitoring for internal controls. Also included are further development and automation through 
webforms.  
 
Margie then provided an update on the Enterprise Resource Plan (ERP) and related 
improvements. Current systems are stretched to capacity, requiring further enhancements or 
revisions. She presented a process overview for solution implementation, starting with an RFP 
in Q1 2010. She noted whatever we do will have a big impact on the way we do business 
internally.  
 
Dan Enloe commended staff for its IT planning efforts. Margie said she would send a 
spreadsheet requested by Dan. Debbie Blanchard referenced some data on large, rapid growth 


 
6







Discussion Minutes  December 18, 2009 


in IT demands. Dan Enloe noted you can choose to implement these kinds of upgrades as 
software development and acquisition or as a service provided by a third party. Margie said we 
will consider both options in our RFP development. 
 
Theresa Gibney said there are no OPUC comments on the budget. She said there some 
components of the 2011 budget that we will look at as we move forward in 2010. Theresa 
acknowledged Energy Trust staff responsiveness to her questions during the budget review 
process. Margie drew attention to the summary of comments tab.  
 
Al Jubitz said he will support a motion to approve the budget. He is very concerned about 
runaway IT spending. He trusts the staff and board members to provide adequate oversight. 
John Reynolds noted Al is on the IT ERP steering committee, as is Dan Enloe. Dan noted the 
projected total outlay was big in comparison to our overall budget. He hopes some of the 
vendors, with green products, will donate some components. Al agreed. 
 
John Reynolds asked if any members of the audience wished to speak to the budget. Patrick 
Stanzen of O Power spoke and referenced the company's enthusiasm for working with us to 
demonstrate their behavior change approach. He provided copies Information describing O 
Power and their experience working successfully with other utilities, including Sacramento 
Municipal Utility District. 
 
Adoption of 2010 Budget, Resolution 533: 
 


RESOLUTION 533 


ADOPTION OF 2010 BUDGET 


BE IT RESOLVED: That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors approves the 
2010 budget as presented in the board packet: 


 


Moved by: Dan Enloe 


 


Seconded by: Jason Eisdorfer 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 
 


 
Adopted on December 18, 2009, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Adoption of 2010-2011 Action Plan, Resolution 534: 


 
7







Discussion Minutes  December 18, 2009 


RESOLUTION 534 
ADOPTION OF 2010-2011 ACTION PLAN 


BE IT RESOLVED:  That Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors approves the 
two-year 2010-2011 Action Plan as presented in the board packet: 
 


Moved by: Jason Eisdorfer Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on December 18, 2009, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Break 
 
The board took a 20 minute break at 1:35. 
 
 
Committee Reports 
 
Policy Committee. Jason noted the committee reviewed the Green Tag policy and decided to 
send it through RAC before determining whether to make changes. The committee also 
reviewed the Waste to Energy policy without recommending changes. The committee has one 
action item for the board today, the Strategic Utility Roundtable.  
 
John Volkman said the roundtable proposal fleshes out logistics, set forth in Operating 
Principles. Participation at the roundtable is not limited to board and utilities. The first meeting 
will be in first quarter 2010, and determine then how many more meetings in 2010, but at least 2 
meetings per year. It is hoped attendees will be decision-level executives and not staff. Agendas 
will be determined by the Energy Trust board president in consultation with the utilities and 
board. Each agenda item will have a sponsoring entity, responsible for preparing background 
material to be made available in advance. Meetings will be open except for any portions of 
meetings the Energy Trust board president determines to involve trade secrets or other 
confidential information. No votes will be taken. Minutes will be kept and a roster of potential 
action items brought back for full Energy Trust board discussion. The parties will try this for a 
two-year period before deciding whether to make it permanent.  
 
John Reynolds asked for preference of time. John Klosterman suggested shrinking the board 
agenda to accommodate the roundtable. Alan, Debbie and Roger supported this idea, noting if 
the roundtable happens only two times a year, you could shrink those two board meetings to 
end at 3 pm and have the roundtable go from 3-5 pm.  
 


 
8







Discussion Minutes  December 18, 2009 


Joe Barra, PGE, said he is looking forward to the roundtable. He wondered about format, 
assuming the utilities would be at the table with board members and others in the audience. 
Roger Hamilton said that’s his thinking too. Others nodded.  
 
Jim Abrahamson, Cascade Natural Gas, seconded Joe’s comments. He is very supportive of 
the proposal.  
 
Caddy commended Jason for doing a great job devising this solution.  
 
Margie thinks it is very important to monitor this activity and to evaluate it after the end of the 
first year. Jason thinks it would be good to have key utility and Energy Trust staff present to 
allow good communication at multiple levels.  


Authorizing strategic utility roundtable, Resolution 536: 
 


RESOLUTION 536 
AUTHORIZING STRATEGIC UTILITY ROUNDTABLE 


WHEREAS: 
1. Utilities whose customers are served by Energy Trust have expressed interest in 


having representation on the Energy Trust board. 
2. The OPUC-Energy Trust grant agreement calls for the board to have the skills and 


demographics to be effective, the diversity necessary to support its mission, to be 
“as broadly representative of electrical users in the Service Areas as possible,” and 
to avoid direct financial conflicts of interest (Grant Agreement, section 5.k). 


3. The Energy Trust policy committee has discussed the idea extensively with the 
utilities, the OPUC and stakeholders. 


4. In November, 2009, the committee proposed, in lieu of utility board seats, a 
Strategic Utility Roundtable to be conducted at least twice yearly for two years, to 
include utilities and other interests, and to focus on strategic Energy Trust issues. 
The utilities and others have commented on the committee proposal. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the Board of the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. authorize a 
Strategic Utility Roundtable process, as outlined in Attachment 1 to this resolution.  
 


Moved by: Alan Meyer Seconded by: Dan Enloe 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


Adopted on December 18, 2009, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 


 
9







Discussion Minutes  December 18, 2009 


ATTACHMENT 1 
 
OPERATING PRINCIPLES 
 
The Utility Strategic Roundtable is a two-year trial designed to facilitate the utilities’ expressed 
interest in communicating with the Energy Trust Board on a strategic level. 
 
1. The Utility Strategic Roundtable would be composed of the Energy Trust Board and 


Executive Director, and representatives of the electric and gas utilities served by the 
Energy Trust: Cascade Natural Gas, NW Natural, PacifiCorp and PGE. Members of the 
public and other stakeholders, including representatives of customer groups, the 
environment, workers, and efficiency and renewable energy trade groups, would be invited 
to attend and participate in the discussions. 


 
2. The Roundtable would meet in the first quarter of 2010. At that meeting, and the first 


meeting in 2011, the roundtable will schedule further meetings for that year. There will be 
at least two meetings annually. If possible, meetings should be timed with regular Energy 
Trust Board meetings so all Board members can attend.  


 
3. Roundtable participants are encouraged to appoint decision-level representatives to the 


roundtable, ensure that the appointed person attend all meetings, and try not to vary 
representation from meeting to meeting. 


 
4. Each roundtable agenda would be determined by the Energy Trust Board President in 


consultation with the full Board, the utilities and interested parties. Agendas will be 
organized to allow the utilities to engage in a dialogue on matters of interest to them, and 
may include suitable agenda items suggested by others. In general, the agenda would 
focus on strategic and longer-term ideas, opportunities and concerns, with the goal to 
ensure the entities are working well together to pursue energy efficiency and renewable 
energy in the most effective and coordinated way possible. The following process will be 
followed: 


 
• Energy Trust will propose meeting date(s) and solicit agenda items from utilities, 


board members and interest groups; 
• Candidate topics will be reviewed by staff and discussed with the policy committee, 


which will recommend an agenda to the board President; and 
• The committee will consider whether issues that are not included on the roundtable 


agenda may be suitable for other forums, e.g., CAC, RAC, or regular board 
meetings. 


 
5. Each agenda item will have a sponsoring entity, which will be responsible for providing 


background material on the issue at least 10 days before the roundtable meeting. 
 
6. All meetings will be open except for any portions of meetings that the Energy Trust 


President determines would involve trade secrets, proprietary or other confidential 
commercial or financial information. Energy Trust will provide public notice of meetings.  


 
10







Discussion Minutes  December 18, 2009 


 
7. Roundtables will discuss issues and may make recommendations to the Energy Trust 


board or others. No votes will be taken. Roundtables are not authorized to take action on 
behalf of the Energy Trust board. 


 
8. Minutes will be kept and a roster of potential action items would be brought back for full 


Energy Trust Board discussion and staff consideration before commitments to pursue the 
actions were made. 


 
9. The parties would try this approach for a two-year period to determine if it is an effective 


way to promote strategic communications before deciding whether to make it a permanent 
feature or pursue some other course.  


 
 
Audit Committee. Julie Hammond noted the final management review report should be available 
in January for your reading pleasure, and be ready for adoption at the February meeting. She 
noted John Volkman is working on board training. John Volkman said there is a new state of 
Oregon conflict of interest form that board members will receive in January.  
 
 
Evaluation Committee. Debbie Kitchin said the evaluation committee met in November and 
reviewed a Commercial & Industrial Lighting Market Assessment, Dimmable LED Recessed 
Can Light Pilot, Impact of Evaluation Results on 2010 Budget, Residential Solar Valuation 
Study, and Duct Sealing and Insulation Impact Evaluation Findings.  
 
Dan was surprised that the data on dimmable LED kitchen lights do not offer significant savings 
compared to CFLs.  
 
 
Finance Committee. John Klosterman gave a report, reviewing committee meeting notes from 
November and the financial statements from October. Alan asked why no projections were 
included. Sue Meyer Sample noted we provide forecasts quarterly.  
 
 
Board Nominating Committee. Rick Applegate deferred to John Reynolds. John congratulated 
Rick for obtaining a list of candidates from the governor’s office. The committee is 
recommending Dan Davis of Jacksonville. Dan’s statement and a resume were made available 
to board members. John noted Dan’s background in energy is impressive.  
 
The board invited Dan to make a few comments. Jason asked how often he expects to be 
present. Dan said his goal is to make all the meetings.  
 
Approval of Dan Davis as board member.  


 
11







Discussion Minutes  December 18, 2009 


 
RESOLUTION 538 


 
APPOINTING DAN DAVIS  


TO ENERGY TRUST BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 


WHEREAS:  
 


1. The Energy Trust board has 13 voting members. 
2. Vickie Liskey has retired from the board and a replacement is required. 
3. The board nominating committee has interviewed several excellent 


candidates and determined that Dan Davis meets key criteria for service in 
this board position, including strong support for the Energy Trust mission 
and extensive experience in business and energy activities that will add 
valuable dimensions to the board. 
 
It is therefore RESOLVED that the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board 
of Directors:  


 
1. Appoints Dan Davis to the Energy Trust board of directors for a three-year 


term of service expiring in 2013. 
 


 


Moved by: Alan Meyer 


 


Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


Adopted on December 18, 2009, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Staff Report 
 
Highlights. Margie noted she already mentioned the $75 million grant application for DOE 
funds submitted by the City of Portland and State of Oregon. Jason said he hopes Energy Trust 
will consider being the applicant for future rounds of federal funds. Margie said these matters 
are considered on a case by case basis.  
 
She acknowledged Patrick Stanton of O POWER. We are planning to test the O POWER 
approach, which compares an individual’s energy use to that of a neighbor with the same age 
and size home. She noted the Sacramento Municipal Utility District reduced its energy load 2% 
through a pilot program using this approach. Alan asked if Energy Trust will be mentioned on 
the communication. Margie said we expect to co-brand with utilities.  
 
Margie said the new homes team expects to achieve 16% of market share this year and have 
EPS scores on 300 homes. Responding to a question from Debbie Kitchin, Margie noted a state 
law calls for the EPS to be in place by October 2010.  
 


 
12







Discussion Minutes  December 18, 2009 


Margie noted a PGE promotion at George Morlan Plumbing placed hundreds of efficient shower 
heads, resulting in savings with no cost to Energy Trust. Margie thanked Joe Barra, PGE, who 
was present.  
 
Margie updated the board on efforts to provide savings kits and other materials for schools. She 
noted we are working with a Chinese-speaking expert to reach out to businesses owned by 
Chinese Americans. She also highlighted the Community Workforce Agreement adopted as part 
of the Clean Energy Works Portland, a model approach being lauded nationally as leading the 
effort to tie energy efficiency to creating a diverse workforce and stimulating family wage job 
creation.  
 
She said Jed Jorgenson has created a guidebook for small hydro projects that have gained 
attention from the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.  
 
She said that since September, Energy Trust board and staff have participated in almost 30 
meetings with state legislators. The purpose of the meetings is to provide information about 
Energy Trust, including specifics on projects, savings, generation and economic impacts 
associated in respective legislative districts, including lists of commercial/industrial participants, 
public participants and trade allies.  
 
Margie noted Lee Beyer is stepping down from the OPUC to run for state senate from 
Springfield. He will be replaced and there is no decision as yet. She has heard John Savage will 
be reappointed.  
 
Margie reported that Diane Ferington has been appointed residential sector lead and a 
California resident formerly with Pacific Gas & Electric, Oliver Kesting, has accepted the position 
as business sector lead. Both positions stem for the organization redesign. 
 
Board members conversed about various energy saving technologies and generation, and their 
interest in meeting with legislators.  
 
 
Adjourn 
 
The meeting adjourned at 2:57 pm. 
 
 
Next meeting. The next regular and annual meeting of the Energy Trust Board of 
Directors will be held Wednesday, February 3, 2010, 12:00 noon at the Energy Trust of 
Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor, Portland, Oregon 
 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________________ 
        Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 


 
13








 
  
 
95th Board Meeting – Annual Meeting  
Wednesday, February 3, 12:30 p.m. – 3:30 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
    
  
12:30 p.m. 95th Board Meeting – Annual Meeting 
 Call to Order (John Reynolds)  


• Approve agenda 2  
 
12:40 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 
 
12:45 p.m. Consent Agenda. The consent agenda may be 3 Action 
  Approved by a single motion, second and vote of 
  the board. Any item on the consent agenda will be 
  moved to the regular agenda upon the request 
  from any member of the board. (John Reynolds) 


• December 18 meeting minutes  
• Election to new terms of office (R540)   
• Amend contract with Pollinate Media, LLC (R542) 


 
12:50 p.m. Nominating Committee (Rick Applegate) 4 


• Election of officers (R541)  Action 
 
12:55 p.m. President’s Report (John Reynolds) 5 


• Board Committee Appointments (R544)  Action 
 
1:10 pm Energy Programs 6 


• Contract with OPOWER (R545) Jason Eisdorfer  Action 
 
1:30 pm Break 
 
1:45 pm. Committee Reports  


• Audit Committee (Julie Hammond)  Information 
• Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 7 Information 


►Residential Awareness Survey 
• Finance Committee (John Klosterman) 8 Information 
• Policy Committee (Jason Eisdorfer)  Information  


 
3:00 p.m. Staff report (Margie Harris) 9  


•  Highlights   Information 
 
3:30 p.m. Adjourn 
 


The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be held 
Wednesday, April 7, 2010, 12:00 noon 


at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor, 
Portland, Oregon 


 








2009 Oregon Residential 
Awareness Study


Board Meeting – February 3, 2010







Study Purpose


• Understand our customers’ general level of 
interest in/awareness of:
• Energy Trust
• energy efficiency
• renewable energy 
• climate change


• Help design marketing and implementation of 
existing/future programs and campaigns


• Compare to last year’s results, refine 
segmentation scheme







Fielding


• Fielded in late May-June 2009
• Respondents representative of Oregon 


general population
• Own vs. rent
• Single family vs. multifamily
• Respondent age
• Region of residence


• 904 respondents
• 694 (77%) were customers of one of our funding 


utilities







Survey questions


• Energy Trust Awareness
• Participation


• Assessment of their home’s energy efficiency
• Attitudes and beliefs about energy
• Use of energy
• Interest in renewable energy
• Demographics







Sampling map







Awareness of 
Energy Trust







Awareness has improved since 2008


2008 2009
All survey respondents 28% 36%
All Energy Trust customers 32% 41%
Homeowners 38% 48%
Single family 39% 50%
Renters 20% 28%
Single family 27% 32%







Awareness of Energy Trust
*** p (2009) 
n=904







Awareness by electric provider
*** p (2009)
n=694







Awareness by natural gas provider
*** p (2009)
n=694







What does Energy Trust offer?
n=320







How did you first hear about us?
n=263







Participation in 
Energy Trust 


Programs







Participation in 2008 & 2009


2008 2009
All survey respondents 6% 7%
All Energy Trust customers 7% 9%
Homeowners 10% 13%
Single family 11% 14%
Renters 2% 1%
Single family 5% 0%







Participation by region
*** p (2009)
n=63







Participation by electric provider
*** p (2009)
n=60







Participation by natural gas provider
*** p (2009)
n=60







Satisfaction with program participation


n=62


Number of respondents in parentheses.







Respondent 
Characteristics







PARTICIPANTS
• Homeowners (98%)
• Single family homes (84%)
• More likely to be 45-54
• College degree or more (65%)
• Higher income (79% >$50K)
• Gas space and water heat


Participants vs. Nonparticipants


GENERAL POPULATION
• Mix of owners and renters (64%/36%)
• Mix of single and multifamily
• More likely to be <35 or over 75
• Mix of education levels
• Low/moderate income (57% <$50K)
• Electric space and water heat


NO DIFFERENCE IN:
•Home age
•Primary source of news and information 







Use of CFLs
ns, p
n=687







Intention to participation in next year


n=59 n=210


* p







Segmentation







What’s different this year?


• Different survey questions, particularly 
attitudes and beliefs


• Different algorithm for segments, not just 
plugging respondents into old formula


• Better renters sample than 2008







2009 Segmentation







Maybe Later


• Young renters
• Multifamily dwellings
• Low incomes
• Concerned about 


energy resource issues, 
have “green” attitudes


• As their incomes 
increase and they buy 
homes, may become 
participants







Show Me


• Eastern Oregon 
homeowners


• Moderate incomes, 
education


• Most have low energy 
use


• Least concerned about 
energy resource issues


• Low opinion of EE for 
preventing climate 
change







Hands Full


• Middle-aged 
homeowners


• Larger families (not 
necessarily kids), lower 
incomes


• Electric/non-gas heating
• Some concerned about 


energy resource issues
• Low opinion of EE for 


preventing climate 
change







Strugglers


• Young/middle-aged 
renters of MF units


• Lowest incomes
• Electric heating, low- 


medium energy use
• Some concerned about 


energy resource issues
• Low opinion of EE for 


preventing climate 
change







Willing & Able


• Middle-aged 
homeowners


• Highest incomes, educ.
• Natural gas heating
• Highest energy use of 


all segments
• Energy Trust 


participation high
• High opinion of EE for 


preventing climate 
change







Main Street Oregonians


• Older homeowners
• Non-urban, lower 


incomes
• Electric heating
• Varied energy use
• Not concerned about 


energy resource issues
• Low opinion of EE for 


preventing climate 
change







What’s next?


• We will repeat the survey in late spring 
2010, but with fewer questions
• Not planning to repeat segmentation


• Raise awareness and participation outside 
Portland Metro region


• Leverage customer relationship with 
utilities to increase awareness and 
participation







What’s next?


• Changes to advertising strategy
• Targeted messaging


• Target low-cost, no-cost solutions to ‘Show 
Me’ and ‘Maybe Later’ segments


• Design programs and marketing to engage 
‘Willing & Able’ and ‘Main Street 
Oregonians’


• Primary messaging should always link 
saving energy and saving money





		Slide Number 1

		Study Purpose

		Fielding

		Survey questions

		Sampling map

		Awareness of Energy Trust

		Awareness has improved since 2008

		Awareness of Energy Trust

		Awareness by electric provider

		Awareness by natural gas provider

		What does Energy Trust offer?

		How did you first hear about us?

		Slide Number 13

		Participation in 2008 & 2009

		Participation by region

		Participation by electric provider

		Participation by natural gas provider

		Satisfaction with program participation

		Slide Number 19

		Participants vs. Nonparticipants

		Use of CFLs

		Intention to participation in next year

		Slide Number 23

		What’s different this year?

		2009 Segmentation

		Maybe Later

		Show Me

		Hands Full

		Strugglers

		Willing & Able

		Main Street Oregonians

		What’s next?

		What’s next?






 


 
Final Report 


2009 Oregon Residential Awareness  
and Perception Study 


Funded By: 


 


Submitted To: 
Sarah Castor 


Philipp Degens, Ph.D. 
Energy Trust of Oregon 


Prepared By: 


 
Jane S. Peters, Ph.D.  


Jun Suzuki 
Mersiha Spahic 


Research Into Action, Inc. 


November 17, 2009 







  


2009 OREGON RESIDENTIAL AWARENESS  AND PERCEPTION STUDY 


  







 


2009 OREGON RESIDENTIAL AWARENESS  AND PERCEPTION STUDY 


=  
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS  


We would like to thank Energy Trust of Oregon for conceiving of this project and giving us 
needed support. Opinion Dynamics Corporation conducted the interviews, which were ably 
managed by Jennifer Mitchell-Jackson. Laurie Lago of Business Service Bureau edited and 
produced the report. We are very grateful for their efforts on this project. Finally, we wish to 
acknowledge the many residents of Oregon who agreed to participate in the survey. 


 







 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS  


2009 OREGON RESIDENTIAL AWARENESS  AND PERCEPTION STUDY 


  







 


2009 OREGON RESIDENTIAL AWARENESS  AND PERCEPTION STUDY 


= =  
TABLE OF CONTENTS 


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................... I 
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ......................................................................................... II 


1. INTRODUCTION ...................................................................................................................... 1 
STUDY PURPOSE ......................................................................................................................................... 1 


ORGANIZATION OF THIS REPORT .......................................................................................................... 1 


2. METHODOLOGY ..................................................................................................................... 3 
SURVEY INSTRUMENTS ............................................................................................................................ 3 


SAMPLING .................................................................................................................................................... 4 


DATA COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS...................................................................................................... 6 


3. QUESTION-BY-QUESTION FINDINGS ................................................................................... 9 
AWARENESS OF ENERGY TRUST ............................................................................................................ 9 


PARTICIPATION IN ENERGY TRUST PROGRAMS .............................................................................. 13 
Characteristics of Participants ......................................................................................................... 16 


PARTICIPATION IN ENERGY TRUST PROGRAMS .............................................................................. 22 


SELF-ASSESSMENT OF HOME ENERGY EFFICIENCY ....................................................................... 25 


ATTITUDES, PERCEPTIONS, AND BELIEFS ......................................................................................... 27 


HOME FEATURES AND ENERGY USE BEHAVIOR ............................................................................. 32 
CFLs ................................................................................................................................................ 33 
Thermostats ..................................................................................................................................... 34 
Air Conditioning ............................................................................................................................. 34 
Power Strips .................................................................................................................................... 35 
Other Energy Saving Actions .......................................................................................................... 36 


ENERGY STAR® ........................................................................................................................................ 37 


RENEWABLE ENERGY ............................................................................................................................. 37 


INTENTION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE FUTURE .................................................................................. 40 


4. SEGMENTATION ................................................................................................................... 41 
ENERGY CONSUMPTION DATA ............................................................................................................. 41 


Method ............................................................................................................................................ 41 
Total Energy Consumption ............................................................................................................. 42 


 







Page ii TABLE OF Contents  


2009 OREGON RESIDENTIAL AWARENESS  AND PERCEPTION STUDY 


SEGMENTATION ........................................................................................................................................ 46 
Method ............................................................................................................................................ 46 
Result .............................................................................................................................................. 46 


5. RECOMMENDATIONS .......................................................................................................... 61 
FINDINGS .................................................................................................................................................... 61 


Energy Trust Awareness and Participation ..................................................................................... 61 
Attitudes, Perceptions, and Behaviors............................................................................................. 62 
Green Power and Carbon Offset Programs ..................................................................................... 62 
Market ............................................................................................................................................. 62 
Energy Consumption ....................................................................................................................... 63 


CONCLUSIONS ........................................................................................................................................... 63 


APPENDICES  
APPENDIX A: FINAL SURVEY DISPOSITIONS ................................................................................... A-1 


First phase interviews .................................................................................................................... A-1 
Second phase interviews ............................................................................................................... A-2 


APPENDIX B: ZIP CODE BREAKOUTS ................................................................................................. B-1 


APPENDIX C: LIMITATIONS .................................................................................................................. C-1 
Missing data .................................................................................................................................. C-1 


APPENDIX D: ANALYSIS METHOD ..................................................................................................... D-1 
Factor Analysis ............................................................................................................................. D-1 
Regression ..................................................................................................................................... D-1 
Segmentation ................................................................................................................................. D-2 
Interpretation ................................................................................................................................. D-3 


APPENDIX E: SURVEY INSTRUMENT ................................................................................................. E-1 


 
 







 


2009 OREGON RESIDENTIAL AWARENESS  AND PERCEPTION STUDY 


ES  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 


This report provides the results of the 2009 Oregon Residential Energy Awareness and 
Perception Study, conducted by Research Into Action, Inc. The goal of this report is to provide 
findings and recommendations useful to improving Energy Trust’s marketing activities to help it 
achieve its energy-saving goals in the residential sector.  


Opinion Dynamics Corporation (contacted to perform the surveys for this study) completed 904 
interviews between May and July 2009. Thirty-six percent of respondents in the state at large and 
41% of those within the Energy Trust territory reported unaided awareness of Energy Trust. We 
estimate the participation rate in Energy Trust programs at 7% statewide and at 9% in the Energy 
Trust-targeted territory. We observed an increase in the reported awareness of Energy Trust in 
most parts of Oregon, but most noticeably in the Portland Metropolitan and Willamette Valley / 
North Coast regions. In spite of increased recognition of Energy Trust, a substantial portion of 
those aware (40%) did not know much about specific program offerings.  


We found that electric-heated homes in PGE and PacifiCorp territory (which scatters across the 
state) have the lowest rate of participation in Energy Trust programs, even though this group 
qualifies for rebates for both appliances and space heating equipment. This group constituted 
48% of all respondents. 


For those respondents who had participated in programs, satisfaction with services received from 
Energy Trust was high, as was their intention to participate again in Energy Trust programs 
(41%). 


Energy Trust program participants’ attitudes differed from those of nonparticipants in regard to 
specific behaviors that could result in energy savings and more responsible use of energy. They 
described upgrading appliances and windows, installing insulation, changing thermostat settings, 
and driving less as significantly higher priority actions. They are also more likely than 
nonparticipants to believe that global climate change is a result of high energy use. Renters 
expressed high concern about energy issues and a desire to make their homes more energy 
efficient; however, they perceived limited means for action.  


Specific observations in regard to energy-using behaviors are noted. We estimate the CFL 
penetration rate at 85% (households that have at least one CFL in their home). The increase since 
2008 in CFL penetration was particularly apparent among nonparticipants; we no longer observe 
differences in penetration between participants and nonparticipants. Forty percent of respondents 
reported they had programmable thermostats, but only 66% of them actually used automatic 
features to control indoor temperatures. Fifty-five percent of respondents said their homes had an 
air-conditioning system; 36% of these homes had window or room air-conditioning units. 
Ninety-two percent of respondents reported they used at least one power strip, with a majority of 
them (68%) saying they never or rarely turned off the main switch. In addition, 61% of 







Page II EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  


2009 OREGON RESIDENTIAL AWARENESS  AND PERCEPTION STUDY 


respondents recognized the ENERGY STAR® label; participants were significantly more aware 
of the label.  


Respondents’ self-assessment of their home’s energy efficiency revealed that those who lived in 
older homes believed their homes were less efficient than those who lived in newer homes.  
Consistent with this, the analysis of the consumption data for households in the survey with 
billing data revealed that single-family dwellings in the Portland Metropolitan and Willamette 
Valley / North Coast regions had the highest concentration of high-consumption owner-occupied 
households.  


CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 


 Conclusion 1: Since 2008, awareness of Energy Trust has improved in most parts of 
Oregon. Though we did not explicitly track what marketing channels had attracted 
people’s attention, the findings suggest that the 2009 marketing efforts increased overall 
recognition of Energy Trust and may have successfully affected program participation.  


Recommendation 1: The next Oregon Residential Energy Awareness Study should 
include questions that obtain unaided responses as to respondents’ awareness of 
different marketing messages offered about Energy Trust (i.e., those by the utilities 
and Energy Trust).  


 Conclusion 2: Six different market segments were identified from the 2009 survey 
analysis, some of which are similar to the ones identified in the 2008 study. The 
differences are likely attributable to changes in the survey questions and improved renter 
samples in 2009.  


• Maybe Later – young renters with green attitudes 


• Strugglers – renters in survival mode 


• Show Me – Eastern Oregonians who are less receptive to energy efficiency 


• Hands Full – large families with lower incomes and lower perception of the 
efficacy of energy efficiency 


• Willing and Able – financially capable, higher energy consumers with greener 
attitudes 


• Main Street Oregonians – non-urban residents who are receptive to green living 


Three segments – Strugglers, Willing and Able, and Main Street Oregonians – are similar 
to the ones we identified in the 2008 study regarding energy efficiency attitudes and 
demographic characteristics  


Willing and Able and Main Street Oregonians are the most attractive market segments to 
Energy Trust, since they include the most high energy consumers and are more likely to 







EXECUTIVE SUMMARY Page III 


2009 OREGON RESIDENTIAL AWARENESS  AND PERCEPTION STUDY 


participate in Energy Trust programs, given their high financial and attitudinal readiness 
to be engaged in efficiency actions.  


The Maybe Later households are less likely to participate in Energy Trust programs 
today, primarily because of their young age, rental status, and financial constraints. This 
segment exhibits a strong desire to become more energy-efficient; therefore, they have 
the greatest potential to become an attractive segment for Energy Trust, as they earn more 
money and become homeowners.  


The Show Me segment, on the other hand, appears to have the capacity to take many 
efficiency actions, but they are less aware and less convinced of the benefits they might 
experience by taking such actions.  


Recommendation 2: Design programs that primarily target the Willing and Able 
and Main Street Oregonian segments, as these include those residents most likely 
to participate and provide energy savings. Enhanced marketing efforts that target 
the Maybe Later and Show Me segments could be effective by increasing their 
awareness of the benefits of taking energy efficiency actions and by targeting low-
cost/no-cost actions that could have immediate effects.  


 Conclusion 3: Renters are interested in learning what they can do to reduce energy 
use. Renters, who tend to be younger, are generally more uneasy about current energy 
issues than are homeowners, and were the most interested in learning what they can do to 
reduce their environmental footprint. Simultaneously, they expressed their lack of 
knowledge or access to means to do so.  


Recommendation 3: Actively engage renters by promoting CFLs and low-
cost/no-cost measures through creative communication channels such as 
YouTube, Twitter, and other Web2.0 and 3.0 tools, and by exploring program 
options that can influence landlord decision-making. 


 Conclusion 4: A larger sample of customers with energy consumption billing data 
could provide a more meaningful segmentation analysis. Information provided by the 
cases with consumption data was used to determine the key variables for the 
segmentation analysis. Thus, reducing the amount of missing billing data will improve 
the reliability and consistency of segmentation solutions.    


Recommendation 4: Energy Trust should explore how to ensure that future 
surveys have access to samples that include energy consumption data upfront, 
rather than matching energy consumption data to RDD-sampled households.   


 Conclusion 5: The use of behavioral and attitudinal variables was effective in 
identifying segments. The largest change in survey questions for the 2009 sample was to 
expand the questions addressing behavioral and attitudinal variables. This proved to be a 







Page IV EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  


2009 OREGON RESIDENTIAL AWARENESS  AND PERCEPTION STUDY 


more effective basis for the segmentation analysis and was especially valuable due to the 
lack of billing data. 


Recommendation 5: Continue to use behavioral and attitudinal questions in 
surveys that will be used for segmentation analysis. These questions can be refined 
further and perhaps expanded to further account for drivers in customer decision-
making about energy efficiency. 


  







 
 
MEMO 
 
 


Date: December 4, 2009 
  To: Board of Directors 


From: Sarah Castor, Evaluation Project Manager 
Amber Cole, Director of Communications and Customer Service 
Brooke Graham, Residential Marketing Manager 


Subject: Staff Response to the 2009 Oregon Residential Awareness and Perceptions 
Study 
 
The 2009 Oregon Residential Awareness and Perceptions Study is the second 
such study Energy Trust has completed, following on last year’s report. The 
goals of the study were: 1) to gather information about the level of awareness 
Oregonians have of Energy Trust; 2) to compare awareness and participation 
with similar figures from last year’s study and 3) to better understand attitudes 
and behaviors surrounding the topics of energy efficiency, renewable energy and 
climate change.  
 
The 2009 Oregon Residential Awareness and Perceptions Study provides results 
based on a representative sample of both homeowners and renters statewide. 
While the vast majority of respondents reside in Energy Trust service territory, 
the sample includes some other electric and gas utility customers who are not 
eligible for Energy Trust programs and services.   
 
Of the population surveyed (approximately 900), 36% were aware of Energy 
Trust and about 7% reported that they have participated in one of our programs. 
These figures grow to 41% and 9%, respectively, when filtering for respondents 
located in Energy Trust service territory.  
 
From 2008 to 2009, awareness of Energy Trust increased among all four 
participating utility customer groups, and in all but one region (Southern Oregon, 
where awareness remained constant). As in 2008, the highest awareness is 
concentrated in the Portland Metro area, particularly among PGE and NW 
Natural customers. 
 
We are pleased with the high levels of satisfaction and intention of repeat 
participation among past participants. However, we are conscious of the need to 
extend our reach in electrically heated homes and households outside the 
Portland area. To address this need, the proposed Energy Trust 2010 budget 
increases investment in general outreach, trade ally network recruitment and 
training, and targeted residential program marketing activities in outlying areas 


Energy Trust of Oregon 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


Telephone: 1.866.368.7878 
Facsimile: 503.546.6862 
energytrust.org 







with the purpose of increasing customer awareness and participation outside of 
the Portland metropolitan region.  
 
The study noted a low penetration of programmable thermostats, and among 
households with such a device, very few used the automatic setbacks. In 2010, 
the Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes program will pilot programmable 
thermostat installations and education during Home Energy Reviews to assess 
the potential savings.  
 
The study identified six customer segments based on energy usage and 
respondent attitudes and behaviors around energy and climate change. Two 
segments – “Willing & Able” and “Main Street Oregonians” – were recommended 
for program targeting. In addition, different marketing messages and strategies 
were recommended for “Maybe Later” and “Show Me” segments. Energy Trust 
advertising and communications will build on this learning to target specific 
messaging to specific audiences where possible. This strategy will ultimately be 
balanced with general messaging to reach all, including the “Strugglers” and 
“Hands Full.” We plan to deploy some of these targeted messages to relevant 
customer segments in 2010 and then follow up to measure effectiveness in the 
future Residential Awareness studies. 
 
In 2010, we intend to field the survey again, but with a reduced set of questions, 
to track trend in awareness, participation, and explore other specific topics of 
interest. We do not plan to repeat the segmentation in 2010 because we have a 
solid understanding of the current customer segments and opportunities to 
employ targeted marketing strategies for specific segments. We will watch for 
indications that targeted efforts, where they can be utilized, contribute to overall 
awareness gains.  
 
 As recommended, we also plan to explore different sampling approaches to 
increase the amount of billing data that can be matched to respondents.  
 












 


 
 


 


Briefing Paper 
Proposed Staffing Conversion 
February 3, 2010 


Summary 
Convert current half-time employee to a full-time employee to achieve dollar savings 
and improve capability within the IT Department.


Background 
• In the short time since the budget was adopted in December 2010, a new 


opportunity has arisen.  


• Currently, Energy Trust has a half-time employee within the IT Infrastructure 
Team who provides system and network support services. 


• Demand for such services has and will continue to grow.  


• The current part-time employee is highly competent and now willing and able to 
provide needed services on a full-time basis. 


• Conversion from the current part-time position to a full-time position will result in 
cost-savings to the organization while providing more in-house capability in 
critical, ongoing areas. 


Discussion 
• Staff proposes to upgrade the current .5 FTE infrastructure technician role to a 


full time enterprise architect role to better serve organization needs and priorities, 
including assistance with the critical Enterprise Resource Project. 


• The position will fulfill strategic planning and management requirements 
stemming from increased complexity and significant growth in IT systems. These 
include changes resulting from increased supplemental efficiency funding and 
the need for enhanced technical planning capabilities going forward. 


• Full-time resources will also be allocated to meet processing load growth from 12 
to over 40 servers, service to approximately 300 users and expanded hours of 
operation and maintenance. 


• The 2010 budget currently includes $77,500 earmarked for consulting services. 


• This amount more than covers the dollars required to convert the current half-
time position to a full-time position. 


• The current part-time employee possesses the appropriate skills, knowledge and 
capabilities to fulfill the position requirements and is now able to work full time. 


Next Steps 
• Acknowledge this request and allow staff to move forward and convert the 


current position from part to full time. 





		Briefing Paper






 
CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting January 13, 2010 
 
Attending from the Council: 
Andria Jacob, City of Portland 
Bill Welch, EWEB 
Don Jones, Pacific Power 
Holly Meyer, NW Natural 
Jeff Bissonnette, Fair and Clean Energy 
Coalition 
Jim Abrahamson, Cascade Natural Gas 
Lauren Shapton, Portland General 
Electric 
Paul Case, Oregon Remodeler’s 
Association 
Robin Straughan, representing Oregon 
Department of Energy on behalf of 
Suzanne Dillard 
Brent Barclay, Bonneville Power 
Administration 
 
Attending from Energy Trust: 
Brien Sipe 
Fred Gordon 
Hannah Hacker 
John Volkman 


Matt Braman 
Pete Catching 
Peter West 
Phil Degens 
Sarah Castor 
Steve Lacey 
 
Attending from the board: 
Dan Davis 
Dan Enloe 
John Reynolds 
 
Others attending: 
Andrew Ragen, Rogers Machinery 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Jess Kincaid, CAPO 
Kari Greer, Pacific Power 
Peter Gutmann 
Rebecca Sherman, ODOE 
Roger Spring, Evergreen Consulting 
 
 


 
 
1. Welcome and introductions  
At 1:36 p.m., Peter West asked for self-introductions and reviewed the agenda. The 
agenda was adopted without changes. 
 
2. Savings adjustments: procedure and process  
Fred Gordon presented on adjusting savings estimates in response to market effects, 
and whether changes or clarifications are needed on the existing procedures. This initial 
presentation to the council will be followed with discussions with the Board of Directors, 
OPUC, utilities, and then another presentation to the council before Energy Trust’s 
recommendation is adopted. 
 
The initial recommendation by Energy Trust staff is to continue reporting savings based 
on market effects—those actions Energy Trust influenced—for most purposes. For utility 
funding agreements, staff recommends using a consistent estimate of market effects 
(free rider rate and spillover rate) for one year, “locked in” July of the prior year to 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                         January 13, 2010                     


forecast that year’s savings.  For other reporting purposes, the most current estimate of 
market effects will be used, assuring that the most transparent and current estimates of 
savings are used for reporting toward Energy Trust goals and Integrated Resource Plan 
targets.   
 
Energy Trust reports on savings to measure the success of programs against budget 
plans, action targets, OPUC performance measures for average megawatts, therm and 
levelized costs, and the recently adopted five-year strategic plan goals. Savings reports 
also influence utility forecasts, payment to Energy Trust contractors, Power Plan 
compliance, and benefit/cost tests.  
 
Fred clarified what is meant by gross savings and net savings. Gross savings are 
savings per measure where the program directly provided help and/or cash incentives. 
Net savings are adjusted for market effects and determined by the gross savings minus 
“free riders” (whether the measure would have been installed without Energy Trust’s 
influence) and adding in “spillover” (whether participants installed more efficiency 
measures than those for which they received direct Energy Trust incentives, but state 
they would not have done so without the program’s influence). Market transformation 
savings (used by NEEA and some Energy Trust programs) is similar to net savings, but 
measures the influence of the program on the whole market—market share minus base 
market share (or how the market acts without the program)—estimated for each program 
year. 
 
Fred discussed that about one-third of current Energy Trust electric savings and a 
significant share of the gas savings are market transformation. We have shown that we 
influence sustained changes in the market share of efficient technologies including gas 
furnaces and efficient new homes. We plan to study the possibility of such effect for  
commercial lighting and new buildings.  
 
We can estimate market effects within reasonable bounds and with reasonable certainty 
using a range of estimation techniques that produce a reasonable range of estimates.  
This is more precise than other key variables in utility resource planning, such as 
forecasts of loads or gas prices. To deal with uncertainty, for resource acquisition 
programs, we usually pick the midpoint of the range of reasonable estimates for free 
riders. Because spillover levels are more difficult to estimate, and to be conservative in 
our estimates, we sometimes pick a lower estimate than the midpoint.  
 
Current Energy Trust reporting is tailored by audience and purpose: 


• Net savings plus market transformation: integrated resource plans, annual and 
quarterly reports, OPUC performance measures 


• Gross savings plus market transformation: PacifiCorp internal goals, Washington 
state gas program, Power Planning Council compliance 


• PMC goals are set before the contract year begins: prescriptive measures (fixed 
savings per measure); custom measures (gross savings) 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                         January 13, 2010                     


There is no set standard for savings reporting in other states, and they vary between 
gross savings, net savings/gross volume, and net savings. 
 
Reporting on net savings is becoming more difficult as the free rider estimates and 
market transformation are increasing, as well as savings goals. If the free rider rate 
increases, it tells us that the market is becoming transformed and we need to switch to 
another technology to show our continued presence in the industry. New technologies 
are more expensive but will deliver greater savings for our increasing goals. Yet it is still 
important to use net savings to show the added value we bring to an increasingly 
changing market environment (federal and state programs coming on-line, greater 
market forces for efficiency action).  
 
Staff recommendations are to continue existing net savings reporting in Oregon, and to 
clarify basis for utility funding agreements. In July, “locking in” market effects 
adjustments for resource acquisition for the following year. By keeping status quo on 
savings reporting, there will be modest procedural changes and simplified compliance 
with funding agreements, we are still using best available data for long-term tracking and 
reporting, and the utility/Energy Trust and PMC/Energy Trust contracts are on the same 
basis. However, the market effect rate for those contracts will sometimes delay updates 
for planning, forecasting and other reporting. 
 
Holly Meyer asked for a greater explanation of what “locking in” the savings rate means. 
Fred explained Energy Trust will look at what the market effects, free rider and spillover 
rates are and for purposes of contract tracking, we’ll stay at that percent for the year. 
When we look at cumulative savings for utility load/savings, we’ll look at the best 
available data. July of the previous year will lock in that rate for the next calendar year; 
this timing is especially critical as budgeting begins in August.  
 
Holly asked how reporting occurred in the past. Fred answered we just started working 
on the incremental funding agreements with gas—have been doing this with electric 
(PGE uses net numbers)—we are just getting to the point with electric agreements 
where we need to sort this out. 
 
Bill Welch asked how the savings reporting translates forward to incentives and what the 
impact is for the programs. Fred said our incentives will still be based on market 
requirements—we still need to figure out how to spend the money on things that are 
occurring without us. 
 
Paul Casey mentioned the desire to keep Energy Trust program changes to a minimum. 
Fred agreed that is what we are striving for, but what is changing is our degree of 
freedom to respond to developing market conditions by changing activity levels. 
Because we are spending down our surplus and must manage individual utility budgets 
on an annual basis, our flexibility is reduced. 
 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                         January 13, 2010                     


Paul Casey reminded the council of the recent 30-day incentive change notification 
policy newly in effect and asked we keep the customers’ and trade allies’ best interests 
in mind. Peter West responded the 30-day notification policy is in relation to our 
obligation for program budgets being utility specific and it is incumbent on Energy Trust 
to relate and notify the trade allies of our budget constraints. 
 
Brent Barclay asked if attribution on a unit base will be locked down as well. Fred said 
“yes”.  
 
3. Commercial and industrial lighting market assessment 
Phil Degens presented on the results of a 2009 market assessment of commercial and 
industrial lighting. The study was conducted between June and August of 2009. The last 
regional lighting study was completed in 2000 and Phil reported we have had a fairly 
high free ridership rate in the Existing Buildings program. We are also testing a 
hypothesis that high-performance T8s have gone through market transformation. Forty-
three percent of total commercial electric load is lighting (approximately 526 aMWs): 35 
percent of electric load for electric-heated buildings and 60 percent of electric load for 
gas-heated buildings. 
 
Existing studies by Energy Trust, the Power Planning Council, regional studies and other 
national market studies on C&I lighting from the last decade were reviewed. Seventy-five 
C&I lighting market actors were also interviewed, including Energy Trust staff, 
contractors, distributors and designers. 
 
Results show that Energy Trust has impacted the market, reducing lighting energy 
consumption by approximately four percent in the nonresidential sector from the start of 
the lighting program. Large and small offices and the retail sector were the largest 
customer base in 2009. Market actors consider Energy Trust to have influenced the 
adoption of T8s (55 percent said Energy Trust is a “major influence”). And 25 percent of 
new fluorescent lighting installed are high-performance T8s. Based on the 2007 
Commercial Building Stock Assessment (CBSA), lighting makeup by existing square 
foot: fluorescent T12s (17 percent); T8s (51 percent); T5s have increased their 
presence; and LEDs make up a small share of lighting but this is projected. Phil 
indicated T8s will become the baseline for a mid-2012 code update. The code change 
will coincide with the phase-out of T12s—an important opportunity for Energy Trust to 
influence lighting retrofits in the buildings that have 17 percent of the lighting as T12s. 
The opportunity will be even more significant with building built before 1994 (27 percent 
of the lighting is T12s). The program will also be able to affect the market when more 
efficient halogen IR lamps are required in 2012.  
 
Controls in existing buildings present opportunities for our programs: occupancy 
sensors, on/off switches, dimmers/daylighting. Occupancy sensors one of the highest 
installed lighting control in retrofit projects (58 percent). 
 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                         January 13, 2010                     


Lighting Power Density (watts/sq ft) between 2002 and 2007 decreased over the sample 
period, most significantly in the grocery sector; there is an opportunity to improve code 
as some LPD in existing buildings and new buildings are better than specified by code. 
The code change in 2007 improved the LPD by approximately 18 percent over 1998. 
 
Based on the last regional study of new construction lighting in 2004, which measured 
against the lighting makeup in 1998, new construction lighting has shown only a slight 
increase in installation of high-performance T8s, and installation of T12s is very low (0.6 
percent) as they were replaced by T5s and T8s. The same study showed an increase in 
occupancy controls and efficient ballasts. The study shows that there is still room to 
increase the market penetration of lighting controls. 
 
Market actors interviewed provide a diverse set of services: lighting 
design/specifications, installation, maintenance, retail and wholesale lighting sales. 
When asked how often their projects go beyond code, contractors said 56 percent of the 
time they discuss going beyond code in retrofit and new construction projects and 20 
percent always discuss it. In the end, more than 69 projects wound up being better than 
code.  
 
Reasons cited for going beyond code include financial incentives, reduced life cycle 
costs, reduced maintenance costs, improved quality of visual environment and good 
citizenship. Reasons for not going beyond code involved the added capital costs and 
uncertainty over performance of equipment (which is an opportunity for Energy Trust to 
clarify the technology to reduce uncertainty). 
 
Based on the review of existing studies and the interviews with key market actors, staff 
recommends: 


• Looking at the T12 turnover as a large opportunity Energy Trust should plan for 
in an effort to steer what products will replace T12s and what types of controls 
are installed 


• Making sure trade allies are designing and installing controls effectively 
• Discussing with trade allies how often they check lighting designs against code 


and setting defaults to determine whether training is needed  
• Exploring opportunities to work with manufacturers to learn their methods in 


disseminating information 
• Improving LPDs with the next code change for particular building types 


 
Brent Barclay asked that if the standard changes for T12 lighting, will Energy Trust 
adjust the baseline and when do you stop offering an incentive for a measure expected 
to be required in the future. Staff clarified the baseline will be high-performance T8s and 
the anticipated code change will require we change the level of lighting Energy Trust 
offers incentives on, since we can’t claim savings for efficiency that is required. 
 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                         January 13, 2010                     


It was observed that building owners will wait until the lighting equipment fails before 
they decide to upgrade, so there will potentially be a large bump in T8 retrofit activity 
after the code change in 2012. Fred replied that Energy Trust will need to start preparing 
the contractors this year to get ready for the increased activity.  
 
John Reynolds asked for an update on LED technology and how this recommendation 
prepares us for adoption of the new technology. Phil responded that Energy Trust is 
looking at the LED market now, which is showing to still be small (some specific fixtures, 
canned lights) but nothing for the general fluorescent market. Barring LED exit signs, 
specific/display lighting and niche lighting applications, LED technology is a minimal 
factor in the market. 
 
Roger Spring with Evergreen Consulting commented these recommendations affect the 
training of lighting trade allies and this training has been included in the 2010 schedule. 
Evergreen Consulting, which manages the lighting contractor network for Energy Trust’s 
commercial and industrial programs, supports the study recommendations. 
 
4. Air and duct measure impact evaluation 
Brien Sipe presented findings from several studies on gas savings in single-family 
homes for air/duct sealing and duct insulation. Prior to this evaluation, there has been 
several impact evaluations conducted between 2005 and 2007 by various firms, each 
using a variety of approaches, sometimes resulting in unstable or unintuitive results. 
Energy Trust is moving this impact evaluation, and other residential evaluations, in-
house with expert oversight to maintain a consistent evaluation approach.  
 
An original impact evaluation was done in 2003 and is the basis for our current savings 
(duct sealing at 21 therms; duct insulation at 12 therms; air sealing at 26 therms). In 
2005, the same approach was used as in ’03-’04 for the impact evaluation, but there was 
inconsistency in the engineering estimates and the realization savings rates were 
unusable. A 2007 study revealed no incremental savings from air sealing, but significant 
savings for the combined duct insulation/sealing rate (47 therms). The study was 
conducted again in 2007 but with a different firm. They also found no incremental 
savings from air sealing, and savings estimates for duct insulation of 31-43 therms and 
for duct sealing of 38-56 therms. 
 
An in-house analysis of ’06-’07 activity examined an average of the program data and 
found a more conservative estimate of duct insulation (16-18 therms) and similar 
findings on duct sealing (34-59 therms) and air sealing (zero therms) as the two ’07 
studies. In addition, the in-house study found a substantial increase in duct insulation 
savings between the two years. This finding was corroborated by Michael Blasnik & 
Assoc. research on the two program years. 
 
Table 1: Duct/air sealing and duct insulation savings estimates by study 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                         January 13, 2010                     


Study Sites  Duct insulation Duct sealing Air sealing 


Stellar 2005-2006 1,321 45 42 - 


Blasnik 2006 615 20-28 40-69 - 


HMG 2007* 3,000+ 47 - 0 


In-house 2006-2007  8,179  16-18  34-59  0 


Blasnik 2007-2008 605 31-43 38-56 0 
 
Other findings from the draft in-house study included lower than predicted savings for all 
insulation measures (wall, ceiling, floor). Fred mentioned that this analysis has not been 
finalized, but insulation rates are looking lower.  
 
Table 2: Single-family gas weatherization measures current expected realization 
rates and impacts on therm savings 


Measure 
Total 06-07 
measures 


Current total therm 
savings 06-07 eval RR 


Adjusted 06-
07 therms  


Air sealing 483 12,558 0% 0 
Ceiling insulation 2,657 174,146 64% 111,018 
Duct insulation 1,027 12,576 133% 16,768 
Duct sealing 705 13,547 281% 38,061 
Floor insulation 1,562 112,953 45% 50,829 
Wall insulation 1,111 88,251 52% 45,891 
Total 7,545 414,032   262,567 
 
In 2008, a significant number of stand-alone air sealing work was performed and 
significant improvements in the implementation and QC of the measure have led staff to 
expect to see positive savings in this and subsequent years for the measure  
 
Other findings from the impact evaluation are the considerable impacts from interactive 
effects: 


• Decreased marginal savings as multiple measures are installed 
• Contractor influences: contractors specializing in HVAC yielded higher duct 


sealing savings per job, but installed, on average, far fewer measures per home 
than duct sealing performed by insulation-focused contractors 


 
In summary, gas savings are set to increase substantially for duct sealing, with an 
incremental bump in duct insulation. 2006-2007 air sealing gas savings will be zero. The 
increase in duct savings can potentially offset lower savings from other insulation 
measures, as duct work became a larger part of the program in 2008-2009. 
 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                         January 13, 2010                     


Discussion followed on the air sealing results: 
Concern was voiced on the evaluations showing no benefit from air sealing, several 
attendees indicated the lack of savings goes against common knowledge in building 
science. Brien explained that the current theory is that air sealing installed in these early 
years was ineffective, due to installation requirements that may have allowed duct 
sealing delta CFMs to be double counted when the measures were combined. Brent 
Barclay asked if this impact evaluation takes into account mechanical ventilation. Brien 
responded that at this time homes were not being sealed tight enough to require 
mechanical ventilation. 
  
It was also pointed out that the relative number of air sealing jobs is small compared to 
the overall program. It’s a minimal impact, 12,000 therms, but an impact.  
 
Paul Casey mentioned any system can be cheated, no system is infallible. There is no 
way for anyone to quality control the pre-testing CFM numbers and he agrees the air 
sealing results are contradictory to ENERGY STAR® and Home Performance.  
 
Paul talked about changing the process of trade allies submitting pre- and post-test CFM 
numbers on separate days, potentially changing the layout of the invoice and looking at 
the technique of air sealing and testing before making any decisions around the status of 
the measure.  
 
John Reynolds followed up, asking for clarification on whether this impact evaluation 
indicates air sealing will be removed as an available measure. Staff responded air 
sealing will not be removed as a measure, and indicated subsequent changes to the 
implementation of the measure are expected to result in savings from the measure. 
 
Fred responded that staff does not think this report is representative of 2008, and we will 
be going back to learn more (2008 had a lot more air sealing measures installed). The 
presentation was delivered now so council members are receiving the same information 
as program staff. 
 
Peter added this topic will start showing up in future CAC meetings and that it is 
incumbent on us to propose and bring more information forward, but as of now we are 
not changing any incentive payouts for this year. 
 
Jeremy Anderson asked how these numbers line up with Regional Technical Forum 
numbers. Current Energy Trust delta CFM numbers for duct sealing are about 30 
percent higher than RTF numbers for the region. Brien indicated actual savings 
estimates have been presented to the RTF for use in their SEEM modeling for electric 
duct sealing predicted savings. 
 
Brien confirmed a question from Holly Meyer that the next evaluation will explore the 
same three measures.  


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                         January 13, 2010                     


 
Discussion and clarification continued on multiple measures installed and the order in 
which they are installed having an effect on overall savings achieved. Peter said we’re 
talking about net savings, all the combinations of these measures. We need to be more 
accurate in our estimates to represent our claims correctly and stay responsible to the 
consumers (i.e. Clean Energy Works Portland). Factors to think about are savings and 
cost/therm; it may be smaller savings but the cost per therm will still be less when 
bundling measures. 
 
5. Utility strategic roundtable 
Peter announced a new forum for utility/Energy Trust discussion in response to the 
utilities’ expressed interest in communicating with the Energy Trust Board of Directors on 
a more even level for strategic discussions, such as IRP goals. The roundtables are 
open to the public and will start as a two-year trial.  
 
The first roundtable is on February 3 at 10 a.m. in the Energy Trust offices and will cover 
the upcoming legislative session; the recession and how Energy Trust will serve low- 
and moderate-income customers and collaborate with the utilities on serving those 
customers; and general questions on any new models of delivery. These roundtables 
are an opportunity for utilities to more directly operate with the board members, and 
council members are welcome to attend. 
 
6. Adjourn  
The meeting adjourned at 3:33 p.m. Next meeting is February 17, 2010.  
 
 
 


 








R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 12/22/2009Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 12/1/2009
Page 1 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Administration


 4,751,785  2,540,575  2,211,210Administration Total:


Communications & Outreach


 3,718,607  2,937,559  781,048Communications & Outreach Total:


Energy Efficiency Programs
Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Regional Energy Eff 


Initiative


 39,356,800  0  39,356,800 1/1/10 7/1/15Portland


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation  19,090,000  16,061,417  3,028,583 1/1/05 12/31/09Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


2009 Energy Star PMC  7,390,820  6,334,599  1,056,221 1/1/09 12/31/09Portland


Conservations Services Group, 


Inc.


2009 HES PMC  6,323,705  4,864,960  1,458,745 1/1/09 12/31/09Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


2009 NBE PMC  5,021,299  3,729,924  1,291,375 1/1/09 12/31/09Portland


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. PMC EB 2009  4,358,040  3,815,442  542,598 1/1/09 12/31/09Cherry Hill


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 2009  965,970  864,740  101,230 1/1/09 12/31/11Medford


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 2009  883,586  773,757  109,829 1/1/09 12/31/11Portland


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2009  665,508  589,387  76,121 1/1/09 12/31/11Walla Walla


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC-PE 2009 Small 


Industrial


 619,524  522,072  97,452 1/1/09 12/31/09Walla Walla


HST&V, LLC PDC-PE 2009 Ind. EE 


Initiative


 540,000  466,414  73,586 1/1/09 12/31/09Portland


NW Natural Industrial DSM Transfer 


Agrmt


 500,000  4,000  496,000 3/1/09 2/28/11Portland


Summit Blue Consulting, LLC 2008 PE Evaluation  495,000  289,998  205,002 10/22/08 7/30/10Boulder


Opinion Dynamics Corporation 2008 HES Impact 


Evaluation


 425,000  424,978  22 12/1/08 9/30/10Waltham


Green Motors Practices Group Green Motors Initiative  350,000  0  350,000 9/25/08 12/31/09Boise


Evergreen Consulting Group, 


LLC


Lighting PDC  337,831  294,683  43,148 1/1/09 12/31/09Tigard


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2009 Hitech 


Pilot


 293,880  213,831  80,049 1/1/09 12/31/11San Francisco


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2009  210,734  175,350  35,384 1/1/09 12/31/11San Francisco


J. Hruska Global HES QA services  170,000  162,610  7,390 1/1/08 12/31/09Columbia City


Resource Consultants So. OR Trade Ally 


Coordinator


 168,000  124,056  43,944 1/1/09 12/31/09Williams


City of Portland Bureau of 


Planning & Sustainability


BPS Grant Agreement  150,000  0  150,000 1/1/09 12/31/13Portland


Conservation Services Group 


Inc


2009 NWN WA PMC  146,700  8,461  138,239 10/1/09 9/30/10Westborough


Umpqua Community Action 


Network


Eff Refrigerator Replace 


Proj


 142,000  11,715  130,285 1/1/09 12/1/09Roseburg


Apogee Interactive, Inc. Internet Energy Audit 


provider


 139,334  180,173 -40,839 5/1/08 3/14/10


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer  137,500  60,228  77,272 8/15/03 8/15/10Portland


Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program  93,000  79,708  13,292 10/1/07 12/31/09Salem


Merit Service Center LLC Refrigerator Pilot - K 


Falls


 92,800  0  92,800 8/15/09 12/1/09Klamath Falls


Lockheed Martin Services Inc. NWN WA BE Pilot  72,000  0  72,000 10/1/09 9/30/10Portland


Walt Mintkeski PDC PE Waste water 


treatment


 65,000  49,963  15,037 1/1/09 12/31/09Portland


Ecos IQ, Inc. OR Performance Testing 


tax cr.


 49,500  27,270  22,230 3/10/09 12/31/09Portland


Dethman & Associates Path to Net-Zero Pilot  49,000  0  49,000 11/1/09 12/31/11Seattle


PMConsulting, Inc. EE Consultant Services  44,800  27,874  16,926 4/1/09 3/31/10Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Evaluate/Assess  ENH 


Program


 40,000  33,763  6,238 7/1/09 2/28/10Portland


1


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 12/22/2009Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 12/1/2009
Page 2 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Summit Blue Consulting, LLC Kaizen & CA Pilot  40,000  0  40,000 11/1/09 6/30/11Boulder


Research Into Action, Inc. Portland Clean Energy 


Pilot


 40,000  19,899  20,101 6/18/09 12/31/09Portland


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. NWN DSM Initiative  40,000  1,530  38,470 1/1/09 12/31/09Cherry Hill


Innovologie, LLC Segmentation Study 


Analysis


 36,000  32,734  3,266 5/8/09 12/31/09Rockville


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


Kaizen Blitz Pilot - 


Phase 2


 35,000  26,738  8,262 4/1/09 3/30/10Walla Walla


Stellar Processes, Inc. Prgm Modeling & Data 


Collect


 35,000  8,800  26,200 7/10/09 3/31/10Portland


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


Technical Service 


Provider


 33,603  0  33,603 8/1/09 7/31/12Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Evaluate SB 838 


Funded Activit


 30,000  21,375  8,626 6/1/09 12/31/09Portland


New Buildings Institute Customized Guide 


License


 25,000  25,000  0 8/28/09 8/31/10White Salmon


Global Energy Partners LLC Benchmarking 


Assessment


 25,000  12,478  12,522 10/15/09 1/31/10Walnut Creek


Michael Blasnick & Associated Air & Duct Sealing 


Impact Eval


 20,000  15,000  5,000 7/1/09 12/31/09Boston


Landerholm, Memovich, 


Lansverk & Whitesides P.S.


Legal Advice  20,000  12,181  7,819 5/30/07 12/31/10Vancouver


Delta-T, Inc. EE Consulting Services  20,000  1,467  18,533 3/1/09 12/31/09Goldendale


SAC Software Solutions, Inc. eQuest Quality Control  19,610  0  19,610 9/28/09 1/10/10


Northwest Energy Education 


Institute, Lane Community 


College


2009 Scholarship Grant  16,000  2,000  14,000 12/29/08 12/31/09Eugene


ICF Resources, LLC CHP Performance  15,000  0  15,000 8/5/09 7/31/10Fairfax


Stellar Processes, Inc. Dimmable LED kitchen 


cans


 10,000  6,707  3,293 3/1/08 12/31/09Portland


Stoel Rives, LLP Legal advice for pilot 


program


 10,000  1,554  8,446 4/28/09 12/31/09Portland


Klamath & Lake Community 


Action Services


Refrigerator Pilot - K 


Falls


 9,600  0  9,600 9/1/09 12/15/09Klamath Falls


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PECI Rooftop Unit Field 


Test


 5,521  5,521  0 8/4/09 1/31/10Portland


 89,872,665  40,384,360  49,488,305Energy Efficiency Programs Total:


Joint Programs
Blue Ocean Events LLC Better Living Show 2009 


& 2010


 173,400  110,500  62,900 12/15/08 12/15/10Tigard


Umpqua Bank Co-branding agreement  160,000  37,065  122,935 9/1/08 8/31/10Portland


Susan Badger-Jones trade ally development  135,000  99,888  35,112 11/10/07 12/31/09Joseph


Heschong, Mahone Group, Inc. Lighting Market 


Assessment


 100,000  79,565  20,435 5/15/09 1/1/10Fair Oaks


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services  99,767  50,167  49,600 1/1/06 12/31/09Portland


Summit Blue Consulting, LLC Planning services  83,215  63,061  20,154 9/15/08 9/14/10Boulder


HST&V, LLC Planning Services  81,800  68,925  12,875 1/1/06 12/31/09Portland


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services  65,060  57,445  7,615 4/19/07 12/31/09Fairfax


Research Into Action, Inc. Market Research & Eval 


Consult


 49,500  27,142  22,359 5/5/09 2/28/10Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Market Res/Eval 


Consultant


 45,000  45,000  0 3/2/09 11/30/09Portland


The Cadmus Group Inc. BE Lighting Measure 


Analysis


 35,000  15,185  19,815 9/20/09 6/3/10Watertown


Watkins and Associates, Inc. Residential solar values 


study


 26,100  13,475  12,625 9/1/08 12/31/09Portland


Dethman & Associates Corvallis Evaluation  24,000  16,951  7,049 3/23/09 12/31/09Seattle


Dethman & Associates Segmentation Study 


Analysis


 23,500  23,500  0 2/25/09 1/31/10Seattle


Lakin Garth P&E Analysis Consultant  20,000  17,100  2,900 1/1/09 12/31/09Portland


2


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 12/22/2009Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 12/1/2009
Page 3 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Matthew Taylor Evaluation Supoort 


Services


 20,000  4,980  15,020 9/1/09 8/31/10Portland


The Cadmus Group Inc. CBSA 2007 Analysis  20,000  4,525  15,475 9/1/09 8/31/10Watertown


Northwest Power & 


Conservation Council


End Use Data 


Assessment Study


 15,000  0  15,000 8/1/09 11/30/09


 1,176,342  734,474  441,868Joint Programs Total:


Renewable Energy Program
Warm Springs Biomass Project, 


LLC


Biomass project  5,000,000  0  5,000,000 9/28/07 4/28/29Warm Springs


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills East  4,500,000  1,243,490  3,256,511 9/20/06 1/31/10Portland


Sunway 2, LLC Prologis PV installation  3,405,000  1,062,131  2,342,870 9/30/08 9/30/28Portland


Rough & Ready Lumber 


Company


Biopower Funding 


Agreement


 1,685,088  519,278  1,165,810 7/21/06 7/21/26Cave Junction


Alder Solar LLC Habilitation Center PV  1,236,750  1,224,244  12,506 1/18/08 12/31/28Portland


Central Oregon Irrigation 


District


Juniper Ridge 


Hydroelectric


 1,000,000  0  1,000,000 10/31/08 6/30/31Redmond


Swalley Irrigation District Swalley irrigation hydro 


proj.


 895,609  0  895,609 5/15/08 5/15/28Bend


Stahlbush Island Farms, Inc. Funding Assistance 


Agreement


 827,000  275,667  551,333 6/24/09 6/24/29Corvallis


Tioga Solar VI, LLC Photovoltaic Project 


Agreement


 570,760  0  570,760 2/1/09 2/1/30San Mateo


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring  431,266  424,504  6,762 2/21/03 2/21/10Eugene


Commercial Solar Ventures, 


LLC


Portland Water Bureau 


PV


 333,583  0  333,583 10/22/08 9/30/29Portland


TSS Renewables, Inc. biopower services  148,832  113,449  35,383 4/1/08 3/31/10Rancho 


Cordova


Northwest Dairy Assocation LOA - Feasibility Studies  140,000  114,375  25,625 11/13/08 11/30/09Seattle


Oregon Dairy Farmers 


Association


Tech. Assist. & Fac. 


Services


 124,400  99,600  24,800 6/15/07 12/31/09Portland


Clean Power Research, LLC PowerClerk 


Subscription/Custom


 92,760  57,472  35,288 1/1/09 12/31/09Napa


Oregon State University 2009 Anemometer Loan 


Program


 86,000  42,994  43,006 1/31/09 1/31/10Corvallis


Resource Consultants USDA Grant Workshops  83,000  83,000  0 9/1/08 7/31/09Williams


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV  79,815  77,390  2,425 12/1/05 12/1/26Dayton


E. Edison Kennell Small wind technical 


assist.


 60,000  10,006  49,994 8/22/08 7/31/10Bend


Fir Mountain Wind Power LLC Community Wind 


Feasibility


 40,328  0  40,328 7/22/09 2/28/10Tigard


Solar Oregon Solar Energy Outreach  38,074  34,510  3,564 1/1/09 12/31/09Portland


Alan Cowan Consulting RE Consultant Services  37,000  20,528  16,473 5/1/09 12/31/09Portland


HST&V, LLC Regional Food Waste 


Study


 35,000  12,651  22,349 10/1/09 12/31/09Portland


Summit Blue Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services  35,000  31,410  3,590 5/6/09 12/31/10Boulder


Northwest SEED Wind Program Outreach  34,865  0  34,865 12/1/09 11/30/10Seattle


ABHT Structural Engineers Structural Pull Test  33,637  31,072  2,565 4/24/09 4/23/10Portland


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart 


Farms


17.5 kW PV project  32,500  31,386  1,114 5/25/07 5/25/27Malin


City of Bend Surface Water 


Feasibility Stdy


 30,000  0  30,000 7/14/09 12/31/09Bend


Pacific Foods of Oregon, Inc. Anaerobic Digester Feas 


Study


 30,000  0  30,000 10/6/09 2/28/10Tualatin


Eastern Oregon Power & Light 


Co.


Rock Creek hydro study  30,000  0  30,000 5/9/08 3/31/10Haines


South Coast Lumber Co. Lumber Mfg Feasibility 


Study


 27,750  0  27,750 7/20/09 4/15/10Brookings


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


Solar 4R Schools RE 


Education


 25,065  0  25,065 10/22/09 10/21/10Portland


Pueblo Valley Geothermal, LLC Geothermal Study 


Harney County


 25,000  0  25,000 10/28/09 6/30/10Klamath Falls


3


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 12/22/2009Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 12/1/2009
Page 4 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy 


system


 24,125  0  24,125 4/11/07 1/31/24Newberg


Earth By Design, Inc. N Unit Irrig Canal S Hwy 


26


 20,249  0  20,249 9/15/09 12/31/09Bend


Ecofys US, Inc. Interconnection 


Consulting


 20,000  9,734  10,266 5/5/09 12/31/09Corvallis


City of Dundee Anaerobic Digester 


Feasibility


 20,000  0  20,000 11/11/09 3/31/10Dundee


Earth By Design, Inc. N Unit Irrigation Canal 


#51


 19,775  0  19,775 9/15/09 12/31/09Bend


Glenn Montgomery Marketing & Comm 


Consultant


 18,920  14,680  4,240 3/1/09 2/28/10Portland


CIty of Pendleton Pendleton Feasibilty 


Study


 17,500  0  17,500 5/4/09 3/31/10Pendleton


Heard Farms Inc Biogas Feasibility Study  15,000  0  15,000 8/31/09 12/31/09Roseburg


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project  13,150  3,089  10,061 10/1/05 10/1/20Salem


Renewable Energy Solutions 


LLC


Wolfe Ranch 


Hydroelectric Stdy


 12,500  0  12,500 1/6/09 12/31/09Enterprise


Central Oregon Irrigation 


District


Interconnection 


Consulting Srv


 10,000  0  10,000 9/23/09 12/31/09Redmond


Southwestern Oregon Training 


Trust


PV Training Grant 


Agreement


 8,300  0  8,300 2/10/09 2/9/10North Bend


Builders Construction Services 


Inc


Anemometer Installation  7,000  0  7,000 11/17/09 12/31/09Touchet


David Bugni & Associates RE services  5,341  919  4,423 4/15/08 4/15/10Estacada


City of Gresham LOA - Gresham 


Microhydro


 5,000  0  5,000 2/9/09 12/31/09Gresham


Donald C. Coats Anemometer 


Refurbishment


 4,300  0  4,300 11/23/09 1/10/10


Renewable Energy Solutions 


LLC


Mt Joseph Hydroelectric 


Study


 2,500  0  2,500 1/6/09 12/31/09Enterprise


Renewable Energy Solutions 


LLC


Allen Cnyn Ditch 


Hydroelec St.


 2,250  1,200  1,050 1/6/09 12/31/09Enterprise


City of Klamath Falls Klamath Falls Proj 


Developer


 1,250  0  1,250 9/28/09 10/30/09Klamath Falls


 21,381,242  5,538,778  15,842,464Renewable Energy Program Total:


 120,900,641  52,135,747  68,764,894Grand Totals:


4


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.








 
Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Decision-Making Matrix 


 
Organizational area OPUC role Energy Trust Board 


role 
Committee role Executive director/staff role 


Board and organization     
• Organizational 


relationships: OPUC 
grant agreement, gas 
utility agreements , etc 


Co-establishes Co-establishes Reviews, as needed Participates and coordinates 


• Bylaws: board process, 
allocation of authority, 
committees, etc. 


Receives copies Establishes Reviews, as needed Develops and recommends 


• Performance measures Establishes Reviews and comments CAC, RAC are briefed Analyzes and advises in development 
stage; addresses in annual reports 


• Policies  Adopts Policy Committee 
develops/reviews 


Supports Policy Committee with agendas, 
background material, drafts, advisory 
council consultation 


• Board officers, new 
members 


 Approves Nominating Committee 
recommends 


Provides briefing materials and orientation 
 


• Selecting and reviewing 
Executive Director 


 Decides Executive Director Review 
Committee recommends 


Provides self review information and 
results 


• Liaison with OPUC, 
ODOE 


 Ex officio members  Strategic Planning 
Committee 


Ongoing coordination 


• Board meeting agendas  Chair approves  Drafts agendas, meeting materials 
• 5-year management 


review 
Receives Receives and approves Audit Committee oversees Supports selection of auditor, management 


of process, etc. 
Planning      
• 5-year strategic plan Comment on draft, 


receive final 
Approves CAC and RAC reviews Develops and proposes 


• 2-year action plan Comment on draft, 
receive final 


Approves CAC and RAC reviews Develops and proposes 


 Annual budget Comments on 
draft, receive final  


Approves Finance Committee reviews 
CAC and RAC consults 


Develops and proposes 


Programs and services     
• Program design Receives updates Receives updates CAC and RAC reviews Develops and communicates 
• Program management 


contracts 
 Approves CAC, RAC are briefed Develops RFPs, screens proposals, 


recommends contractor 
• Open solicitation R/E 


projects: 
   Develops RFPs, screens proposals 


< $50,000    Selects contractor 
$50,000-125,000  Approves/consent agenda RAC reviews Recommends contractor 
> $125,000  Approves/regular agenda RAC reviews Recommends contractor 


• QA/QC    Develops and implements 


Page 1 of 3           2/1/06; updated 1/26/2010 







 
Organizational area OPUC role Energy Trust Board 


role 
Committee role Executive director/staff role 


Evaluation  Reviews  Evaluation Committee 
oversees, CAC and RAC 
reviews 


Develops workplans, budgets and 
contracts 


Reports     
• Annual Receives Receives  Prepares and highlights 
• Quarterly Receives Receives  Prepares and highlights 


Finance     
• Financial audit Receives Receives Audit Committee oversees Supports 
• Internal control audit  Receives Audit Committee oversees Executive director and CFO certify controls 
• Monthly statements and 


quarterly dashboard 
 Receives Finance Committee approves Prepares 


Contracting    Legal department review  
   > $500,000 45-day notice of 


contracts > 2 yrs 
Approves basic terms  Negotiates; executive director or designee 


signs  
   < $500,000 or personnel  45-day notice of 


contracts > 2 yrs 
  Negotiates; executive director or designee 


signs 
Human Resources     
• Personnel policies    Staff prepares document; executive 


director approves  
• # of permanent FTEs  Approves via annual 


budgets 
 Determines FTE changes subject to board 


budget endorsement 
• Staff hiring/termination/salary  Approves total 


compensation package 
including benefit rate  


Compensation Committee 
reviews compensation 
structure for reasonableness 


Decides 


Page 2 of 3           2/1/06; updated 1/26/2010 







 
NON-DECISION BODIES 


 
Organizational area OPUC role Energy Trust Board 


role 
Committee/cooperators 


role 
Executive director/staff role 


• Strategic Utility Roundtable Via ex officio board 
seat 


Board members 
participate, President sets 
agenda, chairs meetings 


Policy committee consults Staffed by Executive Director, 
General Counsel 


• Board committees: 
o Finance  


 
 


 
Reviews financial issues, 
reports. 


 Staffed by CFO, Finance Dept. 


o Audit  Includes outside audit 
professional; oversees 
audits 


 Staffed by CFO, Finance Dept 


o Compensation  Comprised of board 
members; consults with 
executive director on 
compensation structure 
and benefits 


 Staffed by Executive Director, 
General Counsel, CFO 


o Policy   Comprised of board 
members; reviews all board 
policies and board agenda 
items not addressed by 
other committees 


 Staffed by General Counsel 


o Evaluation  Comprised of board 
members and two outside 
experts; oversees all 
energy program 
evaluations 


 Staffed by Planning and Evaluation 
Depts. 


o Strategic planning Participates Comprised of board 
members plus OPUC and 
ODOE representatives; 
coordinates issues of joint 
concern, oversees 
strategic plan 
development, board retreat 
agendas 


ODOE Staffed by Executive Director, 
General Counsel 


o Executive director 
evaluation 


 Comprised of board 
members 


  


o Nominating Consulted Comprised of board 
members to fill vacant 
board seats 


  


• Conservation Advisory 
Council 


Participates Attend at will Comprised of interest 
groups and stakeholders 


Staffed by Director and staff  


• Renewable Advisory Council Participates Attend at will Comprised of interest 
groups and stakeholders 


Staffed by Director and staff 


 


Page 3 of 3           2/1/06; updated 1/26/2010 








Meeting Notes 
Evaluation Committee 
 
January 15, 2010, 10:00 AM – 1:00 PM 


 


Attendees 
• Debbie Kitchin, Board Member and Committee Chair 
• Alan Meyer, Board Member 
• Dan Enloe, Board Member (by phone) 
• Ken Keating, Evaluation Expert 
• Maureen Quaid, Conservations Services Group (CSG) Program Manager 
• Paul Berkowitz, CSG Operations Manager 
• Peter West, Director of Energy Programs 
• Fred Gordon, Director of Planning and Evaluation 
• Steve Lacey, Director of Support Programs 
• Lauren Gage, Bonneville Power Administration Evaluation Manager 
• Amber Cole, Director of Communications and Customer Service 
• Diane Ferington, Residential Sector Lead 
• Phil Degens, Evaluation Manager 
• Matt Braman, Planning Project Manager 
• Brian Zoeller, Portland Energy Conservation (PECI) Program Manager 
• Julie VanDyne, PECI Program Manager  
• Jesse Holland, PECI Program Manager 
• Andrea Guillet, PECI Program Coordinator  
• Sarah Castor, Evaluation Project Manager 
• Brien Sipe, Evaluation Project Manager 
• Matthew Taylor, Evaluation Contractor 


 
Next meeting 


• February 26, 2010; 10am-1pm 
 
Topics covered 
1. Home Energy Solutions (HES) program 2007-2008 Process and 2007 Impact evaluation 
2. 2010 True-up inputs 
3. 2008-2009 Efficient New Homes program evaluation 
4. Fridge recycling program evaluation 
5. Evaluation of the evaluation committee 
 
1. Home Energy Solutions 2007-2008 Process and 2007 Impact evaluation 
Contractor: Process evaluation; Opinion Dynamics Corporation (ODC), Impact evaluation; 
Heschong Mahone Group (HMG). 
 
Sarah Castor presented the results from Energy Trust’s most recent residential evaluation. 
Project tasks were: 


• Review of program documents 
• Staff interviews 







Evaluation Committee Meeting Notes  January 15, 2010 


2 


• Surveys/interviews with participants, TAs 
• Market assessments for key measures 
• Assessment of processes 
• Engineering review of measures 
• Billing analysis 


 
Sarah mentioned that the engineering review of measures was not very productive due to the 
history of changes to predicted savings. Energy Trust’s ‘true-up’ process uses the best available 
information from evaluations to inform changes to predicted measure savings. Over many 
years, savings may have moved away from their engineering basis based on the findings in the 
field. 
 
Upon seeing slides outlining total sites participating by program in 2007-08, Debbie asked when 
the Home Performance program hit 1000 sites per year, as has been claimed by the program. 
Diane explained that many Home Performance jobs in 07-08 came through the single family 
program ‘track’ since the contractors did not use Home Check software to book the projects as 
Home Performance. Despite this, sites tended to be multiple measure jobs. Diane indicated that 
improvements to the Home Check software and program design have led to more projects 
going through the official Home Performance program. In addition, the program is mandating 
the use of the software to ensure comprehensive reports are presented to the consumer. 
 
Satisfaction was rated on a 0-10 scale; ratings of ‘very satisfied’ customers (8, 9, 10 for all but 
multifamily, 1-5 scale used for multifamily) were very high across the different program 
elements: 
 
Table 1: Satisfaction rates across residential program components 


% rating 8, 9, or 10 % rating 4 or 5  
 (on 0-10 scale)  (on 1-5 scale)  
Home Performance  93%  
Manufactured homes  92%  
Energy Saver Kits (ESK) 83%  
Home Energy Reviews  83%  
Single-family rebates  79%  
Multifamily (owners/managers)   86% 


 
Steve asked if there were specific comments from ‘dissatisfied’ customers of the Energy Saver 
Kit (ESK)1. Sarah indicated that the study did not ask follow-up questions on reason for 
dissatisfaction. Matt mentioned that some people will always be dissatisfied with flow rates of 
the showerheads/aerators. The study did record mentions of CFLs burning out in a short 
amount of time. Phil explained that this could be due to some people installing CFLs in 
inappropriate applications, such as recessed cans. 
 
Single family free ridership 
Heat pumps and gas furnaces had the highest free rider rates. There is some question about 
how accurate free-rider estimates can be when studies ask questions like: ‘would you have put 
in an efficient heat pump’ with the expectation that customers fully understand what an efficient 


                                                 
1 ESKs include combinations of CFLs, showerheads and aerators depending on household water heating 
fuel. These were offered only to Pacific Power customers as a means to reach outlying areas. 







Evaluation Committee Meeting Notes  January 15, 2010 


3 


unit is. Phil indicated that questions can only be so detailed when asking customers about 
specific efficiency levels. 
 
Alan asked if the difference in gas furnace free-ridership between the two years was statistically 
different (2008 numbers decreased). Sarah indicated it was, and anecdotal evidence from 
contractors indicated the economy was affecting the efficiency of units installed. 
 
Single family process findings: 


• Difficult, and unclear paperwork 
• Most participants were aware of Energy Trust’s website and half have visited the site 
• Most participants indicated contractors did not recommend additional measures 


 
Debbie mentioned the use of spiffs to encourage contractors to engage in contractor networking 
and to make additional recommendations and asked if there was a way to track this. Fred 
indicated we’ve tried this, and that collaboration is a niche. Diane discussed past use of 
bonuses to encourage bundling of measures, thus facilitating networking by contractors; this 
has been met with success in the past. Alan asked about the feasibility of implementing a 
finder’s fee. Diane said this has been tried in multi-family (paid as a spiff per unit served). 
 
Maureen raised some issues with spiff’s and taxes – in 2004, contractors would sometimes not 
want to collect the money due to complications with taxes. 
 
Single family recommendations 


• Simplify paperwork 
• Encourage contractors to recommend additional measures 
• Coordinate with and leverage tax credits 
• Implement a tiered trade ally list – based on QC rates, volume, guarantees about 


customer service such as filling out paperwork for customers 
 
Diane mentioned that the program will now be able to process incentives and tax credits on duct 
sealing, as CSG is approved to provide QA/QC for the state. 
 
Home Performance (HP) process findings 


• Average of 6 measures per site 
• Participants found Home Performance approach was valuable and they learned a lot 
• Energy Trust doesn’t provide much info on how Home Performance is different than 


Home Energy Review or regular incentives 
• HP contractors indicated 10-25% of their business is from Home Performance jobs 


 
Diane asked if the evaluator looked at the website before or after the revamp in September. 
Sarah indicated they looked at both and that the new website still does not provide as much 
information as it could. 
 
Home Performance recommendations 


• Consider and incentive for diagnostic testing 
• Improve and expand program info on the web 


 
Steve began a discussion of the diagnostic testing incentives. Diane mentioned that there is 
currently a nominal incentive for duct testing. In the upcoming year there is budget to provide 







Evaluation Committee Meeting Notes  January 15, 2010 


4 


testing incentives, but the incentive is contingent on the home going forward with measures, to 
discourage excessive test-only work. 
 
Maureen indicated that the program is seeking to move Home Performance contractors toward 
booking 50% of their work through the Home Performance track. Maureen indicated that if they 
want to be listed as a Home Performance contractor they must move toward this goal. Debbie 
expressed some concern over whether these goals are attainable if customers don’t sign up for 
this program in substantial numbers. 
 
Home Energy Review findings (HER) 


• Follow-through on HERs is consistent with prior findings. 
• Half of participants found out about HERs through the bill stuffers.  


o Sarah indicated that bill stuffers are a good method for ramping up/down volume. 
 
Home Energy Review Recommendations  


• Review and possibly improve training for auditors 
• Review the current leave behind, potentially look to include more information on: 


o Costs & priorities 
o Step by step guide on participating 
o List of resources 


 
Alan asked if there is a way for the HER auditor to initiate work on measures by helping to set 
up an appointment with a contractor. Sarah and Diane indicated there is a fine line to walk 
around identifying contractors. The program now has auditors leave their business card and 
offer help in following up on recommendations and program participation. 
 
Maureen suggested collecting emails and asked whether an email follow up would be helpful. 
Alan indicated this would be helpful. The group discussed email communications, as the agency 
does want to capture emails for simpler communication. Paul suggested that the email contain 
personal contact information to allow interaction between consumers and the program, for 
example to get a hold of HER auditor. 
 
Multifamily findings 


• Difficult paperwork, slow turnaround 
• Participants want more information on savings/incentives 


o Sarah brought up the question of how current jobs have been sold based on the 
little understanding of energy use in units prior to recent research 


• Bad experiences with contractors reflect back on Energy Trust, despite the fact that 
owners/managers are primarily working with their own contractors 


• 41% of participants were aware of others rebates/tax 
• Vast majority would participate again about 40% have plans for further energy upgrades 
• Two thirds have additional properties, many have significant numbers of properties 
• CFLs had the highest free rider rate 


o Ken mentioned that free rider rates for direct install measures may be too high, 
given that the products have been readily available in the market for years and 
managers/owners had not already installed them on their own. 


 
Multi-family Recommendations 


• Simplify paperwork 
• Review building assessor training – there were some comments about professionalism 







Evaluation Committee Meeting Notes  January 15, 2010 


5 


• Institute higher a level of QC for new trade allies or contractors who are not trade allies 
 
Steve asked about the tiering of contractors in multi-family as with the single family program. 
Diane indicated that given that the program has shifted to the commercial sector, existing 
buildings program staff will have to decide on this. Phil indicated that many owners have their 
own contractors who they already work with. More QC and training/outreach efforts to this group 
could be a means of improving program experiences and quality of installations.  
 
Debbie highlighted the competitiveness of the multifamily market, where many owners will 
select the least expensive contractor, but this can yield complaints. The market is cost driven, 
caution is needed, and more hoops – such as contractor training requirements – may just lead 
to a continuation of the status quo. 
 
Diane brought up bonuses for multiple measures as means to encourage use of Energy Trust 
trained contractors, since bonuses can only be collected when using trade allies. 
 
Manufactured homes findings 


• Primarily air and duct sealing measures, some direct installs of CFLs 
• FR rate is very, very low at 0.5% 
• Participants generally do not take other actions but are interested in finding ways to 


improve dwellings, especially upgrading HVAC systems 
• Contractors effectively marketed the program on their own 


 
ESKs process findings 


• Kits were requested by participants (Pacific Power only) 
• Installation rate of about 60% for all measures 
• 75% indicated the included action checklist was helpful, with many reporting taking small 


actions (changing how appliances were, turning off lights, caulking, etc.) 
• Estimated realization rate was about 40% but planning had already assumed a 50% 


rate, so the hit isn’t as great as it could be 
o We won’t apply the reduction for measures reportedly not received, as recall on a 


phone survey is imperfect and it is unlikely that some kits were missing some of 
the measures 


 
Fred emphasized that these savings are a substantial fraction of the residential program in 
2008. Ken indicated the install rate is not unexpected. Pacific Power did a pilot when CFLs were 
coming out, with planners having a hard time projecting what application the devices would be 
used for, with bulbs potentially not appropriate for all end uses. 
 
Market assessment findings 


• Gas furnaces – trade allies indicated incentives are influential, want to see the 
requirement increased to .95 AFUE. The group indicated this isn’t on the table. 


• Heat pumps – trade allies indicated new spec (HSPF 9.0) is too high, but it is in line with 
the tax credits, with the exception that RETC does require an EER spec that Energy 
Trust does not 


• Duct sealing – trade allies reported the incentive was influential but suggested that it 
might be reduced with little impact to volume 


• Insulation – no incentive changes needed 
• Windows – trade allies were ambivalent about the influence of incentives 


 







Evaluation Committee Meeting Notes  January 15, 2010 


6 


Other process findings/recommendations 
• Energy Trust could provide more training in outlying areas 
• Find more ways to encourage trade allies to complete paperwork 
• Work toward online forms for all measures 


o Phil mentioned the removal of requirement of account number on forms, we now 
just use the address to find the bills 


• Track and report outcomes from marketing efforts 
 
Trade allies suggested providing two weeks for comment and 90 days notice for policy and 
incentive changes. ODC suggested that it be obvious that emails or mailers contain program 
changes (to prevent people from tossing them before readings). Diane mentioned that the 
program will likely use 30 days, but if measures blow out budgets, changes need to be made 
quickly. However, 90 days will be given when possible. Solar uses a 10 day lead for incentive 
changes. Alan mentioned that 90 days is a good rule to adhere to for providing information to 
contractors.  
  
2007 Impact evaluation 
Sarah discussed the methods and approach used that caused some concern over the results. 
Due to some issues, Sarah indicated we will not be using the results from this study. HMG was 
asked not to conduct the 2008 impact evaluation, as had been planned. Instead, impact 
analysis will be conducted in-house with review by two experts in the field.  
 
Dan commented on past experiences on modeling. He suggested exploring finite element 
modeling approaches to retrofits and weatherization using diagnostic tools and asked if Energy 
Trust had considered these approaches. Phil mentioned that the modeling would be more of a 
front end estimate of savings. For the purpose of exploring realized savings in the field, 
evaluations use billing analysis, primarily due to the availability of the data. Dan noted that the 
billing analyses can lead to many puzzling results that cause uncertainty and discomfort around 
the efficacy of the estimates/techniques. Fred indicated that many labs conduct studies on small 
samples to do comprehensive work, but these are expensive. Phil noted that there are resource 
constraints on evaluation budgets for conducting thorough research. Iterative discussions, and 
comprehensive modeling, can quickly eat up budgets and lead to unanswered questions. 
 
Evaluation’s take on HES study 
Not much was recommended that wasn’t already, or in the process of being, implemented. Fred 
said this was partly due to recommendations being available to the program earlier in the year, 
as the contractor supplied interim memos for each program as the analysis was completed. 
 
2. Overview of select inputs for 2010 True-up 
Brien presented brief slides on three projects whose findings will be used to help inform the 
2010 True-up process. Each year, the agency uses the best available information to re-cast 
previous reportable savings, and adjusts predicted savings for future years. 
 
2006-2007 Single family existing homes gas savings 
Brien presented results from an in-house analysis of gas savings. This comes on the heels of 
the 2007 impact evaluation discussed above. The approach was similar to, and was informed 
by, work Michael Blasnik has conducted on the program. 
 
Key findings were: 


• No savings for air sealing in 2006-2007 







Evaluation Committee Meeting Notes  January 15, 2010 


7 


o Program design issues, rather than air sealing being ineffective, are likely the 
culprits for this finding. 


• Duct sealing and duct insulation estimates are higher than current working estimates 
• Insulation measures save much less than current working estimates 


 
Table 2: Combined 2006-2007 estimated therm savings in single family homes 
 Measure  Current FastTrack 


predicted therm saving 
2006-2007 therm 
impact estimates*  


2011 suggested working 
therm estimate  


Air sealing  26  0  TBD 
Duct sealing   21  59   59 
Gas furnace  71  82   TBD 
Windows  44  28   TBD 
Ceiling insulation**  95  62   62
Duct insulation**  12  16  37† 
Floor insulation**   89  41   41 
Wall insulation**   105  53   53 
*Savings estimates will be applied to 2008-2009 program years until those impact evaluations come in. 
** Savings are calculated at average square/linear feet of insulation installed in 2006-2007. 
† Suggested savings estimate going forward is from calculating duct insulation savings for 2007 only. The 
study found a significant increase in duct insulation savings in 2007 over those in 2006. This finding was 
corroborated by work conducted by Michael Blasnik on the 2006 and 2007 program years. 
 
Diane asked where the suggested working estimate for 2011 for Duct insulation came from – 
Brien explained that it comes from looking at duct insulation as a standalone measure, and 
examining changes between 2006 and 2007. 
 
Fred mentioned that these estimates are being included in this years’ true up because they 
didn’t want to leave the issue unaddressed for another year, changes can always be made 
down the road. 
 
Ken asked about what initial values of insulation were assumed in calculating savings, and it 
was explained the attribute was captured, but not included in the analysis. It was discussed that 
current predictions of wall insulation savings are higher than ceiling, due to the expectation that 
starting wall R-value is 0, while ceiling may be higher. 
 
Fred expressed that differences in savings come from differences in occupants, homes, and 
contractors; the thermodynamics and building science are well understood in ideal conditions. 
 
The differences in duct savings estimates are not due to different contractors (same big three 
doing the work): Fred suggests that this is because contractors are finding more applicable 
homes or they are getting better at installation. Findings in the study also noted a significant 
change in the pre-treatment usage between homes receiving duct insulation in 2006 compared 
to those in 2007. 
 
Peter asked what the blanks in recommended estimates for gas furnace and windows implied 
(TBD in table 2). Staff responded that given the end of the gas furnace measure, no changes to 
the savings are recommended, as they would also require investigation of baseline efficiency.  
For windows, the savings estimate represents ‘replacement’ savings (28 therms), which was 
found to be considerably lower than Energy Trust’s current predicted ‘incremental’ savings of 44 







Evaluation Committee Meeting Notes  January 15, 2010 


8 


therms.  Given a current baseline U-value of 0.35 and incentive requirements of 0.30, actual 
incremental savings are likely to be less than 10 therms. 
 
Fred asked if the impact estimates for these measures was meaningful; Brien replied that they 
were consistent with other findings, after noting that there were some issues with incremental 
versus replacement savings and the need to quantify non-energy benefits in the future. 
 
Diane noted that the program has reduced their floor insulation incentive in response to results 
from this study and prior analyses by Michael Blasnik. 
 
Debbie emphasized the need for a more thorough explanation of the use of one set of estimates 
over another. Transparency in the selection of predicted savings is key for encouraging 
confidence in the methodologies employed. 
 
Multifamily engineering review of savings 
Stellar Processes recently conducted a review of project savings, including billing analysis, as a 
result of earlier studies on the Multi-family program (2003-2007). Low realization rates (22% for 
electric space heating measures, and 48% for gas space heating) were consistent with prior 
findings. The program will move toward a savings calculation based on the study findings. 
 
It was asked why the realization rates were so low – Fred noted that it was because heating 
consumption was assumed to be much higher than it actually is. Matt commented that the 
savings are there: the estimates were off so the realization rates are low, but projects are still 
saving 10-30% of space heating load, with many projects approaching savings of 50%. 
 
The study also indicated that there is uncertainty around ‘base-load’ saving measures (CFLs, 
aerators/showerheads, water heaters, etc.) and shifting significant resources to these measures 
will not necessarily be a viable strategy to contains costs. 
 
In line with single family findings, these results point to the need to examine why customers 
invest in measures such as windows. Quantifying non-energy benefits may be the only way to 
maintain some measures’ cost effectiveness. 
 
2006-2007 Existing Building Lighting Site Visits 
In the last commercial program evaluation, a discrepancy was noted between lighting savings 
estimated though billing analysis versus site visits. Energy Trust recently conducted another 40 
site visits (in which lighting loggers were installed at 22 of the sites) of 2006-2007 sites receiving 
lighting measures only that showed low realization rates from billing analysis. The resulting 
estimated realization rates for the study were in line with site visit data from the original impact 
evaluation. Energy Trust will update the savings estimate and feed the new data into the true-
up. 
 
Maureen noted that billing analysis doesn’t work as well for commercial buildings because of 
more diverse uses of energy. The group discussed past success in commercial modeling by 
select individuals (Ken Train) who are no longer active in the field. Ken noted that the 
heterogeneity of the buildings also introduces differences in interactions between building 
characteristics. 
 
Because we can’t trust the billing analysis, and commercial lighting is a big piece of the pie, Phil 
doesn’t want to true up based on billing analysis for the commercial sector. 
 







Evaluation Committee Meeting Notes  January 15, 2010 


9 


Lauren noted that Bonneville Power Administration has observed similar discrepancies between 
their realization rates using billing analysis and site visits.  
 
Ken noted that realization rates from the last metered evaluation at Bonneville were similar to 
those found by Energy Trust (99%) and this was likely because of the way incentives were 
structured. By incentivizing based on fixture cost, not savings, there was less incentive by any 
program actors to exaggerate the hours of operation. 
 
Future impact approaches for industrial and commercial sectors will rely solely on site visits to 
ascertain savings. 
 
3. New Homes program evaluation 
Contractor: Research into Action and Stellar Processes 
 
The evaluation involved staff interviews; interviews or surveys with site-built home builders, 
manufactured home retailers and manufacturers; an assessment of processes, communications 
and the Energy Performance Score (EPS) for new homes; and an engineering review of savings 
estimates. 
 
In mid 2008, Oregon building energy code for new homes increased, and the program moved 
from providing incentives only for ENERGY STAR new homes, to providing incentives for any 
measures above code. For this, the program models homes using REM/Rate software, 
comparing energy use as built to use if the same home was built to code. Incentives are 
provided on the difference and an EPS is awarded. 
 
The engineering review examined 55 homes that were examined that received an EPS. The 
goal was to determine is the new method is encouraging the use of new technologies or more 
efficient homes. The evaluation found that ENERGY STAR homes still dominate the program, 
and on average, participating homes use 82% of the energy of (or, 18% less energy than) a 
code home. 
 
Debbie asked about the timing of the program changes and evaluation, and whether some of 
these homes were grandfathered in under the old code. Sarah indicated that only homes 
coming in under the new code and program incentives were investigated in this study. 
 
The envelope path (which includes upgraded insulation, duct and air sealing) was the most 
popular way that homes earned incentives. Phil indicated builders prefer the prescriptive path, 
rather than compiling their own combinations of measures. 
 
The evaluation raised the question of whether a ducted system is the appropriate base case for 
heating systems like radiant floors or ductless heat pumps. The committee felt comfortable that 
this was the appropriate base case. The report also identified the SEEM model developed by 
the Regional Technical Forum as an alternative to REM/Rate. However, from Evaluation’s 
perspective, SEEM has its own quirks and changing software would be costly in terms of time 
and effort. Ken noted that no modeling software is perfect and modeling cannot always 
accurately account for occupant behavior.  
 
The process evaluation portion of the report was divided into site-built and manufactured 
homes. ENERGY STAR market penetration for site-built homes was estimated at 12% in 2008. 
Fred noted that this is impressive given the dramatic increase in the ENERGY STAR specs after 
the code change.  







Evaluation Committee Meeting Notes  January 15, 2010 


10 


 
Builders were very satisfied with the program, and felt communication was good. All builders 
indicated they would participate in the future. The evaluation also found that builders do not 
speak the language of the program, and are not familiar with builder option packages, or why 
they received a particular level of incentives. Builders deferred to what the builder outreach 
specialist told them to do on the home. 
 
There was limited familiarity with the EPS, and builder interviews indicated that it would take 3 
to 5 years to be influential in the marketplace. Some builders have not yet used the EPS to 
market their homes, but they were optimistic about its potential. 
 
Small, custom builders indicated they were interested in building increasingly efficient homes, 
while larger builders are interested in controlling costs. Large builders indicate that awareness 
of energy efficiency is very low among their customers (or potential home buyers). 
 
Dan commented that the use of acronyms in the program language can be confusing, and that 
we should make sure to spell out terms.  
 
Peter West indicated the program is focusing on creating demand and consumer awareness in 
2010. The budget creation process was informed by these early results. 
 
Brian Zoeller noted that the program has been trying to target only new home buyers, mostly 
through home tours, because the EPS for existing homes is still under development and they 
want to avoid confusion for buyers. When the existing home EPS is ready, they will target 
buyers more broadly. 
 
Recommendations from the evaluator were to increase the transparency of incentives and 
builder option packages; improve coordination between incentives and the state high 
performance tax credit, and increase buyer familiarity with the EPS. 
 
Dan would like to see more development in energy efficient mortgages, since operating costs 
for efficient homes are lower. Fred noted that attempts to push energy efficient mortgages are 
happening at the federal level (and have been for a couple of decades), but we are too small to 
affect much. Ken mentioned that Bonneville’s experiment with mortgages resulted in only two 
home mortgages. 
 
Brian indicated that the program is hiring a financial steward and assigning an outreach 
specialist to focus on lower income populations. 
 
In findings for manufactured homes, there is a high – but difficult to estimate – penetration of 
ENERGY STAR homes. Retailers report they are successful in up-selling energy efficiency 50% 
of the time, and that customers are interested in energy efficiency in general, not specific 
features. 
 
Retailers would like to be able to present customers with more collateral on energy efficiency, 
appliances, and tax credits. 
 
Alan asked if the incentive is paid on where the homes are built or sited. The incentive is only 
paid on homes sited in Energy Trust territory, but Julie noted that Oregon is a net exporter of 
manufactured homes and most of the homes sited here are built here. 
 







Evaluation Committee Meeting Notes  January 15, 2010 


11 


Retailers indicated the incentive led them to promote more efficiency that they would have 
otherwise. The program allows the incentive to go to the retailer (company) or to the 
salesperson, and retailers reported a variety of ways the salespeople are compensated. 
Satisfaction with coop marketing is high, but more retailers would like to participate. We are 
limited in budget for coop marketing. 
 
The retailers were presented with the idea of a tiered incentive (ENERGY STAR as the base 
and another higher tier), but there were mixed reviews for this, which may be due to limited 
knowledge of other labels among retailers. 
 
Manufacturers were asked if an incentive to them would encourage them to build more efficient 
homes; they indicated it would, but specific dollar amounts were not discussed. They also said 
they could track where homes are sited for incentive purposes. Fred noted that we may have to 
take a more upstream approach as the market transforms and ENERGY STAR becomes 
baseline. For now, there are no plans to give incentives to manufacturers. 
 
Recommendations were to potentially expand coop advertising, and investigate and build 
awareness of other labels. 
 
Evaluation feels the program is operating well and a 3-5 year timeline is realistic for the EPS. 
The program should increase builder knowledge of incentive structure, but there is no need to 
move away from REM/Rate. 
 
4. Refrigerator recycling evaluation 
Contractor: Innovologie 
 
The evaluation included a review of documents, measure databases (Fast Track and JACO’s), 
staff and implementer interviews, and assessment of program processes. Alan asked what the 
geographic range of the program was, and Sarah reported that all of PGE and Pacific Power 
territory is included, with pick-ups scheduled strategically. 
 
Unit characteristics from the database review: 


• Most pick-ups are of single units 
• About 60% of fridges and 86% of freezers are more than 20 years old 


 
Based on other metered studies of unit consumption, the program savings for the first year are 
estimated at between 7.2 and 11.5 GWh (low end based on at-manufacture usage and high end 
based on degraded usage). Ken asked if they used the California standard of metering, Phil and 
Sarah indicated they did not meter, but used study findings from California to estimate. Ken 
indicated that on-site metered savings can be very different from lab-metered savings due to 
fridge loads and other factors. Phil said that ADM on-site metering study numbers were used. 
 
Dan asked if the pick-ups could have used kilowatt meters on-site to measure consumption. 
Sarah indicated that the program is not interested in estimating savings, since other studies 
have been very consistent. 
 
Unit characteristics, continued: 


• About half of units are primary and half are secondary  







Evaluation Committee Meeting Notes  January 15, 2010 


12 


• There was a large reduction in 2009 in units labeled ‘not in use’.  
This appears to be a result of how drivers categorized units, resulting in an increase in 
fridges labeled secondary and freezers labeled primary.  


• There was a decline in the percent of removed units being replaced in 2009, although 
three quarters of replacements were new units. 


 
Participant characteristics: 


• Most are homeowners who have been in their homes long term, typically empty-nesters 
• After participating, 35% of fridge participants still had more than one fridge, 55% of 


freezer participants had 1 or more freezers.  
 
Participant surveys indicated customers feel the program may be too good to be true, since the 
pick-up is free and they also receive $30. Bill inserts and retailers were how most participants 
found out about the program. Convenience and incentives are the top reasons for participating, 
and bill savings were only a reason for 4% of customers, even though 60% knew that the unit 
could cost them up to $200 per year to operate. 
 
The participant survey indicated that half of units would have been scrapped and half would 
have remained on the grid for an unknown amount of time. Ken noted that where units would 
have ended up in absence of the program is difficult to determine. 
 
More than three quarters of participants signed up by phone, and the use of online sign-up 
decreased from 2008 to 2009. Both phone and web sign-up processes are efficient. 
 
The report noted that the lack of normalized addresses provided to JACO created a significant 
amount of work during sign-up and incentive processing. Energy Trust should provide 
normalized addresses to JACO, with utility customer names when possible (name would require 
a new data sharing agreement with PGE). Some data on refrigerators was missing due to 
difficulty reading labels on units. 
 
The database review found that 9% of program units were picked up by Sears through Energy 
Trust and JACO’s arrangement with the retailer. Committee members asked what percent of 
fridges are sold through Sears and Julie indicated about 30-40%. 
 
Phil mentioned that partnering with retailers offers cost savings for us, because JACO can 
collect many units at one pick-up from the Sears warehouse. Julie said that the program is 
approaching other retailers about the program and hope to get more to participate. 
 
Satisfaction with the program is very high: 97% of participants reported being “satisfied” or “very 
satisfied” with overall program experience and 100% would participate again. Most participants 
had all their questions about the program answered by the time they participated. They also 
reported that the scheduling and pick-up processes worked well. Some indicated they did not 
receive the call 30 minutes before pickup, although almost all received a confirmation call 24-48 
hours in advance.  
 
Eighty one percent of respondents would have participated without the incentive. 
 
Recommendations from the evaluator were to: 


• Try to increase removal of secondary units (marketing through bill inserts in likely to 
reach these households) 







Evaluation Committee Meeting Notes  January 15, 2010 


13 


• Stress convenience of participation 
• Provide more information to customers on what the agency gets from the program 


(energy savings), and what the participant gets (utility bill savings) 
• Continue working with Sears and expand to work with other retailers 
• Implement real-time feedback mechanism (participant survey) for satisfaction questions 
• Have program staff visit the JACO call center to emphasize why the program needs the 


data it does and see how call center staff gather information 
 
Phil mentioned that marketing through bill inserts could be done geographically, with the 
program sending in a truck and capturing all units in that area.  
 
Pete asked whether the evaluation provides support for other appliance turn-in programs, such 
as for TVs. JACO does recycle AC units outside the program. Fred indicated some thought has 
gone into a program for TVs, and the process could be effective, but there may not be enough 
savings, especially with customers upgrading to larger TVs and plasma units.  
 
Evaluation staff feels the program is working very well. The program is flexible and able to be 
ramped up when needed. Fast feedback surveys will be used for this program, beginning this 
quarter. It may be worth investigating whether there are certain geographic areas or 
demographic groups that have low participation and their potential for savings.  
 
Peter noted that promotional space bill insert requires a long lead time, despite its effectiveness.  
 
A committee member asked if savings would be revisited, given the age of recycled units; 
planning staff said they would take another look at the measure life for savings.  


  
 
5. Evaluation committee evaluation  
Evaluation staff asked how the current committee format works for members.  
 
Debbie suggested sending out meeting material sooner, due to the volume and length of some 
studies. Two weeks to a month would be the ideal scenario. Alan seconded, noting that there 
isn’t enough time to read all the studies, but ensuring executive summaries are available is key.  
 
Phil indicated that there is some drive to move evaluations away from high level process 
overviews. This has been spurred by many consistent recommendations (higher incentives, 
simplify paperwork). Projects could key in more closely on program infrastructure questions. 
Feedback from program managers with repeated recommendations may not be that useful. 
Debbie indicated program managers may need to hear these recommendations continually, as 
programs may have the room to improve with regard to satisfaction. Fred indicated that some 
people will always be dissatisfied (e.g., many parties dislike forms, etc.). 
 
Phil asked if it’s ok to present major findings and highlights than go over study methodologies in 
detail. Alan indicated current level of detail is good, and that the committee can delve into detail 
when needed.  
 
Dan will email his feedback. Ken indicated that any changes to the committee process should 
be up to board members. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 12:55. Next meeting is scheduled for February 26, 2010, 10am-1pm. 








The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET


November 30, 2009
(Unaudited)


NOV OCT DEC Change from Change from
2009 2009 2008 Prior Month Beg. of Year


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents 64,306,894 64,154,550 51,901,589 152,344 12,405,305
  Restricted Cash (Escrow Funds) 10,764,722 10,760,283 10,128,530 4,439 636,192
  Investments 0 1,567,138 9,827,698 (1,567,138) (9,827,698)
  Restricted Investments (Escrow Funds) 0 0 1,049,537 0 (1,049,537)
  Receivables 169,427 169,860 324,410 (432) (154,983)
  Prepaid Expenses 203,299 149,742 193,832 53,557 9,467
  Advances to Vendors 332,609 631,150 784,287 (298,542) (451,678)


----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
   Total Current Assets 75,776,951 77,432,723 74,209,882 (1,655,772) 1,567,069


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 128,647 128,647 70,795 0 57,852
  Computer Hardware and Software 983,975 983,975 907,867 0 76,108
  Leasehold Improvements 22,382 22,382 22,382 0 0
  Office Equipment and Furniture 127,354 127,354 49,192 0 78,162


----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,262,358 1,262,358 1,050,236 0 212,123
  Less Depreciation (980,061) (970,414) (891,800) (9,646) (88,260)


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 282,298 291,944 158,435 (9,646) 123,862


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 26,000 26,000 26,000 0 0
  Deferred Compensation Asset 115,877 111,303 68,954 4,574 46,922


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Other Assets 141,877 137,303 94,954 4,574 46,922


----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
     Total Assets 76,201,125 77,861,970 74,463,272 (1,660,845) 1,737,853


============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 6,186,513 5,721,186 10,169,809 465,327 (3,983,297)
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 396,500 397,807 340,284 (1,308) 56,216


----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 6,583,013 6,118,993 10,510,093 464,019 (3,927,080)


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 108,070 111,230 142,828 (3,160) (34,758)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 115,877 111,303 68,954 4,574 46,922
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 2,310 2,310 3,810 0 (1,500)


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 226,257 224,843 215,593 1,414 10,664


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities 6,809,269 6,343,836 10,725,686 465,433 (3,916,417)


Net Assets
  Current Yr Inc/ Dec Unrestricted Net Assets 6,067,613 8,198,331 5,036,929 (2,130,718) 1,030,684
  Escrow 10,764,722 10,760,283 11,178,067 4,439 (413,344)
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 52,559,520 52,559,520 47,522,591 0 5,036,929


----------------------------------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------------------
     Total Net Assets 69,391,855 71,518,134 63,737,587 (2,126,278) 5,654,270


----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 76,201,125 77,861,970 74,463,272 (1,660,845) 1,737,853


============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


BS-Acct-YTD-001







 January February March April May June July August September October November Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 4,355,649$   4,518,801$   1,176,027$   277,806$     1,743,224$   (318,204)$    (1,774,608)$ (359,719)$    (418,763)$    (1,419,665)$ (2,126,278)$ 5,654,270$      


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 6,298           6,298           6,238           7,242           7,241           8,077           7,990           10,096         9,489           9,646           9,647           88,261            
Deferred Rent Amortization (3,160)          (3,160)          (3,160)          (3,160)          (3,160)          (3,160)          (3,160)          (3,160)          (3,160)          (3,160)          (3,160)          (34,759)           


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable 88               3,836           1,895           2,083           23               -              -              -              -              -              -              7,925              
Other Receivables 6,343           12,320         75,136         (10,155)        (8,090)          77,067         (5,468)          (59,479)        20,885         38,065         433             147,057          
Advances to Vendors 282,451       282,785       (597,244)      354,448       272,098       (625,516)      216,121       271,754       (568,236)      264,475       298,541       451,678          
Other Assets (27,704)        (40,352)        111,201       27,757         (57,618)        369             (11,637)        (11,333)        7,384           3,675           (58,131)        (56,389)           
A/P - Program Subcontracts (694,548)      1,532,549     (614,467)      781,724       95,020         742,038       (939,289)      (24,685)        709,339       (207,567)      (2,626,189)   (1,246,076)      
A/P - Incentives (5,646,696)   -              277,878       1,111,383     (1,389,260)   (0)                -              -              -              (130,854)      2,957,734     (2,819,814)      
A/P - Professional Services (6,945)          28,538         (11,992)        20,666         (26,772)        7,520           210             4,129           14,932         (25,156)        (4,628)          502                 
A/P - Operations 109,544       (98,281)        (20,099)        28,535         13,158         (15,452)        (77,011)        41,594         (22,874)        (15,433)        138,409       82,089            
Payroll and related accruals 18,453         20,569         22,141         16,776         4,411           16,483         (7,957)          (1,385)          1,272           9,109           3,267           103,138          
Other liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 365             150             493             (2,408)          (1,400)             


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies (1,600,228)   6,263,904     423,554       2,615,106     650,275       (110,414)      (2,594,659)   (131,696)      (252,141)      (1,476,865)   (1,410,355)   2,376,483        


Investing Activites:


(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets (45,600)        (14,450)        (37,735)        (10,511)        (90,859)        (3,504)          (9,463)          (212,122)         
Cash used in Investing Activities -              -              (45,600)        -              (14,450)        (37,735)        (10,511)        (90,859)        (3,504)          (9,463)          -              (212,122)         


Cash at beginning of Period 72,907,353   71,307,125   77,571,029   77,948,984   80,564,090   81,199,915   81,051,766   78,446,596   78,223,942   77,968,298   76,481,970   72,907,353      


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash (1,600,228)   6,263,904     377,954       2,615,106     635,825       (148,149)      (2,605,170)   (222,555)      (255,645)      (1,486,328)   (1,410,355)   2,164,361        


Cash at end of period 71,307,125$ 77,571,029$ 77,948,984$ 80,564,090$ 81,199,915$ 81,051,766$ 78,446,596$ 78,224,041$ 77,968,298$ 76,481,970$ 75,071,616$ 75,071,714$    


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2009







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2009 - December 2010
Basis:  2009 Forecast & 2010 Proj


Forecast 
2009-F-06.1


2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009
January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose and Incremental fundin 8,322,843     10,189,359   9,045,218     8,490,204     7,681,619     6,549,574     5,862,392     6,334,218     7,011,196       6,749,412     6,310,044      8,099,469         


  Self Direct Repayments -               -   73,179         -              73,179         -              -              -                -              0                  -                   


  Investment Income 84,838         68,230         55,299         35,075         32,304         47,058         52,141         54,425         45,829           41,833         37,329           19,464              


Total cash in 8,407,681     10,257,589   9,173,696     8,525,279     7,713,923     6,669,811     5,914,533     6,388,643     7,057,025       6,791,245     6,347,373      8,118,932         


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 2,551,757     601,599       3,840,296     1,670,064     1,921,283     2,511,563     2,998,682     2,121,994     2,254,667       2,696,292     4,775,029      3,040,638         


    Incentives 6,444,946     2,294,997     3,586,122     3,129,778     3,717,335     3,174,365     4,296,310     3,256,218     3,861,826       4,528,355     1,815,900      24,448,748        


    Salaries and related expense 448,322       477,532       470,802       492,052       482,543       480,085       495,006       487,055       496,003         480,183       512,219         638,348            


    Professional services 515,429       353,492       802,567       566,752       788,912       499,011       530,289       573,992       521,662         432,842       611,796         607,168            


    General operating expenses 47,454         266,065       95,954         51,525         168,024       152,936       199,418       171,939       178,511         139,901       42,784           128,009            


Total cash out 10,007,908   3,993,685     8,795,741     5,910,171     7,078,096     6,817,960     8,519,705     6,611,198     7,312,670       8,277,573     7,757,728      28,862,910        


Net cash flow for the month (1,600,228)    6,263,904     377,955       2,615,108     635,826       (148,149)      (2,605,172)    (222,555)      (255,645)        (1,486,328)    (1,410,355)     (20,743,978)      


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 72,907,353   71,307,125   77,571,029   77,948,984   80,564,091   81,199,918   81,051,767   78,446,595   78,223,940     77,968,296   76,481,968     75,071,618        


Ending cash & MM 71,307,125   77,571,029   77,948,984   80,564,091   81,199,918   81,051,767   78,446,595   78,224,040   77,968,296     76,481,968   75,071,618     54,327,640        


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 11,178,067   11,189,289   11,198,674   11,776,842 10,831,550 10,805,208 10,810,050 10,815,695 10,821,822    10,826,934 10,760,283   10,764,722      


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding -                  -                  570,760       (951,102)      (30,086)        -                  -                  -                  -                    (71,366)        -                   (9,430,506)        


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 11,222         9,385           7,408           5,810           3,745           4,842           5,645           6,127           5,112             4,716           4,439            6,729               
Ending Escrow Balance1


11,189,289   11,198,674   11,776,842   10,831,550   10,805,208   10,810,050   10,815,695   10,821,822   10,826,934     10,760,283   10,764,722     1,340,945         
1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Actual







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2009 - December 20
Basis:  2009 Forecast & 2010


Cash In:


  Public purpose and Incremental fund


  Self Direct Repayments


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances
Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Projection 2010-B-02.2
2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010


January February March April May June July August September October November December


14,221,240   16,237,037   14,508,264   13,761,355   12,162,419   10,733,130   10,406,898   10,900,731   10,899,152     10,406,096   10,601,406     12,033,906    


-                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                    -                  -                   -                   


12,611         10,989         12,002         12,019         11,833         11,529         10,431         9,692           9,237             7,770           6,152            3,707            


14,233,852   16,248,026   14,520,266   13,773,375   12,174,252   10,744,658   10,417,329   10,910,422   10,908,389     10,413,866   10,607,557     12,037,613    


2,660,602     3,380,015     3,431,940     2,612,914     2,664,029     3,546,099     2,679,377     2,710,046     3,487,374       2,761,022     2,785,906      3,520,064      


13,682,664   3,059,830     4,440,862     4,621,155     8,717,862     6,970,659     7,473,961     5,125,737     5,986,254       9,491,097     10,064,415     18,870,501    


642,664       642,664       643,463       643,463       643,463       643,463       643,463       643,463       643,463         643,463       643,463         643,463        


3,294,475     954,469       954,519       996,494       1,027,956     1,027,996     1,084,921     1,032,947     1,032,987       1,074,862     1,101,758      1,101,798      


740,421       203,832       185,732       185,407       186,545       197,189       200,625       179,163       205,303         189,577       190,338         204,229        


21,020,826   8,240,811     9,656,518     9,059,434     13,239,856   12,385,406   12,082,347   9,691,357     11,355,381     14,160,021   14,785,880     24,340,055    


(6,786,974)    8,007,215     4,863,749     4,713,940     (1,065,604)    (1,640,748)    (1,665,018)    1,219,065     (446,992)        (3,746,156)    (4,178,323)     (12,302,442)   


54,327,640   47,540,665   55,547,880   60,411,629   65,125,569   64,059,965   62,419,217   60,754,199   61,973,264     61,526,272   57,780,116     53,601,793    


47,540,665   55,547,880   60,411,629   65,125,569   64,059,965   62,419,217   60,754,199   61,973,264   61,526,272     57,780,116   53,601,793     41,299,351    


1,340,945     1,347,678     1,354,416     1,361,158   1,235,863   1,242,531   1,249,203   1,123,838   1,130,436      1,137,038   1,011,603    1,018,131    


-                  -                  -                  (132,000)      -                  -                  (132,000)      -                  -                    (132,000)      -                   -                   


6,734           6,738           6,742           6,705           6,668           6,672           6,635           6,598           6,602             6,565           6,528            6,532            


1,347,678     1,354,416     1,361,158     1,235,863     1,242,531     1,249,203     1,123,838     1,130,436     1,137,038       1,011,603     1,018,131      1,024,662      







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Eleven Months Ending November 30, 2009
(Unaudited)


November YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Contributions Received Directly 0 0 0 710 710 0


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,591,885 3,327,518 (735,633) 31,798,405 34,156,429 (2,358,024)


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,570,574 1,723,838 (153,263) 19,610,871 20,102,678 (491,806)


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 416,572 304,841 111,731 9,017,821 8,996,030 21,791


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 78,599 66,386 12,213 902,537 894,822 7,715
----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 4,657,631 5,422,582 (764,952) 61,330,345 64,150,669 (2,820,324)


Incremental Funds - PGE 987,794 1,107,489 (119,695) 12,608,523 12,886,879 (278,356)


Incremental Funds - PacifiCorp 589,619 648,401 (58,782) 7,513,273 7,835,188 (321,915)


Incremental Funds - NW Natural 75,000 75,000 0 675,000 675,000 0


NW Natural - Washington 0 66,667 (66,667) 407,500 133,333 274,167


Consumer Owned Electric 0 0 0 11,437 17,437 (6,000)


Revenue from Investments 37,329 23,995 13,335 546,434 458,165 88,269
----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 6,347,373 7,344,134 (996,761) 83,092,512 86,156,671 (3,064,159)
============== ============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 2,447,814 2,965,417 517,603 27,148,127 28,983,750 1,835,622


Incentives 4,773,634 8,949,638 4,176,004 37,286,336 51,159,410 13,873,074


Salaries and Related Expenses 515,486 595,158 79,672 5,424,942 5,887,463 462,521


Professional Services 607,168 922,755 315,587 6,197,245 8,520,796 2,323,551


Supplies 2,995 6,125 3,130 47,991 53,396 5,405


Telephone 3,592 7,275 3,683 44,356 66,564 22,208


Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,153 6,158 5,004 14,573 38,742 24,169


Occupancy Expenses 31,647 31,169 (477) 318,282 346,010 27,728


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depr. 21,948 48,006 26,057 332,230 402,495 70,265


Call Center 12,325 19,378 7,053 138,892 149,764 10,871


Printing and Publications 8,840 29,926 21,086 112,389 217,814 105,425


Travel 8,307 28,181 19,874 78,332 173,391 95,059


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp 20,589 41,601 21,013 148,627 308,410 159,783


Insurance 7,273 6,587 (686) 81,198 77,433 (3,766)


Miscellaneous Expenses 141 348 207 3,893 4,141 249


Dues, Licenses and Fees 10,740 6,068 (4,671) 60,828 70,789 9,961


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 8,473,651 13,663,790 5,190,139 77,438,242 96,460,368 19,022,126


============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (2,126,278) (6,319,656) 4,193,378 5,654,270 (10,303,697) 15,957,967
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


IS-Acct-YTD-001







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Eleven Months Ending November 30, 2009


Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communications & Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General Customer Service Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 55,985,598 8,448,866 64,434,464 0 64,434,464
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,289,875 765,552 2,055,427 1,201,707 402,804 1,604,511 3,659,938
Outsourced Services 3,148,644 681,510 3,830,154 321,896 755,594 1,077,490 4,907,644
Planning and Evaluation 1,033,809 233,100 1,266,909 16,597 1,531 18,128 1,285,037
Customer Service Management 706,224 96,457 802,681 0 802,681


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------- -------------------------- ------------------- ---------------------
Total Program Expenses 62,164,150 10,225,485 72,389,635 1,540,199 1,159,929 2,700,128 75,089,763


Program Support Costs


Supplies 9,698 5,815 15,513 11,200 5,041 16,241 31,754
Postage and Shipping Expenses 2,710 1,482 4,192 4,610 2,002 6,612 10,804
Telephone 4,321 3,021 7,342 4,463 900 5,363 12,705
Printing and Publications 54,072 18,394 72,466 5,464 22,202 27,666 100,132
Occupancy Expenses 73,796 44,089 117,885 62,167 26,079 88,246 206,131
Insurance 18,826 11,248 30,074 15,860 6,653 22,513 52,587
Equipment 7,418 4,832 12,250 6,249 4,033 10,282 22,532
Travel 19,991 21,720 41,711 15,737 2,189 17,926 59,637
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 23,410 9,897 33,307 56,181 1,796 57,977 91,284
Depreciation & Amortization 2,680 11,128 13,808 2,258 947 3,205 17,013
Dues, Licenses and Fees 44,725 1,139 45,864 8,115 4,709 12,824 58,688
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,670 1,655 3,325 85 292 377 3,702
IT Services 1,152,465 190,277 1,342,742 230,271 108,500 338,771 1,681,513


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------- -------------------------- ------------------- ---------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,415,782 324,696 1,740,478 422,659 185,343 608,002 2,348,480


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------- -------------------------- ------------------- ---------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 63,579,931 10,550,184 74,130,115 1,962,856 1,345,271 3,308,127 77,438,242


============ ============ ============ =========== =============== =========== ============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 6.1%







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program/Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Eleven Months Ending November 30, 2009
(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL


PGE PacifiCorp Other Electric Total NW WA


NWN 
Industrial 


DSM NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $24,573,835 $15,066,243 $39,640,078 $9,017,821 $902,537 $49,560,436 $7,224,570 $4,544,628 $11,769,198 $61,329,634
Incremental Funding 12,608,523 7,513,273 20,121,796 407,500 675,000 21,204,296 21,204,296
Consumer Owned Electric Funding 11,437 11,437 11,437 11,437
Contributions 710 710
Revenue from Investments 546,434 546,434


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ ------------ --------------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------ ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 37,182,358 22,579,516 11,437 59,773,311 407,500 675,000 9,017,821 902,537 70,776,169 7,224,570 4,544,628 11,769,198 547,144 83,092,511


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ ------------ --------------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------ ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- -------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 1,669,138 900,919 89 2,570,146 461 4,664 1,068,618 64,499 4,502 3,712,891 407,142 360,702 767,844 4,480,735
  Program Delivery 11,071,746 6,670,939 0 17,742,685 8,194 73,944 3,781,754 254,547 20,231 21,881,355 69,242 110,642 179,884 22,061,239
  Incentives 14,053,532 7,667,547 4,275 21,725,354 4,156 20,765 6,861,174 386,171 22,026 29,019,646 4,455,392 3,811,299 8,266,691 37,286,337
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 1,106,650 635,428 120 1,742,198 1,029 3,054 537,020 27,887 1,129 2,312,317 130,362 115,821 246,183 2,558,500
  Program Marketing/Outreach 1,972,828 955,064 94 2,927,987 992 1,223 962,182 65,943 4,959 3,963,285 104,510 74,883 179,393 4,142,678
  Program Legal Services 289 157 0 446 0 0 66 9 0 523 0 0 0 523
  Program Quality Assurance 26,758 15,706 0 42,464 105 0 40,038 1,468 6 84,081 0 1,526 1,526 85,607
  Outsourced  Services 198,228 131,966 18 330,212 1,182 52 144,605 5,577 249 481,876 252,853 233,489 486,342 968,218
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 266,614 146,160 33 412,807 674 102 280,130 12,123 387 706,224 57,044 39,413 96,457 802,681
  IT Services 530,013 284,240 69 814,321 573 786 317,217 18,183 1,386 1,152,466 100,552 89,725 190,277 1,342,743
  Other Program Expenses 120,178 71,844 18 192,040 6,222 462 62,817 3,551 175 265,267 75,812 59,775 135,587 400,854


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ ------------ --------------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------ ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 31,015,973 17,479,971 4,716 48,500,660 23,587 105,053 14,055,621 839,958 55,050 63,579,931 5,652,910 4,897,274 10,550,184 74,130,115


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ ------------ --------------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------ ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Notes 1 & 2) 821,257 462,844 125 1,284,226 625 2,782 372,172 22,241 1,458 1,683,503 149,681 129,672 279,353 1,962,856
  Communications & Customer Svc (Notes 1 & 2) 562,861 317,217 86 880,163 428 1,906 255,074 15,243 999 1,153,813 102,586 88,872 191,458 1,345,271


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ ------------ --------------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------ ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------
Total Administrative Costs 1,384,118 780,061 210 2,164,389 1,053 4,688 627,246 37,484 2,457 2,837,316 252,266 218,545 470,811 3,308,127


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ ------------ --------------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------ ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 32,400,092 18,260,030 4,926 50,665,048 24,640 109,741 14,682,868 877,443 57,509 66,417,249 5,905,174 5,115,819 11,020,993 77,438,242


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- ------------------ ------------ --------------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------ ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ --- ---------------- --- -------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 4,782,266 4,319,486 6,511 9,108,263 382,860 565,259 (5,665,047) 25,094 (57,509) 4,358,920 1,319,396 (571,191) 748,205 547,144 5,654,269


========== ========== =========== ========== ====== =========== ========= ======= ====== ========== ========= ========= ========== ========= ==========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/08 (Note 4) 16,745,829 (3,717,555) 13,028,274 2,423,399 629,523 78,322 16,159,518 25,147,380 13,117,535 38,264,915 9,313,153 63,737,586
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 5,000,000 7,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (9,600,000)
Interest re-attributed (1,740,000) (1,740,000) (1,740,000) 1,740,000


========== ========== =========== ========== ====== =========== ========= ======= ====== ========== ========= ========= ========== ========= ==========
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 21,213,716 1,561,141 6,372 22,781,229 384,401 562,133 2,264,780 666,011 19,881 26,678,435 26,484,137 14,228,983 40,713,120 2,000,297 69,391,852


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communications & Customer Service Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2008 reflects audited results.







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory


For the Eleven Months Ending November 30, 2009
(Unaudited)


Pacific Other Subtotal Northwest Northwest Subtotal
PGE Power Electric Elec. Utilities Natural Gas WA Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Difference


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings$6,949,590 $2,838,038 $4,926 $9,792,554 $8,566 $2,549,866 $2,732 $196,022 $2,757,186 $12,549,740 $15,429,452 $2,879,712
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 3,865,701 1,867,419 5,733,120 0 1,772,889 97,547 1,870,436 7,603,556 9,709,115 2,105,559
Market Transformation (NEEA) 828,143 624,739 1,452,882 0 0 1,452,882 1,659,559 206,677


-------------- -------------- ---------- ------------------ --------------------- ---------------- -------------- ------------ --------- ------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------
  Total Commercial 11,643,434 5,330,196 4,926 16,978,556 8,566 4,322,755 2,732 293,569 4,627,622 21,606,178 26,798,126 5,191,948


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficie 6,307,448 4,555,824 10,863,272 101,175 275,045 35,268 411,488 11,274,760 15,493,987 4,219,227
Market Transformation (NEEA) 400,842 302,388 703,230 0 0 703,230 818,286 115,056


-------------- -------------- ---------- ------------------ --------------------- ---------------- -------------- ------------ --------- ------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------
  Total Industrial 6,708,290 4,858,212 11,566,502 101,175 275,045 35,268 411,488 11,977,990 16,312,273 4,334,283


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 5,512,443 3,242,885 8,755,328 0 8,345,242 21,908 301,972 8,669,122 17,424,450 18,628,133 1,203,683
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Product 7,678,465 4,181,883 11,860,348 0 1,739,826 246,634 57,509 2,043,969 13,904,317 15,179,667 1,275,350
Market Transformation (NEEA) 857,460 646,854 1,504,314 0 0 1,504,314 1,339,300 (165,014)


-------------- -------------- ---------- ------------------ --------------------- ---------------- -------------- ------------ --------- ------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------
  Total Residential 14,048,368 8,071,622 22,119,990 0 10,085,068 21,908 548,606 57,509 10,713,091 32,833,081 35,147,100 2,314,019


-------------- -------------- ---------- ------------------ --------------------- ---------------- -------------- ------------ --------- ------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------
  Energy Efficiency Program Costs 32,400,092 18,260,030 4,926 50,665,048 109,741 14,682,868 24,640 877,443 57,509 15,752,201 66,417,249 78,257,499 11,840,250


-------------- -------------- ---------- ------------------ --------------------- ---------------- -------------- ------------ --------- ------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------


Renewables


Biopower 275,059 717,858 992,917 0 0 992,917 1,810,104 817,187
Open Solicitation 1,546,130 1,137,711 2,683,841 0 0 2,683,841 2,895,982 212,141
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 3,752,432 2,592,669 6,345,101 0 0 6,345,101 11,181,748 4,836,647
Utility Scale Projects 500,014 500,014 0 0 500,014 585,319 85,305
Wind 331,553 167,567 499,120 0 0 499,120 1,729,717 1,230,597


-------------- -------------- ---------- ------------------ --------------------- ---------------- -------------- ------------ --------- ------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------
  Renewables Program Costs 5,905,174 5,115,819 11,020,993 0 0 11,020,993 18,202,870 7,181,877


-------------- -------------- ---------- ------------------ --------------------- ---------------- -------------- ------------ --------- ------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------


======== ======== ====== ========== ============ ========= ======== ======= ===== =========== ========= ========= ========
  Cost Grand Total 38,305,266 23,375,849 4,926 61,686,041 109,741 14,682,868 24,640 877,443 57,509 15,752,201 77,438,242 96,460,368 19,022,127


======== ======== ====== ========== ============ ========= ======== ====== ===== ========== ========= ========= ========


NW Non 
Industrial DSM







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Two Months and Year to Date Ended November 30, 2009
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & CUSTOMER SERVICE
QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER YTD QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER YTD


ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $94,661 $181,799 $87,138 $310,573 $468,382 $157,809 $88,829 $265,599 $176,770 $754,905 $819,228 $64,324


Legal Services 2,170 11,320 9,149 9,679 24,960 15,281


Salaries and Related Expenses 242,049 438,628 196,579 1,201,707 1,308,158 106,451 74,971 156,051 81,080 402,804 440,896 38,092


Supplies (1,201) (1,201) 3,086 (131) (3,217) 43 (52) (95) 1,637 1,639 1


Telephone 134 1,544 1,411 2,477 4,297 1,820 16 (16) 67 38 (29)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 283 907 624 2,520 3,479 959 15 11,429 11,414 1,125 14,286 13,161


Noncapitalized Equipment 6,000 6,000 4,000 4,000 571 571 1,411 714 (697)


Printing and Publications 53 352 300 693 797 104 2,848 11,249 8,401 20,201 22,288 2,086


Travel 2,248 16,766 14,518 15,736 33,693 17,957 1,365 9,747 8,382 2,189 12,731 10,542


Conference, Training & Mtngs 17,674 66,621 48,947 56,181 123,286 67,105 295 6,020 5,725 1,796 8,990 7,194


Miscellaneous Expenses 73 57 (16) (20) (89) (69) 248 248


Dues, Licenses and Fees 692 2,192 1,500 7,871 7,895 25 304 1,352 1,048 4,606 4,450 (156)


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 22,496 34,114 11,618 105,488 107,148 1,660 9,923 16,722 6,799 44,252 45,223 971


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 40,805 103,906 63,100 230,271 282,981 52,710 19,227 68,280 49,054 108,500 156,885 48,385


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 3,001 6,684 3,683 16,597 19,335 2,738 277 683 406 1,531 1,864 333


--------------- ---------------------- -------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ --------------- ---------------------- -------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 426,339 869,689 443,350 1,962,856 2,388,191 425,334 198,113 547,652 349,539 1,345,271 1,529,479 184,207


======== ============= =========== ========= ========= ========== ======== ============= =========== ========= ========= ==========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Administrative Expenses 2nd  Month of Quarter







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2009


$-


$20


$40


$60


$80


$100


$120


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch
Apr


il
May
Jun


e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual
Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2009


$-


$5


$10


$15


$20


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch
Apr


il
May
Jun


e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2009


$-


$2


$4


$6


$8


$10


$12


$14


$16


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2009


$-
$10
$20
$30
$40
$50
$60


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch
Apr


il
May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


O
cto


be
r


Nov
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Budget


Actual








 
 
 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated January 14, 2009 
 
Administrative Costs 
Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, are not program services and are not directly 
attributed to programs—i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach 
expenses 
 


I. Management and General  
• Includes oversight/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, payroll, 


board, human resources, general legal support, and other general organizational 
management costs. 


• These costs are determined by the general makeup of the programs.  
• Does not include indirect costs such as facilities, telephone, etc. (However, M&G 


does receive an allocated share of such expenses.) 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the 
organization and general public awareness.  


• Expenditures are not directed to specific programs.  
• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based 


upon an allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the 
pool.  


• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for 
accounting efficiency purposes. 


• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer 
management (call center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, 
complaint tracking, etc). The accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that 
benefited by using the ratio of calls into the call center by program (i.e. the allocation 
base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits. 
• Employer portion of payroll taxes. 
• Indirect costs-general corporate fixed costs, i.e. rent, utilities, supplies, etc. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the 


board of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, 
and certifying that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting 
principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding 
specific items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified 
opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements 
present an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s 
financial records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a 
qualified opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in 


their annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a 


designated category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward 
for expenditure to the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied 
against the cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked 


by program. 
 


Commitments  
I. Contract obligations  


• A contract that has been signed creating a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Schedule of Commitments. 


II. Project commitments (see FastTrack projects forecasting)   
• Commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a 


project. 
• Eventually to be posted against the PMC contract and program budget when 


paid. 
• May be board-designated for a particular program to be expensed in a later 


financial period (i.e. many renewable energy investments). 
• May be escrowed in a special bank account for payment and expense in a later 


financial period. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


3 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from 


both a utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and 


societal cost of energy.  
• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program 


costs plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 
 
Dedicated Funds 


• Used in budgeting process for renewable expenditures to identify encumbered funds. 
• Represents funds obligated or earmarked for identified projects or specific agreements. 
• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 
• Methodology utilized to develop renewable energy activity-based budgets amounts. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual 
program/project; or can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, 
cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total 


program funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining 


program funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a 


cost pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate escrow account at a bank that will be paid out pursuant 


to a contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be 
returned to  Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are 
still “owned” by Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred 
out of the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the 
income statement for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have 
been received or earned within the month or year.  


• Does NOT include cash deposited into an escrow account. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


4 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive 
payments, with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy 
savings, incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or 
application has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be 
documented by programs using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has 
received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that 
have reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive 
dollars until project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion 
date by project and by service territory must be documented in project records and in 
FastTrack. If project not demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, 
committed funds return to incentive pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Completed-Project that has received payment from Energy Trust. 
• Program Summary Estimate (PEST)-program level (not specific projects) estimate of 


forecasted incentives and savings. 
 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for 


payment for utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy 
efficiency and renewable energy measures in the homes or apartments of such 
residential customers. 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as 


defined above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable 
energy measure. 


• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 
III. Service Incentives 


• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the 
final cost to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or 
renewable energy measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home 
reviews and technical analysis studies. 


• Funds provided to delivery vendors to encourage the energy service providers to 
promote the installation of additional measures by end users. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency 
practices proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or 
high efficiency lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of 


services and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC 
diagnosis, air filtration, etc. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


5 


Indirect Costs 
• Shared joint costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning 


individual charges to programs.  
• Allocated to all programs and administration functions. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and 


depreciation. 
 
IT Support Services  


• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking 


support of PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Includes technical architecture design and physical infrastructure 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 
• Total costs subsequently allocated to programs and administrative units 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists and are authorized 


through the program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, 


quality assurance, and other costs incurred solely for program purposes. 
• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 


 
Program Delivery Expense  


• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, 
program coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program 
delivery contractors. 


• Includes contract payments to NEEA for market transformation efforts. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management 


contractors under contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Includes professional services for items such as solar inspections, anemometer 


maintenance and general renewable energy consulting 
 


Program Legal Services 
• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a 


program-specific contract. 
 


Program Management Expense  
• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff 


management, etc. 
• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


6 


Program Marketing/Outreach 
• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 


communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 
• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual 


programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit 


to the public. 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a 


particular program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support 


costs. 
 Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
 Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following 


categories:  supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; 
occupancy expenses; insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; 
conferences and training; depreciation and amortization; dues, licenses, 
subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll & related expense; 
outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology department 
cost. 


 
Project Specific Costs (for Renewable Energy) 


• Expenses directly related to identified projects or identified customers to assist them in 
constructing or operating renewable projects.  Includes services to prospective as well 
as current customers.   


• Must involve direct contact with the project or customer, individually or in groups, and 
provide a service the customer would otherwise incur at their own expense.   


• Does not include general program costs to reach a broad (unidentified) audience such 
as websites, advertising, program development, or program management.  


• Project-Specific costs may be in the categories of; Incentives, Staff salaries, Program 
delivery, Legal services, Public relations, Creative services, Professional services, 
Travel, Business meetings, Telephone, or Escrow account bank fees. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


7 


Savings Types 
• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data 


entry by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on 
deemed savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for 
custom measures.  They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and 
distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used 
for public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution 
factors, evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working 
values. These values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during 
the “true-up” as a result of new information or identified errors. 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings 
at the time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to 
arrive at this number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is 
agreed to at the beginning of the contract year and is applied to all program measures. 
 This is based on the sum of the adjustments between working and reportable numbers 
in the forecast developed for the program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more 
accurate savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These 
factors are determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. 
The factors are determined based on the best available information from: 


 Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over 
effects and measure impacts to date; and  


 Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from 
electric measure savings.  


 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations and management reports used to track 
funds spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration 
costs to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of 


administration (management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for 


nonprofits, administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade 
ally network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies 
associated with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as 
call center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center 
per month. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


8 


True Up 
• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how 


much energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic 
performance and our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data 
factor), anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of 
similar programs have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual 
evaluations of the program and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up 
Report (for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 
years, especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the 
savings are updated through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








MARKET INDICATORS REPORT 
 
ENERGY TRUST PROGRAMMATIC INDICATORS: 
 
Existing Homes Report 


• The PMC received 1773 incentive applications in November 2009.  
o ↑ 71.1% compared to the 1036 applications received in November of 


2008. 
• The PMC received 406 online Home Energy Review (HER) requests in 


November 2009. 
• The Contact Center answered 3,337 inbound calls in November:  


↑12.07% from 3,795 calls November 2008.  
• In November, 253 participants attended workshops and presentations by the 


HES program.  
• In November, the PMC completed twenty-two Multifamily projects, capturing 


961,431kWh and 1,753 therms in savings. 
• In addition to completing twenty-two Multifamily projects in November, the PMC 


has an established pipeline of an additional fifty-eight projects. 
• Seventy-one contractors have signed the Form 871A Trade Ally Network 


Washington Addendum to becoming trade allies of Energy Trust in NW Natural 
territory in Southwest Washington. 


 
Updates of NAHB forecasts of building permits for New Homes were not available at 
press time.  Various other sources indicate the ‘bottom’ of the forecasted activity has 
held through Q3 2009 and is starting to climb out in late Q4.    
 
 
MACROECONOMIC DATA 
 
University of Oregon Index of Leading Economic Indicators 
 
The University of Oregon Index of Economic Indicator rose 1.0 percent in November to 
85.8 from an October figure of 85.0. This is the fourth consecutive month of increase in 
the index, and is consistent with expanding economic activity in the region. Despite solid 
gains in the overall index, the employment indicators remain weak, continuing to 
influence and validate many economists suggestions that job markets in Oregon will 
recover only slowly. 
 
Residential building permits (smoothed) rose sharply for the second consecutive 
month, bringing permits to the highest level since May 2009. These gains in building 
permits should be interpreted cautiously though, as they are increasing off an extremely 
low base. Moreover, housing markets have been boosted artificially by both tax credits 
and Federal Reserve purchases of mortgage-based financial assets, which are both 
expected to end during the first half of 2010. Gains in manufacturing orders; however, 
highlight the substantial firming during the second half of 2009 of capital spending plans, 
an indication of improving confidence in the business sector. 







Market Indicators Report  February 2010 


 
 


Table 1: Summary Measures 2009 
  June Jul. Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. 
U of O Index of Economic Indicators (1997 = 100)  84.3 84.0 84.3 84.5 85 85.8 
% Change -0.7 -0.5 0.5 0.2 0.6 1.0 
Diffusion Index 71.4 42.9 50.0 57.1 35.7 78.6 
6 Month % Change, Annualized -4.0 -5.4 -2.6 -0.8 -0.2 2.1 
6 Month Diffusion Index 42.9 57.1 64.3 71.4 57.1 71.4 
Table 2: Index Components 2009 
  June Jul. Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. 


OR Initial Unemployment Claims, SA 
     
11,915  


     
11,793  


     
11,288  


     
10,954  


     
11,361  11,045


OR Employment Services Payrolls, SA 
     
26,269  


     
26,361  


     
25,559  


     
25,723  


     
25,523  25,614


OR Residential Building Permits, SA, 5 MMA 
          
469  


          
411  


          
401  


          
398  


          
469  


          
590  


OR Weight Distance Tax, $ Thousands, SA, 3 MMA 
     
17,966  


     
17,376  


     
18,831  


     
18,116  


     
17,526  17,903


U of Michigan US Consumer Confidence, 5 MMA 
         
63.6  


         
65.6  


         
67.3  


         
68.9  


         
69.3  68.6


Real Manufacturers' New Orders for Non-defense,  
Non-aircraft Capital goods, $ Millions, SA 


     
33,166  


     
32,845  


     
32,404  


     
33,350  


     
32,888 33,948 


Interest Rate Spread, 10 yr Treasury Bonds Less Fed Funds Rate          
3.51  


         
3.40  


         
3.43  


         
3.25  


         
3.27  3.28


 
 
Institute for Supply Management Manufacturing Index 
 


Manufacturing growth accelerated in December, boosting the PMI 
index to 55.9 percent. This is an increase of 2.3 percentage points 
from November's reading of 53.6 percent, and is the fifth 
consecutive month of growth in the index, indicating continuing 
recovery in the sector at a faster rate of growth. A reading above 50 
percent indicates that the manufacturing economy is generally 
expanding; below 50 percent indicates that it is generally 
contracting. 


Month PMI 
Dec-09 55.9 
Nov-09 53.6 
Oct-09 55.7 


Sept-09 52.6 
  Aug-09 52.9 


July-09 48.9 


 
• New Orders Index was at 65.5 percent in December  


o ↑5.2 percentage points from 60.3 percent in November.  
• Production Index was at 61.8 percent in December  


o ↑ 1.9 percentage points from 59.9 percent in November. 
• Employment Index was at 52.0 percent in December  


o ↑ 1.2 percentage from 50.8 percent reported in November. This is the 
third month of growth in manufacturing employment following 14 
consecutive months of decline. 


 


2 







Market Indicators Report  February 2010 


Unemployment  
 
 Oregon (SA)  US (SA) 
November 2009 11.1%          10.0% 
October 2009 11.2% 10.2% 
November 2008 7.8% 6.7% 


 
Oregon’s seasonally adjusted unemployment rate for November was essentially 
unchanged at 11.1 percent from the revised October figure of 11.2 percent. This was its 
lowest since the rate hit 10.7 percent in February, and was down from the high of 12.2 
percent in May.  In November, four major industries posted seasonally adjusted job 
losses of 900 or more: government, construction, financial activities, and other services. 
Financial activities dropped by 1,500 jobs in November, following a gain of 400 in 
October. None of the other major industries posted changes of more than 700.    
 
• Total non-farm employment:↓5.19%  
• Construction: ↓15.12%  
• Manufacturing: ↓14.0%  
• Accommodation and Food Services employment: ↓6.46%  
 
Consumer Price Index (CPI, National) 
On a seasonally adjusted basis, the December, Consumer Price Index for All Urban 
Consumers rose 0.1 percent. Grocery store food indexes showed the largest increases, 
leading to the food index rising 0.2 percent, its largest one-month advance in over a 
year. The energy index also rose 0.2 percent; but this was its smallest increase in five 
months. The indexes for fuel oil and gasoline rose, but the electricity index was 
unchanged and the natural gas index declined. 
 


Seasonally Adjusted Consumer Price Index 


  


  
Aug 
'09 


Sept 
'09 


Oct 
'09 


Nov 
'09 


Dec 
'09 


Unadjusted 12 
months end 


December 2009 
            
All Items 0.4 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.1 2.7 


 
Portland – Salem metro area has been tracking the national trends for urban areas the 
last three semi annual reporting periods.  The national trend is up for 2nd half 2009, but 
not having an estimate for Portland-Salem for 2nd half at this point, we will have to wait 
until next month’s actuals are reported. 
 


3 







Market Indicators Report  February 2010 


2nd half 1st half 2nd half 1st half 1st half 2nd half 1st half 2nd half
2007 2008 2008 2009 2008 2008 2009 2009


US City Avg 208.9976 214.429 216.177 213.139 2.6% 0.8% -1.4% going  up


PDX-Salem OR-WA 210.46 214.619 216.159 214.102 2.0% 0.7% -1.0% ??


Semi-annual indexes Percent change from preceding
semi-annual average


CPI  All Items


 
 
Summary 
 A measure of recession probability developed by Jeremy Piger, a University of 
Oregon associate professor of economics, now singles out August 2009 as the last 
month of recession in Oregon.  While the Oregon economy, like the national economy, is 
no longer in recession, considerable uncertainty about the pace of the recovery remains. 
While near-term improvements can be expected as firms restock inventories and pent-
up demand returns to the marketplace, the picture in the second half of 2010 is clouded 
by the expected fading of federal stimulus efforts in the months ahead. In the absence of 
these factors, the underlying rate of growth is likely impaired by ongoing transition away 
from the debt-driven dynamic that supported activity during the housing boom.  
 
SYNOPSIS of Recent Market Activity (October 10, 2009) 
 


• Keystone RV Company in Pendleton plans to hire 50 to 80 workers to roll out 
a new line of recreational vehicles at the former Fleetwood site it purchased 
once the plant has been converted, which could happen by next spring or 
summer. Long term, it could hire as many as 300 workers. East Oregonian, 
1-4-10 


o The transportation equipment manufacturing industry in Lane County, 
which is dominated by RV manufacturers, has declined rapidly during 
the current recession, going from 4,500 workers in 2005 to a low of 
900 in 2009. Experts expect a slow recovery, especially for highend 
RVs costing a $1 million or more. Register-Guard, 12-13-09 


 
• Novellus Systems Inc. in Tualatin, which manufactures and sells processing 


equipment for the semi-conductor industry, received a $400,000 Strategic 
Reserve Fund grant that will help it create 135 jobs. The state grant is 
intended to help offset workforce training costs and will not have to be repaid 
if the company creates and maintains the new jobs through mid-2012. 
Tualatin Times, 12-28-09 


 
• Les Schwab Tire Centers plans to build a 9,830-square-foot tire center in 


southeast Vancouver. The Columbian, 12-16-09 
 


• Georgia-Pacific will indefinitely shut down one of its older paper machines at 
the Wauna Mill near Astoria. It will affect 28 employees, but it isn’t known 
whether any of them will be laid off. Daily Astorian, 12-4-09 


 
• Wal-Mart will build an 86,000-square-foot store at Hayden Meadows in north 


Portland that will employ about 300 people. A timetable has not been set for 
construction. The company also plans to expand its store on Southeast 82nd 


4 







Market Indicators Report  February 2010 


Avenue in order to accommodate a full grocery. It will hire roughly 100 new 
workers as a result. Portland Business Journal, 12-22-09 


 
• General Electric Corp. received a $1.4-billion contract to supply turbines for a 


845- megawatt wind farm project in Gilliam and Morrow counties. Caithness 
Energy’s Shepherds Flat project has received most of the government 
permits it needs. It will employ 400 workers during construction and 35 during 
operation. Construction on the 338- turbine wind farm will start next year and 
is expected to be finished in 2012. Portland Business Journal, 12-10-09 


 
• Construction of the natural gas Ruby Pipeline, which is planned to start in 


2010, is expected to employ up to 800 workers in Lake County and 600 
workers in Klamath County at the peak of the summer construction season. 
Herald and News, 12-8-09 


 
• A biodiesel fuel blending facility is under construction in Ontario. PC Energy 


LLC − a joint project of Poole Oil in Ontario and Campo Oil from Fruitland, 
Idaho − hopes to use Connect Oregon funds to improve rail infrastructure to 
the facility, which could add five jobs. Argus Observer, 12-3-09 


 
• The Home Depot Inc. plans to build a $30.5 million, 465,000-square-foot 


distribution warehouse at the Mill Creek Corporate Center in Salem. It will 
employ about 175 people. Statesman Journal, 12-16-09 


 
• Wal-Mart plans to build a 187,000-square-foot store in Albany. It will employ 


300 to 350 people. Construction is expected to take about a year after 
planning with the city is complete. KDRV.com, 12-14-09 


5 








    


New Position Request Form 
OD-GE-001_VAA_041008  041008 


NEW POSITION REQUEST


TITLE: IT ENTERPRISE ARCHITECT 
REPORTS  TO: Senior Infrastructure Manager 


POSITION SUMMARY:   
The Enterprise Architect designs and manages high level plans for the enterprise wide local and wide 
area network (LAN/WAN) strategies, telecommunication systems, Private Cloud initiatives, 
Collaboration Platforms, Virtualization strategies, server farms, and the Data Center. This individual 
provides technical leadership and consulting across the organization, from strategic decision-making to 
project planning. The Enterprise Architect is responsible for gaining organizational commitment for all 
high level infrastructure plans. S/he initiates and participates in projects to evaluate new technologies 
and best practice methods to implement these plans. 


ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS/MAJOR RESPONSIBILITIES  
• Manage and/or assist in the development and implementation of IT related initiatives.  


Coordinate needs, resources and tasks to ensure quality results. 
• Manage IT projects including but not limited to deployment of a Service Management 


framework, server virtualization, Change Management, Share Point, Storage Solutions, and 
Private Cloud initiatives. 


• Mentor and lead team members to enhance technical knowledge, project management, and 
consulting expertise. 


• Establish monitoring, metrics and oversight for all key IT systems.  Establish guidelines for 
capacity, performance, and support of critical applications and hardware. 


• Create optimal LAN/WAN network topologies and telecommunication configurations. 
• Research network products, services, protocols, and standards in support of network 


procurement and development efforts. 
• Develop and manage business continuity and disaster recovery plans, and maintain current 


knowledge of plan executables. 
• Provide architectural consulting expertise, direction, and assistance to Systems Analysts, 


Business Systems Analysts, and Helpdesk technicians. 
• Develop, document, make recommendations, and communicate plans to invest in IT 


infrastructure, including analysis of cost reduction opportunities. 
• Ensure that proposed and existing system architecture is aligned with organizational goals and 


objectives. 
• Evaluate and guide long-term growth and development of IT architecture and standards toward 


inter-operability, usability, manageability, and overall security.  
• Consult in the resolution of complex network problems for a variety of end users and 


recommend corrective hardware and software solutions. 
• Prepare statistical analyses of network monitoring data. 
• Prepare documentation of the systems architecture and environment. 


POSITION JUSTIFICATION FROM CURRENT .5 FTE TO 1 FTE: 
• Organization growth has dramatically increased IT work load, requiring additional resources for 


infrastructure management and processing support. As one example, the number of servers 
increased from 12 two years ago to 40+ currently (includes virtualized servers).    


• The Infrastructure Team now supports a user base of approximately 300 people, having grown 
substantially during the last year.   


• Systems operations have expanded beyond the usual 8 am - 5 pm business hours.  
• Components added to our network design support WebForms and increase network complexity 


and corresponding support needs. 
• Greater engagement in utility Integrated Resource Plans requires more emphasis on longer-







    


New Position Request Form 
OD-GE-001_VAA_041008  041008 


NEW POSITION REQUEST


term planning to ensure appropriate IT technical and application infrastructure is in place. 
• Complex projects, including the Enterprise Resource Planning effort, Business Intelligence 


effort, Sharepoint and WebForms, all demand sufficient resources for necessary planning and 
management oversight and to deliver timely project implementation within budget. 


• A current part-time employee has expressed interest in and willingness to move into a full-time 
position to fulfill these position responsibilities and meet these requirements. 


• A portion of the $77,500 2010 budget originally anticipated for consultant services would instead 
be reallocated to cover the cost of converting the currently authorized part-time position to a full-
time position.  


 


MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS  
• A Bachelors of Science degree and/or 10 years equivalent work experience in relevant field of 


expertise. 
• Working technical knowledge of current systems, network hardware, protocols, and standards. 
• Solid grounding in core Microsoft based enterprise systems and knowledge of the Microsoft 


strategy roadmap. 
• Understanding of the organization’s goals and objectives and ability to translate that knowledge 


to technology leadership. 
• Strong project management experience. 
• Knowledge of applicable data privacy practices and laws. 
• Strong understanding of information principles and practices. 
• Proven experience conducting research into networking issues and products as required. 
• Ability to present ideas in user-friendly language. 
• Proven experience with highly flexible network and systems design in a fast paced business 


environment. 
• Self motivated and directed, with keen attention to detail, and in-depth analytical and problem-


solving capabilities. 
• Strong written and oral communication skills and good interpersonal skills. 
• Customer service orientation. 
• Experience working in a team-oriented, collaborative environment. 
• Ability to lift and transport heavy to moderately heavy objects, such as computers and related 


equipment. 


BENEFITS TO ENERGY TRUST  
• Need and corresponding budget for consulting services will be reduced by $77,500. 
• Expertise will be maintained in-house and retained by Energy Trust.   
• Strategic planning skills, deeper breadth of knowledge and expertise will deliver benefits to 


complex projects, including ERP and SharePoint. 
• Capability to focus on and develop longer-term plans for system investments will improve, 


providing greater availability, reliability and redundancy for our core infrastructure. 
 
 





		ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS/MAJOR RESPONSIBILITIES 






 


 


 


 


Board Decision 
Elect Debbie Kitchin, Alan Meyer and John Reynolds to New 
Three-Year Terms on the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
February 3, 2010 


Summary 
Re-elect Debbie Kitchin, Alan Meyer and John Reynolds to new three-year terms on the Energy 
Trust Board of Directors. 


Background 
When the Energy Trust board was created in 2001, three members were given one-year terms, 
three had two-year terms, and three had three-year terms. In February 2002, the board set 
future terms at three years in order to maintain the staggered schedule. 
 
Debbie Kitchin, Alan Meyer and John Reynolds occupy terms that end in 2010.  These 
members have indicated to the board nominating committee their willingness to continue to 
serve, and the board needs to decide whether to elect them to new three-year terms. 


Recommendation 
Adopt the resolution below.  


RESOLUTION 540 
 ELECTING DEBBIE KITCHIN, ALAN MEYER AND 


JOHN REYNOLDS TO NEW TERMS ON THE ENERGY 
TRUST BOARD OF DIRECTORS 


 
WHEREAS: 
1. The terms of incumbent board members Debbie Kitchin, Alan Meyer and 


John Reynolds expire in 2010. 
2. The board nominating committee has recommended that these 


members’ terms be renewed 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors elects Debbie 


Kitchin, Alan Meyer and John Reynolds incumbent board members, to 
new terms of office that begin in 2010 and end in 2013. 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 





		Board Decision






 


 


 


 


Board Decision 
Election of Board Officers 
February 3, 2010 


RESOLUTION 541 
ELECTING OFFICERS OF  


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
 


WHEREAS: 
1. Officers of the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (other than 


the Executive Director and a Chief Financial Officer) 
are elected by the Board of Directors at the board’s 
annual meeting.  


2. The Board of Directors nominating committee has 
nominated the following directors to renew their terms 
as officers: 


• John Reynolds, President 
• Rick Applegate, Vice President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. That the Board of Directors hereby elects the following 


as officers of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., for 2010: 


• John Reynolds, President 
• Rick Applegate, Vice President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 
 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 





		Board Decision






 
 


 
 
 
Board Decision 
Authorizing the Executive Director to Amend a 
Contract with Pollinate Media, LLC 
February 3, 2010 


Summary 
Authorize the executive director to amend a contract to authorize more than $500,000 in 
expenditures, which exceeds the executive director’s signing authority. 


Background 
• In November of 2008, Energy Trust issued a request for proposals (RFP) from 


consultants to provide for up to two years website development and design, and other 
web-related services.  Five firms responded and Pollinate Media, LLC (Pollinate) was 
selected after an evaluation and interview process. 


• In 2009, Energy Trust contracted with Pollinate for $300,000 to perform this work.  In 
December, 2009, the contract was amended to add $45,000 for services through 
February, 2010.  


Discussion 
• Pollinate has fulfilled its current contract, delivering a redesigned Energy Trust 


website on schedule and with excellent post-launch technical support.  


• The redesign process highlighted a number of additional website improvements. Staff 
believes Pollinate is uniquely suited to do this work. Tasks scoped for 2010 include:  


1. Maintenance and management  


2. Exploring the concept of my.energytrust.org, a customer-focused web space 
to allow tracking of incentive applications and assist in goal setting 


3. Refining business customer categories to market more directly to Industry and 
Agriculture and better accommodate the New Buildings Program 


4. Promoting Trade Allies through an improved search function 


5. Streamlining business processes by converting additional paper forms to 
online forms 


• Staff proposes adding $240,000 to the Pollinate contract to accomplish the work 
identified in the redesign process, bringing the total contract amount to $585,000. 
This sum is included in the 2010 budget. 


• Energy Trust would issue another RFP for similar services in the fourth quarter of 
2010. 


Recommendation 
Authorize the executive director to sign a contract with Pollinate Media in an amount to 
exceed $500,000. 







R542 Contract Amendment with Pollinate Media, LLC February 3, 2010 


2 


 


RESOLUTION 542 
AUTHORIZE THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO AMEND A CONTRACT 


 FOR MORE THAN $500,000 WITH POLLINATE MEDIA, LLC.  


WHEREAS: 
 
1. In January 2009, Energy Trust chose Pollinate Media, LLC to perform  
 website development and design work. The original, two-year contract  
 was awarded in a competitive process, and involved $300,000 in Energy 


Trust expenditures. Another $45,000 was added to the contract in  
 December, 2009, to perform tasks not included in the original statement 
 of work.  


 
2. In 2009, the Energy Trust organizational redesign process identified priority 


areas in which the Energy Trust website could better serve customers and 
trade allies. These tasks were not included in the original contract’s 
statement of work.  


 
3. Energy Trust wishes to extend Pollinate’s contract through December 31, 


2010, to accomplish these additional tasks, at a cost of $240,000. This 
additional expenditure would bring the total contract to $585,000, an amount 
above the $500,000 limit of the executive director’s signing authority.  


 
4. Any website work beyond 2010 will be solicited in a competitive process. 
It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. That the Board of Directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., hereby 


authorizes the executive director to sign amendments to the Pollinate Media 
contract for expenditures above $500,000. 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 





		Board Decision






  
 Board Decision 


Committee Assignments 
February 3, 2010  


RESOLUTION 544 
BOARD COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 


WHEREAS: 
1. The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors is authorized to appoint by 


resolution committees to carry out the Board’s business. 
2. The Board President has nominated several new directors to serve on the 


following committees. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. That the Board of Directors hereby appoints the following directors to the 


following committees for terms that will continue until a subsequent resolution 
changing committee appointments is adopted: 


 
Audit Committee  
 Julie Hammond, Chair 
 Alexis Dow, Metro 
 Caddy McKeown 
 Preston Michie 
  
 John Reynolds (ex officio) 
Board Nominating Committee 
 Alan Meyer, Chair 
 Rick Applegate 
 Preston Michie 
 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 
Compensation Committee (formerly 401(k) Committee) 
 John Klosterman, Chair 
 Al Jubitz 
 Preston Michie 
 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 
Executive Director Review Committee 
 Caddy McKeown, Chair 
 Roger Hamilton 
 John Reynolds (ex officio) 
Finance Committee 
 John Klosterman, Chair 
 Dan Enloe 
 Debbie Kitchin 
 John Reynolds (ex officio) 







Resolution 544 February 3, 2010 


 2


 
Policy Committee 
 Jason Eisdorfer, Chair 
 Rick Applegate 
 Roger Hamilton 
 Caddy McKeown 
 Alan Meyer 
 John Reynolds (ex officio) 
Program Evaluation Committee 
 Debbie Kitchin, Chair 
 Dan Davis 
 Dan Enloe 
 Alan Meyer 
 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 
Strategic Planning Committee  
 Rick Applegate, Chair 
 Jason Eisdorfer 
 Al Jubitz 
 Theresa Gibney, OPUC 
 Mark Long, ODOE 
 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


2. The executive director and general counsel are authorized to sign routine 401(k) 
administrative documents on behalf of the board, or other documents if authorized by 
the Compensation Committee. 


 


Moved by:  Seconded by:  


Vote: In favor:  Abstained:  


 








 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Board Decision 
Authorizing a Contract with OPOWER 
February 3, 2010 


Summary 
Authorize the executive director to sign a $977,000 contract with OPOWER to demonstrate 
energy savings from providing reports to homeowners detailing home energy consumption. 


Background 
• OPOWER (formerly known as Positive Energy) delivers home energy reports to 


consumers comparing their home’s energy consumption to similar neighbors’ energy 
usage. Reports are sent an average of six times per year. 


• Reports also provide recommendations for reducing energy usage. Recommendations 
are customizable to customer home size, location, and other pertinent demographic 
information. 


• OPOWER’s first effort was launched in April 2008. The approach is now used by 23 
utilities in nine states. Third-party evaluations by Summit Blue, Yale and MIT find an 
average of 2% energy reduction for customers receiving reports. 


• Energy Trust was first approached by OPOWER in 2008. In 2009, after reviewing 
favorable third-party evaluations of efforts in other states, we began in-depth discussions 
regarding the potential to deliver an effort in Energy Trust territory. 


Discussion 
• Staff proposes an 18-month contract with OPOWER to demonstrate savings from this 


approach. Even under conservative assumptions (i.e., that the project will reduce electric 
energy use by 2%, gas by 1%, and a one-year measure life), the project would make a 
significant contribution to achieving Energy Trust’s energy savings goals. 


• OPOWER would send reports for one year, probably beginning in July, 2010. Reports 
would go to 60,000 customers who use PGE electric and NW Natural gas. There is 
potential to expand the effort to PacifiCorp and Cascade Natural Gas in 2011, contingent 
on success of the demonstration. If expanded, the initiative would reach a total of 
100,000 customers for all four utilities. 


• Reports would be dual-fuel, showing customers gas and electric usage on one page. 
Reports would be co-branded with Energy Trust and utilities. OPOWER would send six 
reports per year. 


• Energy Trust estimates energy savings of 229 kWh and 7 therms per customer 
(reductions of 2% electric and 1% gas). Total savings would be 13,740,000 kWh in PGE 
territory, and 420,000 therms in NW Natural. 


• The contract would total $977,000. This includes six reports to 60,000 customers, set-
up, integration and licensing fees, training fees for the Energy Trust call center, and 
printing and mailing of the reports. 







R545 Authorizing Contract with OPOWER  February 3, 2010 


2 


 


 


• OPOWER would contract directly with each utility for customer energy usage data 
sharing, and with Energy Trust for data on customer participation in Energy Trust 
programs. 


• The contract would obligate OPOWER to report energy savings achieved. After seeing 
OPOWER’s report, Energy Trust will consider whether to do an independent evaluation 
of these results. 


• Under the conservative assumptions (2% electric reduction, 1% gas, one-year measure 
life), the project would be cost-effective. The levelized cost per unit saved would be in 
the neighborhood of $0.049 per kWh and $0.42 per therm. While the electric cost would 
be above the OPUC levelized cost performance measure for electric efficiency ($0.035 
per kilowatt-hour), OPUC performance measures apply to efficiency programs overall, 
not to individual measures. Once the demonstration is completed, we can evaluate 
actual costs in relation to the performance measure. 


Recommendation 
Authorize the executive director to sign a contract with OPOWER to expend up to $977,000 on 
a demonstration to document savings from providing homeowners with reports comparing their 
home energy use to other homes. 


RESOLUTION 545 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO SIGN A CONTRACT 


WITH OPOWER 


WHEREAS: 
1. OPOWER provides home energy reports to consumers comparing their 


home’s energy consumption to that of similar homes. 
2. The approach is used by 23 utilities in nine states. Third-party 


evaluations attribute 2% average electric energy savings to the process. 
3. At this savings rate, the project would be cost-effective, and would 


make a significant contribution to achieving Energy Trust’s energy 
savings goals. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Energy Trust 
of Oregon, Inc., hereby authorizes the executive director to sign an 
eighteen month, $977,000 contract with OPOWER to document 
savings from providing homeowners with reports comparing their 
home energy use to other homes. 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 





		Board Decision






 
 
RENEWABLE RESOURCE ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on January 13, 2010 


 
 
Attending from the Council: 
Kyle Davis, PacifiCorp  
Bill Eddie, BEF 
Troy Gagliano, enXco 
Theresa Gibney, OPUC 
Robert Grott, NW Environmental Business Council 
Thor Hinckley, PGE 
Suzanne Leta-Liou, Renewable NW Project 
Deb Malin, BPA 
Robin Straughan, Oregon Department of Energy 
Frank Vignola, University of Oregon 
Sandra Walden, OSEIA 
 
Attending from the Trust: 
Doug Boleyn 
Kacia Brockman 
Sue Fletcher 
Erin Johnston 
Jed Jorgensen 
Betsy Kauffman 
David McClelland 
Sue Meyer Sample 
Elaine Prause 
Thad Roth 
Peter West 
John Volkman 


 
 
 
 
 
 
Attending from the Board: 
Dan Davis 
John Reynolds  
 
Others attending: 
Heather Beusse, enXco 
Cory Murman, InSpec Group 
Andrew Oberhofer, Intel 
Kip Pheil, ODOE (by phone) 
Vijay A. Satyal, ODOE 
Rebecca Sherman, ODOE 
 
 


1. Welcome and Introductions 
 


Betsy called the meeting to order at 9:30am. Everyone introduced themselves. The agenda was 
adopted without changes. The November minutes were adopted without change. There was a 
request to send minutes as an attachment in the future.  


2. RECs and WREGIS 


Elaine began with a presentation on Renewable Energy Certificates (RECs) and the Western 
Renewable Energy Generation Information System (WREGIS). The purpose of the discussion 
was not to make any decisions but to create a similar base of knowledge of these concepts in 
preparation for future discussions and decisions related to this topic. Energy Trust has a board 
policy on RECs (originally known as green tags) which was first developed in 2004 and has 
since evolved as the market and our understanding of our role has changed through the years. 
We take title to some RECs for every project that we fund. Our allocation is specified as part of 
each incentive contract with project owners. The policy also states that we can sell up to 50% of 
the RECs we own. We have not done so yet. 
 







RAC notes – 01/13/2010 


There are three categories of projects where we see different issues in dealing with REC 
ownership. RECs from utility scale projects, those large scale wind projects we were able to 
help fund in coordination with utility RFP processes but no longer do, are passed directly to 
utilities. Energy Trust took no ownership of these RECs. The second category is qualifying 
facility and on site generation projects where our share of RECs are all custom to the project, 
depending on how much we contribute and how that contribution compares to market value for 
RECs. The last category is for net metered, standard incentive projects solar PV and small wind 
where the project owner owns the first five years of RECs and we owns the balance. 


Theresa asked for more clarification on what the Utility scale category meant. Kyle helped to 
clarify that for those projects we were able to help fund prior to January 1, 2008 when SB 838 
limited our scope to 20MW or less, Master Agreements between Energy Trust and the utilities 
specified that all RECs go directly to the utilities.  


Suzanne asked if these differences in allocations by project type were also a part of the board 
policy. Elaine answered that they all follow the board policy, just actual implementation differs 
QF/onsite and net metered allocations are direct interpretations of the board policy. 


Theresa asked if the amount of RECs Energy Trust claims for custom projects is proportional to 
the amount of above market cost we fund or is it more complicated. Elaine answered that it is 
more complicated and we can walk through that if people want to but Theresa and the group 
were happy to move ahead, knowing it can be more complex. 


Elaine then showed the estimated magnitude of Energy Trust ownership of RECs for 2010 
(27,000) and 2015 (154,000) across QF/on site and net metered categories, after assuming 
Energy Trust helps fund at least 3aMW of new generation and owns a similar percent of RECs 
as today for custom projects. Looking back to 2007, the first year that RECs can be used to 
meet RPS standards, Energy Trust could claim ownership to an additional 36,000 RECs. 


Energy Trust’s REC policy was created prior to the Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) for 
Oregon and WREGIS. WREGIS is the system ODOE approved to issue, monitor, track and 
transfer RECs toward meeting RPS requirements in the state. WREGIS covers the entire 
WECC region. The amount of detail needed to describe a REC is significant. Characteristics 
about the site, the project, the owner and all data needed to determine the vintage of the REC 
are required. 


If a REC isn’t registered it can’t be bought, sold, transferred or retired, and therefore, Energy 
Trust does not really have RECs but does have the contractual language to enable their 
certification. There are benefits to certifying. WREGIS brings many significant benefits to the 
industry. It provides a rigorous accounting system that’s transparent and credible with known 
standards and criteria and provides the ability to officially retire, transfer, and sell RECs knowing 
that they are not being double counted. Project owners could also sell or retire RECs for 
revenue of marketing benefits if registered through WREGIS. 


Suzanne asked for clarification, have none of Energy Trust’s RECs been certified? Elaine 
responded that that was true, all our contracts ensure we are able to do so but we have not 
worked through WREGIS or required project owners do so. 


Robert was curious about project owners and if we register would we be registering for the 
project owners or just for Energy Trust. Elaine mentioned that the full project would need to 
register, not just the proportion we own and we can’t register without their involvement. We don’t 
always have 100 percent of the RECs but would need to make that 100% are registered through 
WREGIS prior to sorting out allocations within WREGIS. 


2 







RAC notes – 01/13/2010 


Kip noted that there are a variety of mechanisms that you can use to deal with accounting 
obligations. Someone would have to register and build RECs in their account. Then buying and 
selling/transferring could happen. There are a lot of options.  


Kyle added that project generation has to have project registered. There’s an initial setup and 
then you have to regularly update profile on the project. In addition, the project owner has to 
demonstrate energy was produced through particular meter data which adds a lot more 
responsibility throughout the project life on the part of the project owner.  


This comment was a direct transition to the list of WREGIS requirements outlined in the 
presentation. The project owner would need to register or designate an agent under an account 
type of which there are many. Specific equipment is needed for reporting, including a revenue 
quality meter. If projects are less than 360kW they have the option of self reporting their 
generation but all other projects are required to contract with a third party Qualified Reporting 
Entity (QRE) to transmit their regular reporting data to WREGIS. It can be difficult for small 
projects to participate in WREGIS just like with any large certification process for a small scale 
operation. 


Suzanne asked how does the registration play out for the solar coop. Doug noted that they are 
registered in WREGIS and Bill provided details on how they have a generation aggregator to 
register and report. Each site still needs to report their generation but the have an easy to use 
web interface to facilitate the process. 


There are costs related to registering. Fees to WREIGIS include annual registration ($200-
$1500) and transactions costs on a per REC basis. In addition, for projects above the self 
reporting limit of 360kW, there are costs to the QRE. $297 for set up and then a monthly fee of 
$59 if the utility were to provide this service. There are costs for equipment for metering and 
administrative costs on the part of the Energy Trust, project owner and utility which are difficult 
to estimate. 


An example of certification costs for a QF project ranged from 12-26 cents/REC. In comparison, 
a small scale PV project would pay $200/yr plus costs of reporting, highlighting the need for 
other options such as a generation aggregator role. 


There are additional complexities we deal with. Each of the custom projects is different in 
amount of RECs we own and timing of ownership. We see this flexibility as important for us to 
retain for ratepayers and project owner needs. We work with a variety of project owners, some 
only want to retire the RECs and claim all the environmental benefits, others want to sell the 
RECs for an additional revenue stream and for projects where we take all the RECs, is it 
realistic for us to expect project owners to be motivated to work with WREGIS on an ongoing 
basis to report generation? 


In thinking about Energy Trust’s role with WREGIS and REC certification there are important 
issues to consider.  


• What could our role look like? What’s the best least cost option? 
• Who would pay the costs of registering, reporting, administration and equipment? 
• Do the benefits outweigh the costs? From whose perspective? For which project types? 
• Are there options to mitigate the costs? 
• How does timing impact benefits and costs?  


 


3 







RAC notes – 01/13/2010 


Bill recommends adding language in the incentive agreements that designate Energy Trust as 
the owner, that is what BEF is doing. There is a fair bit of paperwork but it is doable, depending 
on resources you have to devote to the work.  


Kyle suggests referring to Appendix F of the WREIG regulations as a way to handle rooftop 
solar by aggregating up to 250 kW of systems. This would give Energy Trust the agent role, and 
WREGIS would then issue RECs.  


Suzanne commented that cost sharing seems reasonable. If Energy Trust is sharing RECs with 
project owners, then Energy Trust shouldn’t need to shoulder the costs of registration. 


Theresa added that if Energy Trust thinks of their contract with generators as a contract to 
exchange things of value, generation doesn’t have anything of value if RECs haven’t been 
registered. You could then argue that the cost of the REC is a part of the project cost and would 
then consider it in the above market cost evaluation. You could then calculate certification as a 
one time expense instead of an ongoing exposure.  


Kip thought it would be nearly impossible to guess a value for the RECs when calculating above 
market costs. Having the utility register the projects is probably the least cost route. Another 
possibility is for the Trust to sell a portion of the RECs to cover the administrative costs of doing 
so. If you were to sell 10 percent, 3500 RECs/yr at $10/REC have $35,000 to cover costs. Then 
pay to get the older vintage, 2007-2009 RECs into WREGIS.  


Frank thought that certifying the RECS and incurring administrative overhead makes sense if 
you’re going to sell but if you’re sitting on them anyway, do you even need to certify?  


Robert supported Energy Trust in confronting the topic. There could be false impressions that 
the customer has some value in owning RECs when in fact it takes effort to certify them for use. 
For small net metered projects, it makes sense to enable aggregation or give them away, but for 
larger projects, go all the way and certify them 


Bill mentioned that aggregation still has a data issue. Solar Oregon has a web tool for 
homeowners to log data online but they still need to log in and provide the information. He also 
suggested looking at the REC policy limitation at selling 50% requirement. If we decide to sell, it 
may be reasonable to revisit that percentage limit and match up the policy with a REC 
management strategy. 


PacifiCorp and PGE are not selling their RECs, they are banking them.  


3.   Updates on recommended changes to the BETC and impact on Energy Trust 
incentives and procedures 


Jed began with a presentation on recent changes and proposed changes to the Oregon 
Business Energy Tax Credit (BETC) and potential implications or impacts for Energy Trust. Jed 
qualified his presentation with the caveat that it is based on Energy Trust’s current best 
understanding of the situation and that he may be mistaken or under informed on some points. 
Representatives from ODOE should chime in if he misspeaks. 


All changes fall under one real goal: to reduce the fiscal impact of the BETC program. There are 
three areas of change: 1) New temporary rules, 2) A new rule making on the pass-through 
program, and 3) ODOE’s Recommendations to the Governor. 


4 







RAC notes – 01/13/2010 


New Temporary Rules. This change stems from veto of HB2472 during the last legislative 
session. This bill would have changed the maximum BETC available to big wind projects. In the 
Governor’s veto he asked ODOE to tighten the administrative rules for the program and they 
have done so. ODOE staff also expect the legislature to take further action in this regard. 


The new temporary rules are significantly longer than the old rules, but they only really impact  
Energy Trust in two ways: 


1. The old rules allowed a final BETC to be up to 110% of the amount that was pre-
certified. This was generous and helped projects that experienced cost overruns. This 
will no longer be the case. A project will get no more than 100% of their pre-cert. The 
final amount could go down is a project comes in under budget.  


2. The second change targets projects being split up to claim multiple BETCs. The new 
rules create a series of tests to determine if a facility is “separate and distinct.” The rules 
are written broadly. It is possible that they could result in a project developer being 
limited to the maximum of $20 million in BETC eligible costs in a given year regardless 
of the number of projects being developed. Jed noted that within the hydro market it 
would be very difficult for a developers working on multiple projects on the same 
irrigation system to claim they are separate and distinct, regardless of configuration or 
separate interconnections. 


Vijay noted that the thought within ODOE about this change is very fluid at this point.  


Suzanne commented that a lot of her members have asked about this “separate and distinct” 
provision. She talked with Andrea Simmons from ODOE. Andrea made it clear to her that if a 
developer has multiple projects in the pre-cert stage they can request that ODOE review their 
application to see if they are in compliance with these rules. ODOE will provide information 
back. It’s hard for a project developer to know if they are separate and distinct without 
confirmation from ODOE. 


New pass-through rule making. HB2068 was passed in the 2009 legislative session and 
asked ODOE to establish a new pass-through formula tied to “inflation and market real rate of 
return.” The rule making occurred in the last two months and the new pass-through rule was 
released on Monday of this week. 


The new formula is based on the t-note and inflation. It increases pass-through rates but the 
new rates are different for public versus for profit institutions. Public entities will get a 36.8% 
pass-through. For profit entities will get a 41.18% pass-through. The new rates are effective 
starting January 1st 2010. Pre-certifications prior to that date will get the old rates. The new rates 
will be revisited quarterly. 


For for-profit pass-throughs the new rate changes the ratio between risk and rate of return. The 
risk in buying a pass through is related to having the taxable income to use the credit in the out 
years. The new rate of return is much closer to that of a treasury note – a risk free investment. 
This may not make it a worthwhile investment. We may see changes in project deal structures 
so that the credit can essentially be passed-through internally. New, more complicated deal 
structures could increase above market costs for projects. 


For public entities the rate is fairly close to the current rate. It may be slightly more challenging 
to find a pass-through partner as the rate of return for the partner is dropping, but Energy Trust 
does not anticipate a significant impact for this market segment.  


5 







RAC notes – 01/13/2010 


ODOE’s Recommendations to the Governor. In late August the Governor asked ODOE to 
study a wide variety of things related to the BETC program. ODOE completed their study and 
released their recommendations at the end of November. There are six areas in the 
recommendation that may have an impact on Energy Trust. 


1. Tighter application requirements. ODOE will require more detailed information for preliminary 
certification. This favors well thought-out, feasible projects. It would have an unknown impact on 
Energy Trust. 


Suzanne noted that one potential impact is that Energy Trust might get less of a rush of 
requests because there would be fewer applications for tax credit money.  


2. ODOE suggests that public purpose funds should be deducted from a project’s eligible costs. 
This suggestion was made and rejected during the last legislative session. Energy Trust is 
concerned about this recommendation because it may set up a circular math situation with 
regard to the calculation of Energy Trust incentives. If Energy Trusts incentive is deducted from 
the BETC, any increase in an Energy Trust incentive to compensate will be cancelled out by a 
deduction in the BETC.  


In conversation with ODOE staff it seems that the goal may be to ensure that no project 
receives more than 100% of its costs through incentives or tax credits. This position does not 
represent a change from existing policy. Energy Trust would like further clarity as to whether the 
100% would apply to a project’s total costs or to its BETC eligible costs. If the change were 
applied on an eligible cost basis, projects with poor financial performance could potentially see 
their BETC lowered by the amount of Energy Trust’s incentive. 


Sandra noted the eligible cost issue affects third party solar as ODOE does not consider third-
party costs as eligible.  


Suzanne asked for ODOE to provide more clarity on the issue.  


Heather asked if ODOE looks at incentives before or after tax.  


Vijay responded that he thinks it is before tax. He said he could get additional information to 
verify that.  


3. Programmatic Cost Cap. ODOE suggests that the BETC program should be capped based 
on a percentage of the operating revenues of Oregon’s energy suppliers. ODOE suggests a 1-
4% range, which would yield a biennial program cap of $73 – 292 million.  


This would limit the size of the BETC program and could result in less money being available for 
renewable projects, meaning that Above Market Costs could increase. 


4. Alternative Incentive Cap for Wind Projects. ODOE believes that wind projects are 
competitive with traditional generation sources at this point and suggests the BETC for these 
projects needs to reflect that fact and slowly be eliminated. ODOE’s recommendation is to 
change the BETC for wind projects above $100,000 in project costs to a 5% BETC with a $200 
million eligible cost cap. The BETC would be taken in 1% increments over 5 years. However, 
the 5% credit would also be reduced 1% per year until it is eliminated. 


This change would have significant impacts for Energy Trust’s involvement in the wind market 
for projects between 10kW to 20MW in capacity. Those projects, which Energy Trust does not 


6 







RAC notes – 01/13/2010 


feel are cost competitive with traditional generation sources, would see a large financial impact 
and an associated increase in Above Market Costs.  


5. ODOE suggests that projects should be prioritized based on job creation, generation, and 
market readiness. The impact to Energy Trust is unknown as we cannot forecast which projects 
would meet ODOE’s priority criteria. 


6. ODOE recommends that some suggestions should be retroactive. They suggest applying the 
Program Cap and Alternative Incentive Model to all pre-cert projects back to at least July 1, 
2009. In addition, they recommend accountability measures should be retroactive to all projects 
without final certifications.  


Erin noted that some small wind projects would be impacted by the retroactive changes.  


Robert noted that the presentation understates the issue. Major changes in the BETC would 
require that all financial dealings be reconsidered since Energy Trust doesn’t have the funds to 
replace the BETC. 


Betsy noted that a few things are not fleshed out yet in ODOE’s recommendations. They 
mention wanting to explore a competitive process for applications. Together some of these 
things could have an impact on the predictability of applications. If it is hard to know what a 
project needs, it makes our job a little more difficult.  


Vijay noted that ODOE is working on a larger study of the impacts and results of the BETC on 
the projects it has funded. That study is in the planning phase right now and will be completed in 
October. It will include looking at other incentives that are on the table for projects. He noted 
that these were temporary recommendations that were made and that this legislation could 
change. ODOE wants to understand market maturity better. The overarching goal is to study 
and better plan for use of funds.  


Kyle asked when this will be sorted out.  


Vijay responded that by March we will have more clarify on the proposed rule changes. The 
impact to ODOE and Energy Trust on joint projects will clear up through the summer.  


Suzanne noted that her organization has been working on BETC issues for the past year. They 
have reviewed the recommendations and provided comments. They could provide their 
response to the report if anyone is interested. They are meeting with the legislature and the 
Governor to get a better sense of where the legislation will go. The Revenue Committee meets 
this week. We’ll know more in a week or two. Things could change in February, but ideally the 
Governor and the leadership will have one package they agree on that moves quickly through in 
February. 


Robert noted that the new rules resulting from any legislation will be promulgated in March and 
April and there will be a public meeting some time in March. 


10:20 Break 


3. Wave Projects – discussion about issues and roles 


Betsy made a presentation on wave power generically, although some specific projects were 
mentioned.  She said the big question for the RAC members is how comfortable they are with 
the risks associated with wave projects at this point. She started by recapping information 


7 







RAC notes – 01/13/2010 


presented at the November meeting.  She said the industry is small at this point with less than 
one megawatt of generating capacity in the water. Oregon communities, fishing groups, and 
environmental interests are engaged, and baseline environmental studies are underway. Betsy 
reviewed the three example technologies discussed at the last meeting to show the variety of 
technologies being developed.  They included:  an onshore system where wave energy 
compresses air that drives a conventional hydro turbine and two floating systems.  Continuing 
the recap of the November presentation, Betsy said that she had presented three options for 
ETO involvement. The first is to continue to wait which is what we have been doing. The next 
level is to support OWET, the third is to examine idea of providing financial support to a project. 
Betsy closed her introductory remarks by recapping the Ocean Power Technologies project’s  
costs and timeline.  


The next part of the presentation was a discussion of issues.  


Betsy said that John Reynolds had requested a cost comparison at the last meeting.  She 
presented a graph that showed dollars of upfront project cost per annual megawatt-hour 
produced for various technologies.  Biopower is at the low end at $508, wind a little higher at 
$780, and our most expensive conventional technology, solar, at the high end at $6,154.  Phase 
1 of the OPT project came in at $43,488 and phase 2 at $9,785.  Betsy pointed out that Phase 1 
is 87 times as expensive as biopower.  Phase 2 is 50% more expensive than solar, our most 
expensive technology. 


Deb Malin asked what capacity factor was assumed for the wave projects.  Betsy answered that 
she used 35% after consulting with Justin Klure, who said that was a conservative estimate.  


Betsy then reviewed how Energy Trust normally operates. We fund projects, we look at above-
market cost, we take title to tags, we and ratepayers get direct benefits, and projects use 
replicable technologies.  Betsy said wave doesn’t fit the standard model.   For example, the 
simple payback on phase 1 of the OPT project is about 750 years which makes it difficult to 
determine above market costs.  In the long term, we expect PGE and Pacific Power to be 
involved in wave but not right now.  


Betsy explained that we do have a demonstration project policy.  It’s possible that wave projects 
could fit into that policy, but  it has criteria:  projects must lead to projects in PGE/PAC territory, 
must have a plan for what will be demonstrated and to whom, must deliver benefits (RECs) to 
PGE or PAC, and the above-market cost methodology still applies.  Pre-commercial projects 
need to be deployed in realistic conditions and have to be important for building the market.  


Betsy said that because wave projects don’t fit our models well, we would need a compelling 
reason to provide funding. She asked for the group’s thoughts about a series of questions: 


1. Are we essential?  What value do we bring? 
2. What direct benefit do we (and ratepayers) receive?  
3. What role will these early projects play in developing the market as a whole? 
4. What precedent are we setting?  
5. Can we live with all outcomes? 
6. Do the economics of our incentive make sense? 
 


Betsy said that 4 and 5 are very important questions.  Regarding 4, if we decide that we are 
going to make an exception then it might have implications for other technologies.  Question 5 is 
about the risky nature of these projects.  Buoys could sink for example.  Can we live with the 
possible article about a dead whale? What if we fund an early project and the technology turns 
out to be the least successful in the long term.   


8 







RAC notes – 01/13/2010 


Deb Malin asked what OWET (Oregon Wave Energy Trust) spends its money on.   Betsy 
answered baseline research and stakeholder engagement, industry support, and regulatory 
work – efforts to seed the field for these projects. 


Frank Vignola commented that this seems like more research to develop engineering data than 
demonstration.  He said the first ones are going to be tests and it is more appropriate for them 
to receive funding from DOE or NREL.  He said it’s unclear if this is going to be a reliable source 
of electricity and added that ETO does not fund research. It might be more appropriate for us to 
provide funding for OWET.  


Betsy asked both Kyle David from Pacific Power and Thor Hinckley from Portland General 
Electric how the utilities are viewing this.  


Kyle said PAC has sponsored forums with OSU because the utility wants to know the 
environmental impacts. He said Pac has been approached to do demonstration/research 
projects and has said no so far. He sees this as a shaking out period. He said it is conceivable 
that the utility could participate in a multi-utility research or demonstration project to get 
energy/performance data. Once there are results, the utility could look into funding projects that 
sell power to PAC.   He said this is similar to wind in late 90s. The projects being talked about 
right now would connect with and sell to muni’s and coops.  Kyle said that if Oregon wants to 
support R & D, it should happen at state level rather than having the customers of single utilities 
support it.   


Betsy asked Kyle if he had a sense of when he expects wave projects to get to the point of 
selling to the two IOUs.  He said PAC likes diversification, but wave is 4th on the list. He said 
PAC will do more on the others before getting to wave, adding the utility doesn’t typically do R & 
D.  


Thor Hinkley said that PGE is contributing to R and D through the work OSU is doing.  He said 
PGE is just as conservative as PAC on this issue and added that his service territory does not 
have any exposure on the coast.  Should an opportunity for PGE to be an offtaker come along, 
PGE would be interested in looking into it. PGE is interested in technologies that are further 
down the commercial development curve.  


Neither utility said it is financially supporting OWET.  


Robert Grott said his big concern about wave is that we don’t have enough money to make a 
difference.  


Betsy replied to this saying that others say yes and no on that point. She said our money is 
symbolically important. One argument she has heard is that wave will happen, the question is 
where. Do we want it to happen in Oregon? 


Robert said that is the reason state as an entity should take the lead on supporting it.  


Peter said we leverage USDA funds as part of our programs.  We just provided funding for 40 
USDA applications at a cost to us of a fraction of the amount that grantees received.  That effort 
took years to get going.  


Robert said Energy Trust wasn’t the first to be involved with USDA. 


Frank said that Energy Trust has criteria and others might use the criteria we establish. He 
asked if we want to break our criteria?  


9 







RAC notes – 01/13/2010 


Kyle drew an analogy to geothermal.  He said we see a lot of potential in Oregon, but there is a 
lack of resources there. There is high risk for $2-3 million hole, but once you find a good 
location, you get base load, cost effective resources.  He wondered if we funded what amounts 
to wave research, could we be asked to help explore Oregon for geothermal sites.  He said it’s a 
more advanced technology, but carries development risk. 


Sandra Walden commented that Oregon is blessed with a variety of renewable energy 
resources. She said that Energy Trust has an ability to legitimize technologies.  She suggested 
that maybe Energy Trust should reconsider our role of coordination with the state.  She said we 
have the resources to help and to assist in technology discussions.  Suzanne Leta-Liou from 
Renewable Northwest Project said her organization monitors technology development.  She 
said she would like to see expansion of resource types, but the challenges that have been 
mentioned regarding Energy Trust’s involvement are significant, specifically the research focus, 
the fact that Energy Trust customers are not served, and the concerns about precedent. She 
suggested that supporting OWET might be an option, but she she said OWET’s role is similar to 
her organization’s role. She doesn’t expect ETO to fund her organization and wonders what 
value ETO can provide to OWET.   


Frank said it might be better for Energy Trust to funnel some support through OSU. If there is a 
push for research from the state, perhaps ETO should be involved in that. 


Betsy said there is precedent for support of trade groups such as, OSEIA and OSWEA, but 
there is a question about whether OWET falls into the same category. 


John Reynolds said his interest in wave is the fact that Oregon’s wave resource is so good.  
Despite environmental concerns, we have a big resource available.  He added that it peaks in 
the winter and serves as a nice complement to solar power.  Because Oregon may be the best 
state for wave, he wants to keep the issue in front of the RAC from time to time.  


Heather from Enxco said her company would like to see wave here. When Energy Trust got into 
wind, it was 15 years into development. She said her company has a position in a wave 
company, but they don’t give it much time at this point. Because it’s considered high risk, they 
need big returns and are looking to prove out the technology in places where the revenues (i.e. 
energy prices) and therefore, the returns are high.  They’re waiting to see the technology 
developed in other countries before getting involved.  


Dan Davis asked if it might be valuable to look at what EPRI and NREL have done in the wave 
space.  


4. Update on Solar Budget  


Kacia summarized the outcome of the solar electric budget shortfall that was discussed at the 
last RAC meeting. In November we received a rush of incentive applications requesting more 
money than was available in the 2009 incentive budget. At the time the RAC supported staff’s 
proposal to use money that had been set aside for potential large scale solar projects to fund as 
many of those applications as possible. Responding to the RAC’s concern that many of the 
applications wouldn’t lead to “real” projects, staff reviewed the attrition rate within the program to 
date. It was learned that just 1% of residential incentives and 25% of commercial incentives 
reserved end up not being spent. Applying the same attrition rate to the new project applications 
allowed more projects to be approved based on the expected actual budget impact.  


The large-scale solar RFP funds couldn’t be tapped until after those funds were added to the 
2010 solar electric budget, which was approved in December. So staff approved projects from 


10 







RAC notes – 01/13/2010 


the November rush on a first come, first served basis until the 2009 budget plus 75 percent of 
the original 2010 budget was committed. This allowed all of the PGE and most of the Pacific 
Power projects to be funded at the higher incentive rate. 55 Pacific Power projects received in 
the last three days of the rush were told they were not eligible at the higher rate. Many of those 
projects have decided to proceed at the lower incentive rate. The new, lower rates went into 
effect November 9, 2009.  


Kacia predicted that the full $2.3 million of Pacific Power RFP funds and just a portion of the $5 
million of PGE RFP funds will be needed to pay for the projects accepted during the rush. With 
these RFP funds, the budget available for new projects in 2010 will be roughly equal to the 2009 
budget. A decision about whether any PGE funds can be directed toward a large scale RFP will 
be made after the effect of potential BETC changes and feed-in tariff decisions are known in the 
coming months.  


John Reynolds asked how many Pacific Power projects we accepted, compared to the 55 
projects rejected. Kacia estimated about half of the Pacific Power applications received during 
the rush were accepted. She also responded that most of the rejected applications were for 
commercial projects, particularly some larger third party-owned commercial.  


Kyle asked Energy Trust to communicate with Pacific Power’s net metering staff about the 
expected rush of applications, because Pacific Power has not yet received them. Kacia agreed. 


A member of the public asked if the 2010 budget will support the current volume of applications 
under the new, lower incentive rates. Kacia responded that the program is still receiving a 
steady stream of new applications, mostly residential, and is looking into whether the current 
incentive rates will be sustainable. 


John Reynolds asked for a summary of the projects accepted and rejected, residential and 
commercial, etc. Kacia noted that a summary of 2009, including the project activity during the 
November rush, will be provided to the solar trade allies after Energy Trust closes the books for 
2009, and will be shared with the RAC.  


5. Public Comment 
There were no public comments.   


6. Meeting adjournment 
Betsy thanked all RAC members for their participation and adjourned the meeting at 11:45am. 


 


11 








Market-Based Investigation of Residential Solar Installation 
Values in the Portland and Bend, Oregon Metropolitan Areas 
 


Background 
For a considerable time, the solar community has pondered the question of the market value of solar 
thermal (h2o) and solar Photovoltaic (PV) arrays. This is due, in part, to the developmental state of the 
industry. In many areas, most solar h2o and PV installations are carried out by governmental and/or 
industry groups that subsidize the installations in some way, usually a combination of rebates on the 
purchase price and tax credits. 


With the rise in energy costs over the past several years and the clearer understanding of the issue of 
climate change on an international level, citizens, utilities, and governments have increased efforts to 
harness solar power and conserve energy. This has led to the increase in residential solar installations in 
recent years and a commensurate amount of spending on solar. However, while the number of 
installations has grown greatly recently, the total amount of installations versus the number of 
residential properties is still quite low. This explains both the desire by many in the industry to 
understand the market value of solar installations as well as the relative lack of data available on which 
to base the value.  


This study uses market data and the appraisal process to estimate the market value of solar h2o and PV 
systems. 


Key Findings 


• From the 10 properties analyzed in this study, 8 of which have PV arrays, one of which has solar 
thermal, and one that has both systems, an average contributory value opinion of $6,580 to 
$9,480 was found. 


• The values in this report also appear to rise over time, from lower apparent market values for 
the installations in 2005 to higher values in 2008. 


Recommendations 
• ETO check the number of properties with solar installations for transfers on an annual basis. If a 


property has transferred on which ETO has installed a solar system, then it should be analyzed 
for applicability to this study and included in this study if appropriate. 


• ETO should study the overall housing markets in the Portland and Bend, Oregon areas to 
determine the rate of transfer of residential properties with solar installations compared to the 
general residential real estate markets in those areas 


• ETO should continue to monitor all residential valuation studies nationally that are related to 
green building and/or energy efficiency for the most current information related to solar 
measures. 







 


Telephone: 1.866.368.7878 
Facsimile: 503.546.6862 
energytrust.org 


Energy Trust of Oregon 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


 


MEMO 
Date: January 19, 2010 


 To: Board of Directors 
From: Kacia Brockman, Senior Solar Program Manager 


Brien Sipe, Evaluation Project Manager 
Subject: Staff response memo to Residential Valuation of Solar Study 


 
In an effort to explore what contributory value, if any, residential solar PV and 
thermal systems have on real estate transactions in Oregon, Energy Trust contracted 
with Watkins & Associates to explore recent transactions involving homes where 
these systems have been installed.  The study included two phases, the first 
beginning in early 2009 which focused on property transfers in the Portland Metro 
area, yielding four transactions.  The scope was widened to include the Bend area, 
yielding a total of ten properties for which appraisals were conducted.  All initial 
appraisals were reviewed by third parties, with re-appraisals occurring in situations 
where significant differences in value arose. 
 
Staff is very interested in quantifying non-energy benefits for solar energy systems to 
help consumers make educated purchasing decisions and to inform program design.  
Currently, studies have focused on the added value of energy efficiency in the 
California market and could not be translated to solar energy systems or to the 
Oregon market with any certainty.   
 
Staff feels that the current sample size limits the findings to being indicative:  study 
transactions demonstrated measurable positive added value for solar systems. A 
sample of 20-30 homes would yield a more conclusive estimate, and therefore 
Energy Trust has decided to revisit the program database for additional real estate 
transactions (this is scheduled to occur in June 2010) in an effort to expand the 
sample. 


 


 





		Market-Based Investigation of Residential Solar Installation Values in the Portland and Bend, Oregon Metropolitan Areas

		Background

		Recommendations








 
 
 
 
 
STRATEGIC UTILITY ROUNDTABLE 
Wednesday, February 3, 10:00 am – 12:00 noon 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
AGENDA 
 
 
10:00 a.m. Introductory matters (20 minutes) 


• Purpose and parameters of the process  
• Review meeting agenda, discuss expected outcomes  
  


10:20 a.m. Principal topics: 
• Where do we most need to work together to accomplish our joint goals? E.g., 


improving our interaction in the process of making funding decisions? IRP? 
Sharing information? Other? 


• Legislation: The special session is beginning -- what issues are likely to 
impact energy efficiency and/or renewable energy (BETC, etc)? 


• How should we evaluate and improve the roundtable process along the way 
to create the highest value for all participants? 


  
  Other subjects, as time allows: 


• How does Energy Trust serve low- and moderate-income customers in 
Oregon? How can we ensure customers focus on low- and no-cost 
resources? How can we best collaborate to get that word out? 


• New models for delivery: Are there early lessons from the Clean Energy 
Works pilot about how to scale energy efficiency efforts? What else is on the 
horizon? 


• How should "persistence of savings" be evaluated, especially as we move 
more into the arena of softer energy efficiency measures?  


  
11:50 a.m. Action items and next steps  
 
12:00 noon Adjourn 


 


 


 


 


 


851 SW Sixth Ave, #1200     Portland, OR 97204      1.866.368.7878    503.546.6862 fax     energytrust.org 








 


 
 
Strategic Utility Roundtable 
Operating Principles 
December 18, 2009 


 
The Utility Strategic Roundtable is a two-year trial designed to facilitate the utilities’ expressed 
interest in communicating with the Energy Trust Board on a strategic level. 
 


1. The Utility Strategic Roundtable would be composed of the Energy Trust Board and 
Executive Director, and representatives of the electric and gas utilities served by the 
Energy Trust: Cascade Natural Gas, NW Natural, PacifiCorp and PGE. Members of the 
public and other stakeholders, including representatives of customer groups, the 
environment, workers, and efficiency and renewable energy trade groups, would be 
invited to attend and participate in the discussions. 


 
2. The Roundtable would meet in the first quarter of 2010. At that meeting, and the first 


meeting in 2011, the roundtable will schedule further meetings for that year. There will 
be at least two meetings annually. If possible, meetings should be timed with regular 
Energy Trust Board meetings so all Board members can attend.  


 
3. Roundtable participants are encouraged to appoint decision-level representatives to the 


roundtable, ensure that the appointed person attend all meetings, and try not to vary 
representation from meeting to meeting. 


 
4. Each roundtable agenda would be determined by the Energy Trust Board President in 


consultation with the full Board, the utilities and interested parties. Agendas will be 
organized to allow the utilities to engage in a dialogue on matters of interest to them, and 
may include suitable agenda items suggested by others. In general, the agenda would 
focus on strategic and longer-term ideas, opportunities and concerns, with the goal to 
ensure the entities are working well together to pursue energy efficiency and renewable 
energy in the most effective and coordinated way possible. The following process will be 
followed: 


 
• Energy Trust will propose meeting date(s) and solicit agenda items from utilities, 


board members and interest groups; 
• Candidate topics will be reviewed by staff and discussed with the policy 


committee, which will recommend an agenda to the board President; and 
• The committee will consider whether issues that are not included on the 


roundtable agenda may be suitable for other forums, e.g., CAC, RAC, or regular 
board meetings. 


 
5. Each agenda item will have a sponsoring entity, which will be responsible for providing 


background material on the issue at least 10 days before the roundtable meeting. 
 
6. All meetings will be open except for any portions of meetings that the Energy Trust 


President determines would involve trade secrets, proprietary or other confidential 
commercial or financial information. Energy Trust will provide public notice of meetings.  







Strategic Utility Roundtable Operating Principles                                                            December 18, 2009  


2 
 


 
7. Roundtables will discuss issues and may make recommendations to the Energy Trust 


board or others. No votes will be taken. Roundtables are not authorized to take action on 
behalf of the Energy Trust board. 


 
8. Minutes will be kept and a roster of potential action items would be brought back for full 


Energy Trust Board discussion and staff consideration before commitments to pursue 
the actions were made. 


 
9. The parties would try this approach for a two-year period to determine if it is an effective 


way to promote strategic communications before deciding whether to make it a 
permanent feature or pursue some other course.  


 
 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 





		Strategic Utility Roundtable






 
  
 
Strategic Utility Roundtable and 
95th Board Meeting – Annual Meeting 
Wednesday, February 3, 10:00 a.m. – 3:30 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS   
 
Tab 1 Strategic Utility Roundtable 


• Agenda 
• Operating Principles 


 
Tab 2 95th Board Meeting – Annual Meeting 


• Agenda 
 
Tab 3 Consent Agenda 


• December 18 meeting minutes  
• Election to new terms of office (R540) 
• Amend contract with Pollinate Media, LLC (R542) 


 
Tab 4 Nominating Committee 


• Election of officers (R541)   
 
Tab 5 President’s Report 


• Board Committee Appointments (R544) 
• Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. decision-making matrix   
 


Tab 6 Energy Programs 
• Approve contract with OPOWER (R545) 


 
Tab 7 Evaluation Committee 


• Notes from January 15 meeting 
• Residential awareness survey executive summary, staff response & presentation 
• Solar valuation study and staff response 


 
Tab 8 Finance Committee 


• November financials and contract summary report 
• Financial glossary 


 
Tab 9 Staff Report 


• Position update and justification 
• Market Indicators Report 


 
Tab 10 Advisory council notes 


• CAC notes from January 13 meeting 
• RAC notes from January 13 meeting 
 


 





